Resource Accounts
for the year ended
31 March 2006

HC 1619
NIA 320/03

£25.00

Department for Social Development
Resource Accounts for the Year Ended
31 March 2006

Laid before the Houses of Parliament
by the Department of Finance and Personnel
in accordance with Paragraph 36 of the Schedule to the
Northern Ireland Act 2000 (Prescribed Documents) Order 2004

31 October 2006

Laid before the Northern Ireland Assembly by the Department of Finance
and Personnel under section 10(4) of the Government
Resources and Accounts Act (Northern Ireland) 2001

31 October 2006

Ordered by The House of Commons to be printed

31 October 2006

HC 1619
NIA 320/03

LONDON: The Stationery Office

£25.00

Resource Account
for the year ended 31 March 2006
Contents
Annual Report

2-36

Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities

37

Statement on Internal Control

38-49

Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General

50-52

Statement of Parliamentary Supply

53-54

Operating Cost Statement for the year ended 31 March 2006

55-56

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2006

57

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2006

58

Consolidated Statement of Operating Costs by Departmental Aim
and Objectives for the year ended 31 March 2006

59

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2006

60-127

Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General
for Northern Ireland
Part 1:

Introduction and Executive Summary

133-134

Part 2:

Qualified audit opinion arising from the level of estimated
fraud and error in social security benefits

135-147

Qualified audit opinion arising from weaknesses in
financial control and monitoring of expenditure in relation
to urban development and community development grants
to voluntary and community bodies

148-155

Part 3:

RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

1

Annual Report
Director’s Report
1.

The Departmental Accounting Boundary



7KHVHDFFRXQWVFRQVROLGDWHWKH¿QDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQRIWKH'HSDUWPHQWIRU
Social Development (DSD). The Department is the largest of all the eleven
Northern Ireland Government Departments and has lead responsibility for:
•
•
•
•

1.2

The Department comprises two executive agencies and two core groups:
•
•
•
•

1.2

social security and pensions;
child support;
housing; and
urban regeneration and community development.

the Social Security Agency;
the Child Support Agency;
Resources, Housing and Social Security Group; and
Urban Regeneration and Community Development Group.

The functions of each body within the Departmental Accounting Boundary
are as set out below:
The Social Security Agency’s main business is to:
• DVVHVVDQGSD\VRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVDFFXUDWHO\DQGVHFXUHO\
• JLYHDGYLFHDQGLQIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKHVHEHQH¿WV
• support people by helping them move closer to work;
• handle reviews and appeals;
• SUHYHQWDQGGHWHFWEHQH¿WIUDXGSURVHFXWHRIIHQGHUVDQGUHFRYHUDQ\
EHQH¿WZKLFKKDVEHHQSDLGLQFRUUHFWO\
• UHFRYHUEHQH¿WZKLFKKDVEHHQSDLGLQFRPSHQVDWLRQFDVHV
• DVVHVVSHRSOH¶V¿QDQFLDOFLUFXPVWDQFHVLIWKH\DUHDSSO\LQJIRUOHJDODLG
and
• provide services to clients in Great Britain on behalf of the Department
for Work and Pensions.
The Child Support Agency:
• arranges or collects child support maintenance on behalf of children
whose parents live apart; and

2

RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

• in addition to providing a service within Northern Ireland, the Northern
Ireland Agency also provides services to the people of Eastern England,
on behalf of the Child Support Agency in Great Britain.
The Resources, Housing and Social Security Group is responsible for:
• FRUSRUDWH¿QDQFHDQGQHJRWLDWLQJDQGPDQDJLQJWKHDOORFDWLRQDQG
control of the Department’s resources;
• personnel and support services;
• VRFLDOVHFXULW\KRXVLQJEHQH¿WSHQVLRQVDQGFKLOGVXSSRUWSROLF\DQG
OHJLVODWLRQ VRFLDOVHFXULW\KRXVLQJEHQH¿WDQGFKLOGVXSSRUWSROLF\
and legislation and services in Northern Ireland are separate from, but
administered in parity with, the corresponding legislation and services in
Great Britain.);
• social housing policy and legislation;
• overseeing the private rented sector in Northern Ireland;
• oversight of the Northern Ireland Housing Executive, which also
DGPLQLVWHUVKRXVLQJEHQH¿WWRWKHUHQWHGVHFWRURQEHKDOIRIWKH
Department;
• securing funding to meet the needs of the housing programme delivered
primarily through the Housing Executive and registered Housing
Associations. (These organisations receive grant funding from the
Department, which they supplement with income from capital receipts,
rental income and, in the case of the registered Housing Associations,
IURPSULYDWH¿QDQFH7KH'HSDUWPHQWDQGWKH+RXVLQJ([HFXWLYH
also engage with a number of other statutory and voluntary agencies
regarding housing matters.);
• the Appeals Service (Northern Ireland), which provides administrative
support to the independent tribunals set up by legislation to hear appeals
against decision makers in the Social Security Agency, Child Support
Agency, Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs, the Northern Ireland
Housing Executive and Rates Collection Agency; and
• the Department’s Internal Audit function.
The Urban Regeneration and Community Development Group has
responsibility for:
• the overall strategy for tackling social, economic and physical
regeneration of urban areas in Northern Ireland;
• overall policy for voluntary sector and community development across
Northern Ireland departments;
• a range of social and charities legislation; and
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• all European Union issues which affect the Department, including the
Peace II programme.

Responsibility for Funds
1.4

The Department and its executive agencies also have responsibility for the
administration of a number of funds:
• The National Insurance Fund, which is the responsibility of HM
Revenue & Customs, is excluded from the consolidation and the
Summary of Resource Outturn in the Statement of Parliamentary Supply.
However, certain elements are included in the remaining Primary
6WDWHPHQWV7KHVHDUHFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WVDOODGPLQLVWUDWLRQFRVWVDQG
their related assets and liabilities;
• The Social Fund, which is administered by the Social Security Agency,
is consolidated within the Primary Statements; and
• The Child Support Agency operates a Client Funds Account to control
the receipt of child maintenance and fees from non-resident parents
and parents with care. Child maintenance and fees are collected and
paid over respectively to persons with care or to the Department
(maintenance) and to the Agency (fees). This Fund is not consolidated
within these accounts.
• The Department administers a Central Investments Fund for Charities
into which Northern Ireland Charities invest funds. Dividends are paid
twice yearly by the Department. Within the Central Investment Fund
the Department invests the capital of the Charitable Donations and
Bequests Fund. These funds are not consolidated within these accounts
as no departmental funds are involved.

Departmental Accounting Boundary
1.5

Note 42 contains a full list of the bodies for which the Minister had lead
policy responsibility during the year, and details those bodies which are
consolidated within and those which are excluded from the accounts. The
functions of all these public sector bodies are set out below.
Public Corporation
• The Northern Ireland Housing Executive is the regional strategic
housing authority for Northern Ireland.

4
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Executive Non-Departmental Public Bodies
• Laganside Corporation has responsibility for managing the social and
economic regeneration of the area of inner city Belfast, which straddles
both banks of the river Lagan. On 28 February 2005, John Spellar MP
DQQRXQFHGWKDWKHZDVDI¿UPLQJWKHGHFLVLRQWDNHQE\*RYHUQPHQW
in 2001 to work towards the de-designation of Laganside Corporation
by 31 March 2007 as it will have successfully completed its statutory
regeneration remit for the Laganside area. A further announcement
on the future arrangements for Laganside’s public assets and river
management responsibilities is planned by the end of June 2006.
• 7KH2I¿FHRIWKH)LUVW0LQLVWHUDQG'HSXW\)LUVW0LQLVWHUDQG
the Department for Social Development set up the Ilex Urban
Regeneration Company as a Government owned company limited by
JXDUDQWHHLQ-XO\&UHDWHGVSHFL¿FDOO\WRSURPRWHWKHFRRUGLQDWHG
regeneration of the Derry City Council Area Ilex is responsible for
securing the social and physical regeneration of the Ebrington and Fort
George sites. Ilex is working in co-operation with the Department, other
relevant Departments, Derry City Council, the private sector and other
interested parties to facilitate this regeneration activity.
Non-Executive Non-Departmental Public Bodies
• The Charities Advisory Committee is an independent body appointed
by the Department to advise on matters relating to the investment of
charitable funds.
• The Disability Living Allowance Advisory Board for Northern
Ireland is an independent body whose primary role is to provide advice
on medical matters referred to it by the Department or its medical
advisors.
• The Rent Assessment Panel determines appropriate rents for those
properties in the private rented sector which are:
- controlled under the Rent (Northern Ireland) Order 1978;
- registered with the Northern Ireland Housing Executive; and
- subject to appeal by either the landlord or tenant.
• Vaughan Charity - the Department appoints one of the 5 trustees of the
Charity and holds the Charity’s capital. The Department and the Trustee
it appoints are bound by Charity law to carry out the Charity’s charitable
purposes (to promote the advancement of agriculture in Co Fermanagh)
rather than the Department’s aims.
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Independent Statutory Bodies
• 7KH2I¿FHRIWKH6RFLDO)XQG&RPPLVVLRQHU 1, delivers an
independent review of discretionary Social Fund decisions made in the
Social Security Agency. It also shares information and expertise with
those who have an interest in the Fund and its review, and participates
in social policy research that contributes to the wider debate about the
Social Fund and related issues.

2.

Management of the Department
Ministers and Senior Officials

2.1

The Department operates under the direction of Ministers. The
3HUPDQHQW6HFUHWDU\WKH'HSDUWPHQW¶VPRVWVHQLRURI¿FLDODORQJZLWK
WKH'HSDUWPHQWDO%RDUGFRPSULVLQJWKHVHQLRURI¿FLDOLQFKDUJHRIHDFK
business area (Resources, Housing and Social Security Group, Urban
Regeneration and Community Development Group, the Child Support
Agency and Social Security Agency), manages the Department. The
Department’s on-vote Executive Agencies are headed by Chief Executives
who are supported by their own Executive Boards.



7KH3HUPDQHQW6HFUHWDU\LVWKH$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU(DFK$JHQF\&KLHI
([HFXWLYHLVDQ$JHQF\$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU

2.3

The Minister responsible for the Department during 2005-06 was David
Hanson, MP, Minister of State.

2.4

The composition of the Departmental Management Board during the year
was as follows:
Permanent Secretary:
Mr Alan Shannon

1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006

Deputy Secretary and Head of Resources,
Housing and Social Security Group:
Mr Derek Baker

1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006

Deputy Secretary and Head of Urban
Regeneration and Community Development Group:
Mr John McGrath
1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006
Chief Executive Social Security Agency
Mr Gerry Keenan
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1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006

Chief Executive Child Support Agency
Mr Barney McGahan

1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006

Appointment of the Permanent Secretary and Members of
the Management Board
2.5

The Permanent Head of the Department was appointed by the Civil Service
Commission under the terms of Article 6 of the Civil Service Commission
1, 2UGHU7KHDSSRLQWPHQWLVIRUDQLQGH¿QLWHWHUPXQGHUWKHWHUPV
of the Senior Civil Service contract (Part 5, Chapter 8 of the Northern
Ireland Civil Service Staff Handbook refers).

2.6

Appointments to Departmental Management Board positions were
determined in accordance with Northern Ireland Civil Service promotion
and appointment procedures.

Pension Liabilities
2.7

Pension liabilities in respect of Ministers, the Permanent Secretary and
members of the Management Board are covered in the Remuneration
Report.

Conflict of Interests
2.8

No members of the Departmental Management Board held any positions
RXWVLGHWKH'HSDUWPHQWZKLFKPD\KDYHFRQÀLFWHGZLWKWKHLUPDQDJHPHQW
responsibilities.

3.

Departmental Reporting Cycle

3.1

During 2005-06 the Departmental Management Board and the Minister
received quarterly progress reports against the Department’s Public
Service Agreement and other Business Plan targets. An end of year Report
is published on the Internet at www.dsdni.gov.uk, under the heading
Publications-Business Plans.

4.

Auditor Details

4.1

During 2005-06 the Department’s Internal Audit Unit carried out planned
programmes of work as agreed by the appropriate business area Audit
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006
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Committees and the Departmental Audit Committee. All reviews were
conducted in accordance with the Government Internal Audit Standards.
The outcome of these reviews have been reported to Senior Management
during the year. In addition the results of the reviews are also reported to
the relevant business area Audit Committees and the Departmental Audit
Committee.
4.2

The accounts and supporting notes relating to the Department’s activities
for the year end 31 March 2006 have been audited by the Northern Ireland
$XGLW2I¿FH7KHUHSRUWRIWKH&RPSWUROOHUDQG$XGLWRU*HQHUDODSSHDUV
on pages 131 to 153.

4.3

The cost of the audit for 2005-06 is a notional cost of £0.367 million. This
IHHUHSUHVHQWVWKHFRVWIRUWKHDXGLWRIWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDUULHGRXW
by the Comptroller and Auditor General. There was no remuneration paid
for non-audit work during the year.

4.4

The auditor was appointed by statute and will report to Parliament on the
audit examination.



6RIDUDVWKH$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHULVDZDUHWKHUHLVQRUHOHYDQWDXGLW
information of which the Department’s auditors are unaware.



7KH$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHUKDVWDNHQDOOVWHSVWKDWKHRXJKWWRKDYHWDNHQWR
make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Department’s auditors are aware of that information.

Management Commentary
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5.

Departmental Aims and Strategic Objectives

5.1

‘Together, tackling disadvantage, building communities’ provides the
overarching theme for the Department’s work. This is supported by the
Department’s vision,’ to be an organisation which delivers high quality
services, provides value for money and values its people’.

5.2

Three strategic objectives provide the focus for the Department’s work and
form the basis of planning activity and resource allocation:
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Strategic Objective 1- Delivered Jointly by the Social
Security Agency and Child Support Agency
• 7RSURYLGHDIDLUV\VWHPRI¿QDQFLDOKHOSWRWKRVHLQQHHGDQGWRHQVXUH
that parents who live apart maintain their children; encouraging
personal responsibility and improving incentives to work and save.

Strategic Objective 2 - Delivered by Housing Division, part
of Resources, Housing and Social Security Group
• To promote measurable improvements to housing in Northern Ireland.

Strategic Objective 3 - Delivered by Urban Regeneration
and Community Development Group
• To improve the physical, economic, community and social environment
of neighbourhoods, towns and cities in Northern Ireland with a
particular emphasis on tackling disadvantage.

6.

Principal Activities

6.1

The principal activities of the Department during 2005-06 were to:
• WDUJHWDQGPDQDJHUHVRXUFHVHI¿FLHQWO\DQGHIIHFWLYHO\DQGWR¿QG
WKHPRVWFRVWHIIHFWLYHPHDQVRIPHHWLQJREMHFWLYHVZLWKLQWKH¿QLWH
resources available and to explore and take advantage of value for
money opportunities for partnership working;
• maintain Northern Ireland’s social security, child support and pensions
policy and legislation in line with the corresponding provisions in Great
Britain;
• promote and maintain social legislation in the areas of liquor licensing,
gambling and unauthorised encampments and consult with stakeholders
WRHQVXUHWKDWWKHOHJLVODWLRQUHÀHFWVFKDQJLQJVRFLDODWWLWXGHVDQG
expectations, and to provide an effective framework for control and
enforcement, whilst respecting the freedom of the individual and
avoiding imposing unnecessary burdens on business;
• DVVHVVDQGGHOLYHUPRVWVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVDQGWKH6RFLDO)XQG
• assess, collect and arrange child support maintenance, ensuring parents
maintain their children whenever they can afford to do so;
• develop legislation and administrative arrangements to give effect to
agreed housing policies;
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• provide funding to the Northern Ireland Housing Executive, registered
Housing Associations and voluntary organisations concerned with the
provision of housing services;
• provide ongoing support for the voluntary and community sector by
working with voluntary and community based organisations; and
• tackle social, economic and physical regeneration in urban areas across
Northern Ireland.

7.

Performance in the Period

7.1

The Government’s top level strategic planning document Priorities and
Budget 2005-08 incorporates the Department’s Public Service Agreement.
It summarises Government’s main policies and priorities and sets out the
Department’s budget allocation. The Public Service Agreement shows
the main outcomes that the Department is working to deliver with the
resources that have been made available. Public Service Agreements are
intended to set out Departments’ plans to deliver results in return for the
investment that is made through the Budget allocations. They provide a
clear statement of priorities and a clear sense of direction and, as such, are
an integral part of Government’s policy and spending plans.

7.2

The Department had 8 key Public Service Agreement targets during 200506 and these were delivered through 48 business level targets. The end of
year overall position was positive with 96% of the targets either achieved,
substantially achieved or on track for achievement, but with some delay.

7.3

There were also 10 other business plan targets, 9 targets in which the
Department was not the lead department and 10 reform framework targets.
The end year position was similarly positive with 90% of the targets in
these areas either achieved, or likely to be achieved, but with some delay.
Actions Underpinning the Delivery of Public Service Agreements

7.4

The Department’s 2005-06 business plan lists the actions that underpin the
delivery of the Public Service Agreement and other targets. These set out
agreed overall aims, objectives, detailed actions, key targets and budget
allocations.
An electronic copy of the Plan can be obtained from the Department’s
internet site at: www.dsdni.gov.uk under the heading Publications-Business
Plans. Alternatively, a printed copy may be obtained from:
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Corporate Planning and Governance Unit
Lighthouse Building
1 Cromac Place
Gasworks Business Park
Ormeau Road
BELFAST
BT7 2JB
Telephone: 02890 829500
Key Achievements during 2005-2006
7.5

Tackling poverty and disadvantage and building communities is central
to the Department’s efforts to promote social inclusion and improve the
quality of life of individuals, vulnerable groups and neighbourhoods
within Northern Ireland. During 2005-06, the Department has continued to
successfully deliver a wide range of programmes and services while at the
same time focusing on service modernisation and working in partnership
with others. Extensive use is made of baseline and survey data to underpin
the Department’s work and to ensure that action has been targeted towards
those in greatest need. Some of the key achievements during the year are
outlined in the following paragraphs.

Social Security Agency
Modernisation & Efficiency
7.6

In order for Northern Ireland to maintain parity with Great Britain in
WKHSURYLVLRQRIVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVWRLWVFXVWRPHUVHI¿FLHQWO\DQG
effectively, the Social Security Agency is committed to implementing
a Modernisation Programme to match that being carried out by the
Department for Work and Pensions. Phase 2 of this programme
commenced in April 2005, and is being implemented across the Agency’s
three main business areas:
• -REV %HQH¿WV
• Pensions & Anti-Poverty; and
• Disability, Incapacity & Security.

7.7

-REV %HQH¿WVThe Agency has continued to work with the Department
for Employment and Learning to enhance the services provided to
customers and ease the transition from ‘Welfare to Work’. This combined
effort is designed to provide a full range of advice on both looking for
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ZRUNDQGEHQH¿WVLQMXVWRQHYLVLWWRDQRI¿FHDQGLVHQDEOLQJDQLQFUHDVHG
QXPEHURIEHQH¿WFXVWRPHUVWRHQJDJHZLWKWKHODERXUPDUNHW$WWKHHQG
RI0DUFKRXWRIWKH6RFLDO6HFXULW\2I¿FHVKDGEHHQFR
ORFDWHGZLWK-RE&HQWUHVLQQHZ-REVDQG%HQH¿W2I¿FHVWRIDFLOLWDWHWKH
LQWURGXFWLRQRIWKHQHZµMREVDQGEHQH¿WV¶SURFHVV
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7KHUHVXOWVIURPWKHUHFHQWO\FRORFDWHGRI¿FHVVKRZWKDWWKHQHZ
arrangements provide a more effective means of administering Jobseekers’
Allowance. The reductions in the Jobseekers’ Allowance register
were between 14% - 20% within 3 months of the introduction of the
work-focused process and this reduction has been maintained since.
Customer service is also continuing to improve under the new joined-up
arrangements.

7.9

Pensions – The Pension Service focuses on paying people of pension
DJHWKHFRUUHFWDPRXQWRIEHQH¿WWRZKLFKWKH\DUHHQWLWOHGDWWKHULJKW
time; providing accurate information about State Pension and Pension
Credit; and directing customers to the right place for other services. It
also provides State Pension forecasts to tell future pensioners how much
pension they are likely to receive. The Pension Service has made continued
improvement in key aspects of its performance during this year. Retirement
Pension met the standards in the Customer Charter, achieved its claims
clearance times, and exceeded accuracy targets. In relation to Pension
Credit although the claims clearance target was missed there has been
substantial improvement in the average number of days to clear claims
which have improved from 30 days at March last year to 14 days at March
this year. Telephone calls continue to be answered within Customer Charter
times and the Pension Centre Teleclaims Service is promoted as a quicker
and easier way for customers to make a claim.

7.10

'LVDELOLW\,QFDSDFLW\ %HQH¿W6HFXULW\±7KH$JHQF\SURYLGHV¿QDQFLDO
support and guidance to those with disabilities and their carers. Progress
continues to be made in relation to Disability Living Allowance claims
with further improvement in clearance times this year on last year. The
UHRUJDQLVDWLRQRI,QFDSDFLW\%HQH¿WV'LYLVLRQLQODWHKDVDOVR
UHVXOWHGLQVLJQL¿FDQWLPSURYHPHQWLQEXVLQHVVSHUIRUPDQFHWKLV\HDU
particularly in relation to claims clearance. The Agency met all of its
claims clearance targets to those with disabilities. In addition in association
with the Department of Employment and Learning, six Pathways’ pilots
are operating since last autumn in Northern Ireland with a further three
to go live in October 2006. This will bring the Agency into line with the
Department for Work and Pensions in that around 30% of new Incapacity
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%HQH¿WFXVWRPHUVZLOOEHFDSWXUHGZLWKLQWKH3DWKZD\VLQLWLDWLYHE\
October 2006.
7.11

The Agency’s milestone to modernise welfare services by 2008 by
delivering major Government Welfare Reform priorities remains on track.
The Agency has succeeded in identifying business processes which can be
GHOLYHUHGLQDPRUHHI¿FLHQWZD\DQGLWVLQLWLDWLYHWRJLYHFXVWRPHUVDFFHVV
WRHHQDEOHGFODLPIRUPVIRUWKHPDMRUEHQH¿WVFRQWLQXHVWRPDNHSURJUHVV
Anti-Poverty

7.12

With the success of the Direct Payment system rolled out in 2004-05,
the Agency continued to build on this and exceeded its target of 95% of
clients having their payments paid directly into their accounts. The Agency
DOVRVHWRXWWRFRPEDWSRYHUW\E\SURPRWLQJEHQH¿WWDNHXSWRVHOHFWHG
customer groups, particularly vulnerable groups such as pensioners. 3,750
pensioners were targeted in three pilot schemes and 23,000 pensioners
ZHUHWKHVXEMHFWRIDQDGGLWLRQDO%HQH¿W8SWDNHSURMHFWRUJDQLVHGE\
WKH3HQVLRQ6HUYLFH$%HQH¿W8SWDNH3URJUDPPHIRUKDVEHHQ
approved by the Minister and will aim to continue the Agency’s efforts to
PDNHVXUHWKDWHYHU\RQHZKRLVHQWLWOHGWREHQH¿WVKDVWKHRSSRUWXQLW\DQG
the knowledge to claim them.
Delivering Better Customer Services and Reducing Losses from Fraud
and Error

7.13

The Agency’s frontline staff have responsibility for assessing and paying
VRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVDFFXUDWHO\DQGVHFXUHO\7KH\DOVRSURYLGHDQ
information and advice service. Financial accuracy and clearance time
WDUJHWVKDYHEHHQHVWDEOLVKHGDFURVVWKHPDLQEHQH¿WDUHDV7KHIRFXV
over the coming year will be to manage performance and continuously
improve decision making and accuracy in order to meet client expectations
DQGUHGXFH¿QDQFLDOORVVHV

7.14

Performance has been improved or maintained over the previous year, in
every customer service target area. Furthermore, every customer service
target area displays an underlying trend of improvement.

7.15

High levels of performance were achieved for seeing callers, answering
telephone calls and responding to enquiries and complaints. Of particular
note, the Agency received around one-third less customer complaints this
year than over the previous 12 months.
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7.16

The Agency has responsibility for the recovery of public funds where
EHQH¿WVKDYHEHHQLQFRUUHFWO\SDLGRXWWKURXJKIUDXGRUHUURU&RQWLQXHG
HIIRUWVZLOOEHPDGHWRUHGXFHWKHQXPEHURIRYHUSD\PHQWVRIEHQH¿WEHLQJ
made, to record and account for those overpayments more accurately,
and to be more effective in securing recovery when appropriate. The
Agency has seen great success in this area over the past year with the £5
million target for 2005-06 exceeded by £2.6 million. Accordingly the key
Ministerial target for the forthcoming year has been raised to £6 million.

 7KH$JHQF\LVFRPPLWWHGWRHQVXULQJWKDWEHQH¿WVDUHSDLGRQO\WRWKRVH
ZKRDUHHQWLWOHGWRWKHP7KHLPSOHPHQWDWLRQRIDUREXVWEHQH¿WVHFXULW\
strategy will help to prevent fraud and error at the outset, and deliver
JUHDWHUSXEOLFFRQ¿GHQFHLQEHQH¿WDGPLQLVWUDWLRQ
The Social Security Agency’s Annual Report and Accounts for 2005-06
can be accessed at: http://www.dsdni.gov.uk/ssa_annual_report_05-06.pdf

Child Support Agency
 $VSUHYLRXVO\UHSRUWHGDQXPEHURIGLI¿FXOWLHVZLWKWKHQHZFRPSXWHUDQG
telephony system continue to hinder performance. There are still a number
of unresolved issues, which it is hoped will be resolved in the coming
months. Performance against the main Public Service Agreement Target
to increase the number of children receiving child maintenance by March
2006 was 73% against a target of 75%. The Accuracy target was achieved,
with 97% performance against the 91% target. The Case Compliance target
has been met for the year-end with performance of 64% against the target
of 60%. Performance for the Cash Compliance target was 56% against a
WDUJHWRI7KH$JHQF\LVFRQ¿GHQWRILPSURYLQJWKLVSRVLWLRQWKURXJK
ongoing dedicated compliance efforts. By the end of the year the Agency
had collected over £13 million from non-resident parents in Northern
Ireland and arranged for over £5 million to be paid by them directly to the
SDUHQWVZLWKFDUH(TXLYDOHQW¿JXUHVIRUWKH$JHQF\¶VFXVWRPHUVLQ*UHDW
Britain were £102 million and £27 million respectively.
The Child Support Agency’s Annual Report and Accounts can be accessed
at: http://www.dsdni.gov.uk/csa_annual_report_05-06.pdf

Housing
7.19

14

The Department’s Housing Division plays a vital role in the provision
of decent affordable housing in Northern Ireland. The Division provides
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funding to assist the Northern Ireland Housing Executive, Housing
Associations and the private rented and owner occupied sectors to make
available and maintain homes to an acceptable standard. This includes
special provision, where required, for disabled people and to address
the issues of fuel poverty. During 2005-06 the Department’s Housing
SURJUDPPHFRQWULEXWHGVLJQL¿FDQWO\WRWKHDOOHYLDWLRQRIWKHKRXVLQJQHHG
for both homeless people and those on low incomes.
Access to Housing
7.20

Targets were exceeded in a number of critical areas, for example, the
Northern Ireland Housing Executive and registered Housing Associations
allocated over 1,100 and 300 more houses respectively than planned during
the year and home ownership under the Northern Ireland Co-ownership
Scheme was accessed by 250 people. The Supporting People Initiative,
which provides housing support to enable people to remain in their own
homes, was able to assist over 400 more people than the target of 12,000.
A rolling programme of social housing provision was also maintained by
registered Housing Associations, with 1,519 additional units provided inyear to accommodate people from the waiting list.
Stock Improvements and Maintenance

7.21

The Housing Executive’s stock improvement and planned maintenance
programmes exceeded targets by 180 and 279 respectively, and over 240
more private sector grants were approved for renovations and repairs.
Addressing Fuel Poverty

7.22

A Fuel Poverty Strategy for Northern Ireland launched following
consultation in 2003-04 aims to eradicate fuel poverty in vulnerable
households and the social rented sector by 2010 and in non-vulnerable
households by 2016. This is being achieved by a number of initiatives
including the Warm Homes Scheme; the Northern Ireland Housing
Executive’s heating replacement programme; the establishment of a
Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Advisory Group; and an Interdepartmental
Group on Fuel Poverty. During 2005-06, the Warm Homes Scheme
attracted additional funding of £2.9 million which allowed 10,303 private
VHFWRUKRXVHKROGVWRUHFHLYHLPSURYHPHQWVWRWKHHQHUJ\HI¿FLHQF\RI
their homes, while the Northern Ireland Housing Executive improved
10,978 of their dwellings through their various programmes. Funding
has been increased for the Warm Homes Scheme in 2006-07 to £20.85
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million, while the Northern Ireland Housing Executive has allocated £19.7
million to its programmes. The 2001 House Condition Survey revealed that
203,300 households in Northern Ireland were in fuel poverty. The 2004
Interim House Condition survey, the results of which were announced in
late 2005/early 2006, indicated a substantial decrease in the numbers in
fuel poverty. 153,500 households in Northern Ireland were in fuel poverty
in 2004, a reduction of 49,800 since 2001.

Urban Regeneration
Regenerating Areas & Communities
7.23

Implementation of the Department’s Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy,
which was launched in June 2003, is currently in its second phase. A longterm view is being taken and the strategy has committed to a 7-10 year
planning and implementation timescale so that sustainable renewal and
stability can be achieved. Full implementation of the strategy will involve
the establishment of neighbourhood partnerships in the 32 neighbourhood
renewal areas. In 2005-06, neighbourhood partnerships had been formed in
24 areas, with the remainder due to come on stream later this year.
Promoting Viable and Vital Town and City Centres

7.24

Throughout Northern Ireland there has been considerable development
work in town and city centres to improve their physical, social and
economic well-being. This includes comprehensive development work
targeted in areas of deprivation throughout the Greater Belfast area and
VSHFL¿FSURMHFWVWDNHQIRUZDUGWKURXJKDSURFHVVRIODQGDFTXLVLWLRQVLWH
assembly and disposal, designed to address dereliction and contribute
towards regeneration in areas of need. Some of the key developments in
2005-06 are highlighted below.

Belfast
• On 28 March 2006, the Department selected the North East Quarter of
Belfast City Centre, based on proposals submitted by William Ewart
Properties Ltd and their development partners as the next major retail
led regeneration scheme subject to obtaining planning permission and
meeting other statutory and due diligence requirements. The Ewart
SURSRVDODLPVWREULQJQHZVKRSSLQJFLW\FHQWUHOLYLQJRI¿FHVSDFHWR
attract creative industries and transformation of the Northern Bank at
Four Corners as an arts venue.

16
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• The Public Realm Strategy for Belfast City Centre was published on 28
February 2005 and sets out a detailed programme of work to renew and
develop the city centre’s public streets, squares and open spaces with a
£14 million capital investment programme for phase one. Work on phase
1 will in begin February 2007 and is due to be completed by October 2009.
• 6LJQL¿FDQWSURJUHVVFRQWLQXHVWREHPDGHLQWKHFRQVWUXFWLRQRIWKH
£320 million Victoria Square development. The scheme is scheduled for
completion by Spring 2008 and will bring forward a substantial quantity
RIUHWDLOÀRRUVSDFHHQKDQFLQJWKHUHJLRQDOUROHRIWKHFLW\FHQWUH
revitalising its heart, providing the benchmark for further development
across the city centre and importantly connecting the city centre to
Laganside.
• In January 2006, the Department purchased the SS Nomadic. The return
of the Nomadic to Belfast’s waterfront provides the potential for the
vessel to be used as a visitor attraction and a symbol of Belfast’s proud
maritime heritage – adding to the regeneration of Belfast City. The
Department will take forward the establishment of a charitable trust to
co-ordinate the fundraising and oversee the restoration of the vessel,
which arrived back in Belfast in July 2006.
• 7KH'HSDUWPHQW¶V%HOIDVW5HJHQHUDWLRQ2I¿FHDFTXLUHGVLWHVDWD
FRVWRI PLOOLRQZKLFKZRXOGEHQH¿WIURPSK\VLFDOGHYHORSPHQW
and contribute to the regeneration of areas of deprivation. This included
the acquisition of a number of key sites at Lanark Way, Shankill Road,
3HWHUV+LOODQGVWUDWHJLFDOO\VLJQL¿FDQWVLWHVDW5DYHQKLOO5HDFK2UPHDX
Avenue and Falls Road.
• 7 sites within Belfast were disposed for redevelopment to comply with
development scheme objectives and/or the Arterial Routes Programme.
Disposals were for numerous purposes including the provision of
housing schemes in high demand areas of North and West Belfast, along
with commercial provision along arterial routes to the city centre such as
the Shankill and Crumlin Roads.
• Through the Urban Development Grant, 14 development schemes with
total development costs of over £12.2 million have been assisted with
potential grant in excess of £2 million. A number of schemes were
FRPSOHWHGLQWKLV¿QDQFLDO\HDULQFOXGLQJWKHUHIXUELVKPHQWRIDODUJH
RI¿FHVKRZURRPEORFNLQ1RUWK%HOIDVWDWDWRWDOGHYHORSPHQWFRVWRI
over £1.3 million with grant assistance of £0.25 million.
• The Department took responsibility for the regeneration of Crumlin
Road Gaol and the former Girdwood Barracks in North Belfast. The
two sites comprise 30 acres and occupy a strategic location by virtue of
their proximity to Belfast City Centre providing a unique opportunity to
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006
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regenerate one of the most disadvantaged areas in Northern Ireland. In
September 2005 it was announced that the sites would be developed on
a comprehensive basis and an international master planning competition
was launched on 12 May 2006.

North West
• In February 2004, the Department acquired the Clooney military base
from the Ministry of Defence. By bringing these lands into public
ownership, Government intends to reinforce wider efforts to help
regenerate the Waterside in particular and Londonderry in general. A
report on the public consultation was launched in February 2006. There
is now consensus within Government that Foyle & Londonderry College
and Ebrington Primary School should be co-located at Clooney and
LQ)HEUXDU\WKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V1RUWK:HVW'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH
appointed urban design consultants to produce an outline Master Plan
for the wider Clooney lands. This Master Plan, which will be published
in October 2006, will guide the development of these lands in a way that
PD[LPLVHVWKHUHJHQHUDWLRQEHQH¿WVWRERWKWKH:DWHUVLGHDUHDDQGWKH
city as a whole.
• In October 2005, work commenced on the construction of a new £2.8
million Arts and Cultural Centre in Strabane. The centre, which will
open in March 2007, is receiving combined funding of some £0.724
million from the Integrated Development Fund and the Executive
Programme Funds, both of which are being managed by North West
'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH
• ,Q6WUDEDQHWKH1RUWK:HVW'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH VZRUNWKURXJKRXWWKH
year with local developers to resolve the many complexities involved
in assembling the land required for a major town centre development
project will see the local ASDA store relocate to a new purpose built
facility. This £15 million development will provide almost 200 new jobs
and help revitalise the town. It will also help to consolidate other work
carried out by the Department in conjunction with Strabane District
Council.
• In Limavady a major Environmental Improvement scheme was
completed on the Connell Street Car Park and surrounding area. The
scheme, which cost almost £0.3 million, was developed in partnership
with the Department for Regional Development’s Roads Service and
Limavady Borough Council. It has been welcomed as a major boost
to the town by local traders and the general public and has stimulated
further private sector investment in the immediate area.

18
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• Also in Limavady, the Department, in partnership with the International
Fund for Ireland, has contributed £0.790 million towards the cost of
refurbishing the former Roe Valley Hospital. The redevelopment of this
B+ listed building, comprising of some 3,800 square metres of space,
KDVSURYLGHGDUDQJHRIRI¿FHDFFRPPRGDWLRQIRUDZLGHYDULHW\RI
public, private and community and voluntary sector tenants. A total of
134 people now work in the building and rental income of around £0.2
million per annum is being generated.
• In December 2005, the Department announced that some £8 million has
been secured through the Integrated Development Fund to carry out an
ambitious public realm project in the Guildhall Square/Waterloo Place
DUHDRI/RQGRQGHUU\/DWHUWKLV\HDU1RUWK:HVW'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH
will appoint urban design consultants to design the scheme, which
will address urban decline in the existing pedestrian zone through a
solution based on design excellence and high quality public realm that
gives priority to pedestrian needs, connectivity and social inclusion
while supporting a mix of uses in a sustainable urban environment.
This project will complement the £10 million Walled City Tourism
Destination project led by the Northern Ireland Tourist Board and the
Ilex led redevelopment of the former Ebrington military base, which will
include new river crossings.
• The Department is facilitating the £4 million development of the oneacre Distillery Brae site into a purpose built Primary Health Care
Centre, serving a population of 25,000 patients. Work commenced on
this project during the year and it is anticipated that when complete the
development will produce an additional footfall of 1,600 per day in the
area contributing to the regeneration of Spencer Road in particular and
the wider Waterside in general.

Regional Areas
• 7KH'HSDUWPHQW¶V5HJLRQDO'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FHLVUHVSRQVLEOHIRU
urban regeneration matters outside Belfast and the North West. Two
major regeneration proposals for Bangor seafront and Ballymena town
centre are currently being considered by the Department. The proposed
scheme in Bangor will provide leisure, retail and residential facilities. In
Ballymena independent consultants have been appointed to review the
proposed retail scheme and a report will be published in May 2006 for
public consultation to inform the Department’s views in the matter.
• Other towns including Coleraine (two sites) and Enniskillen have had
development briefs issued. The Department, the Planning Service and
Roads Service will assess the proposals when received and will select a
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006
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•

•

•

•
•

•

short list of prospective developments and decide on the most suitable
scheme.
Major public realm schemes completed during the year include:
- the transformation of the Erne river waterfront in Enniskillen at a cost
of £1.3 million featuring upgraded walkways, landscaping and jetties;
and
- the Diamond in the centre of Coleraine which received a makeover
worth over £0.7 million.
Work on a public realm scheme for Omagh town centre costing £1.7
million to improve pedestrian access and provide street furniture and
public art has continued during the year and is expected to be completed
later in 2006.
Environmental improvements are also continuing on the Omagh
riverside as part of the work on a new Omagh Arts Centre and further
Education College, which is expected to be completed by December
2006.
Some minor public realm schemes were completed during the year in
Ballycastle, Randalstown, Tandragee and Newcastle.
In October 2005 the Department made awards totalling almost £0.9
million towards the cost of town centre promotions and marketing for 17
towns across Northern Ireland. This expenditure will take place up until
2007-08.
A number of core Community Regeneration Improvement Special
Programme (CRISP) projects were completed during the year
including Castlederg, Caledon and Castledawson and contract work has
commenced on building projects in Ederney, Sixmilecross, Donemana
DQG)HHQH\$QXPEHURIRWKHUSURMHFWVDUHEHLQJDVVHVVHGDQG¿QDO
decisions will be made in 2006-07.

Developing and Empowering Communities
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7.25

The Department’s Voluntary and Community Unit supports community
capacity building activities through a variety of mechanisms. This work is
vital because it encourages active participation by individuals and groups
in decisions that affect their lives, enhances quality of life and encourages
people to work together to solve common problems that are often rooted in
disadvantage and inequality.

7.26

In-year, the Voluntary and Community Unit created 1,000 volunteering
opportunities throughout Northern Ireland through the Volunteer Bureaux
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Initiative, with particular focus on opportunities for residents in the most
deprived areas and with marginalised groups.
 ,QVSHFL¿FDFWLRQZDVDOVRWDNHQWRVXSSRUWWKHGHYHORSPHQW
of greater local community capacity through £3 million from the Local
Community Fund. A wide range of imaginative and practical activities
were supported, involving people from all age groups. For example, the
promotion of sporting facilities and environmental activities, together
with the development of new and enhanced skills has been a major feature
of the fund across all areas. The Community Conventions Development
Company continues to plan for the delivery of three pilot conventions in
late 2006. Voluntary and Community Unit continues to ensure through
correspondence and contact with the Board that the proposed pilots are
properly targeted, planned and delivered to effectively respond to the
VSHFL¿FQHHGVRIWKHORFDOFRPPXQLWLHVWKH\DUHDLPHGDW7KH&RPPXQLW\
Conventions Development Company continued to plan for the three pilot
community conventions to be held in 2006.
7.28

The Community Support Programme in partnership with district
councils continued to strengthen local communities, increase community
participation and promote social inclusion through the stimulation and
support of community groups, community activity and local advice
services.

7.29

Organisations funded under the Regional Infrastructure Programme
included the Northern Ireland Council for Voluntary Action (NICVA), The
Law Centre, NI Citizens Advice (CAB NI), Advice (NI), the Volunteer
Development Agency and Community Change.

7.30

During the year the Outreach Programme bringing together statutory
bodies and communities to work in partnership delivered better local
services continued to fund the 13 projects selected in April 2003. The
Programme will run until March 2007, when an evaluation will be
undertaken.
Support for the Voluntary & Community Sector

7.31

The Department continues to work with all other Government departments
to enhance the capacity of the voluntary and community sector to develop
and deliver public services taking account of the actions outlined in
“Positive Steps”, the Government’s response to the recommendations
of the Task Force on Resourcing the Voluntary and Community Sector.
Positive Steps established two new funding programmes to assist the
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sustainability of the sector. These are the Community Investment Fund of
£5 million over 3 years and the Modernisation Fund of £3 million revenue
and £15 million capital. Through the Modernisation Fund, totalling £18
million over a three year period the Department will continue to support
DQGIDFLOLWDWHWKHYROXQWDU\DQGFRPPXQLW\VHFWRUWREHFRPHPRUHHI¿FLHQW
and effective particularly in the delivery of public services.
7.32

An Inter Departmental Implementation Group was established to take
forward the commitments arising from Positive Steps. The Group is
FRPSULVHGRIVHQLRURI¿FLDOVIURPDOO'HSDUWPHQWVDQGLVFKDLUHGE\WKH
DSD Minister David Hanson. The Department’s Voluntary and Community
Unit provides the Secretariat for the Implementation Group, and the
departmental actions will be monitored by the Unit as part of the Partners
for Change Strategy 2005-2008.
Creating and developing Social and Charities Legislation

7.33

The Department is the main charity authority for Northern Ireland and has
responsibility for policy and most of the legislation relating to charities.
Proposed new Northern Ireland charities legislation (introducing a Charity
Commission for Northern Ireland and a Northern Ireland Register of
Charities) has been drafted and is the subject of formal public consultation
with a view to introduction of the new provisions in early 2007.

7.34

A review of Northern Ireland Liquor Licensing legislation has been
ongoing since May 2004 and a public consultation on proposals for change
took place from 1 November 2005 to 31 January 2006. The Minister
announced his plans for reform in a written statement to Parliament on 20
July 2006. Consultation on draft legislation is expected to take place at the
end of 2006.

7.35

Legislation to control unauthorised camping in Northern Ireland completed
its Parliamentary stages in July 2005. Implementation of The Unauthorised
Encampments (NI) Order 2005 was deferred until July 2006 to coincide
with the provision of transit sites for Travellers, who occupy the majority
of unauthorised encampments.

Financial Results for the Year
7.36

22

The Net Operating Cost of the Department in 2005-06 was £4.555 billion.
7KH¿QDQFLDOUHVXOWVRIWKH'HSDUWPHQWDUHVHWRXWRQSDJHVWR

RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

Request for Resources A
7.37

DSD Core Administration:
The variation between the estimate and the outturn was 6.7%. The outturn
was £1 million lower than the estimate.

7.38

DSD Core Programme:
The variation between the estimate and the outturn was 5.2%. The outturn
was £24.4 million lower than the estimate. The main reason for this was:
The estimate for the expenditure in relation to “grants to voluntary bodies –
social security” was 17.4% lower (£1.709 million) lower than the estimate
due to reduction in the level of growth of awards.

7.39

SSA Administration:
7KHUHZDVQRVLJQL¿FDQWYDULDWLRQEHWZHHQWKHHVWLPDWHDQGWKHRXWWXUQ
which was within 3.5% (£5.4 million) of the estimate.

7.40

SSA Programme:
Outturn programme expenditure, which is part of the Annually Managed
Expenditure, was 5.1% (£98.4 million) below the estimate. The main
reasons for this were:
• 1RQFRQWULEXWRU\3HQVLRQ%HQH¿WVZHUH PLOOLRQ ORZHU
than the estimate mainly due to an over-estimation of requirements for
age related payments.
• Payments of Jobseeker’s allowance (income based) were 12.4%
(£9.274 million) lower than expected due to reductions in caseloads
DQGFRQWLQXLQJGLI¿FXOWLHVLQHVWLPDWHGUHTXLUHPHQWVDULVLQJIURPWKH
removal of the child elements for new claims following introduction of
Child Tax Credit.

7.41

CSA Administration:
Outturn expenditure was 8.7% (£1.5 million) less than the estimate.

Request for Resources B
7.42

Housing Administration:
The variation between the estimate and the outturn was 7.0%. The outturn
was £0.3 million lower than the estimate.
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7.43

Housing Programme:
Outturn programme expenditure was 2.6% (£11.4 million) less than the
estimate.

Request for Resources C
7.44

Urban Regeneration and Community Development Administration:
The variation between the estimate and the outturn was 4.6%. The outturn
was £0.6 million lower than the estimate.

7.45

Urban Regeneration and Community Development Programme:
Outturn programme expenditure was 32.6% (£27.6 million) less than the
estimate. The main reasons for this were as follows:
• Urban Regeneration was 50.7% (£21.559 million) lower than the
HVWLPDWHGXHWRSURMHFWVOLSSDJHLQWRWKHQH[W¿QDQFLDO\HDUWKHIDLOXUH
of projects to materialise and non uptake on Urban Regeneration
Grants, Neighbourhood Renewal and Public Realm. In addition, the
CRISP scheme was coming to an end and uptake was much slower than
anticipated and disposals of part of the Department’s land portfolio
UHDOLVHGPXFKJUHDWHUSUR¿WVWKDQDQWLFLSDWHG PLOOLRQ 
• EU Programme for Peace and Reconciliation was 11.4% (£1.087
million) lower than the estimate due to delays in uptake of grant aid by
DSSOLFDQWVZKRKDGDQWLFLSDWHGLQFXUULQJH[SHQGLWXUHLQWKLV¿QDQFLDO
year. Some schemes did not proceed; others will proceed in the next
¿QDQFLDO\HDUDQGVRPHVFKHPHVSXWIRUZDUGIRUIXQGLQJGLGQRWPHHW
eligibility criteria and were withdrawn.
• Executive Programme Funds were 47.8% (£2.040 million) lower than
the estimate due to delays in completion of the Omagh Riverside Project
ZKLFKLVQRZH[SHFWHGWRFRPSOHWHLQWKHFXUUHQW¿QDQFLDO\HDU6RPH
other schemes, to be funded under Short Term Funding, postponed from
2004-05, and expected to complete in 2005-06, were withdrawn or
curtailed.
• Community Initiatives were 27.3% (£0.892 million) lower than the
estimate due to schemes not proceeding or being postponed until the
QH[W¿QDQFLDO\HDURUEHLQJZLWKGUDZQRQWKHJURXQGVRIHOLJLELOLW\
criteria.
• Non-cash items were 23% (£1.183 million) higher than the estimate due
to unexpected increases in land sales debtors due to higher than expected
proceeds of disposal of land and buildings owned by the Department.

24
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• Grants to Laganside were 28.1% (£2.109 million) lower than the
estimate because of capital project slippage into 2006-07.
• EU Debtors Capital Charges were 48.7% (£0.549 million) lower than the
estimate because of an unanticipated large EU Debtor write off.

Fixed Assets
 'HWDLOVRIPRYHPHQWVLQ¿[HGDVVHWVDUHVHWRXWLQ Note 21. The
Department does not believe that there is any material difference between
WKHPDUNHWDQGERRNYDOXHRILWV¿[HGDVVHWVDVDW0DUFK

Contingent liabilities not required to be disclosed under FRS
12 but included for parliamentary reporting accountability
7.47

Contingent liabilities in this context are covered at Note 36 in the main
body of the Accounts.

8.

Investment in the Future

8.1

Both staff and managers at all levels of the organisation continue to face
a programme of modernisation to transform business in order to provide
HI¿FLHQWFXVWRPHUIRFXVHGVHUYLFHV

8.2

The size and scope of the Human Resource function for the Department
will undergo dramatic change over the next few years as the Northern
Ireland Civil Service e-HR Programme modernises and transforms the
civil service’s personnel function. Individual departments will no longer
provide the full range of Human Resource services to their staff. Instead,
many of these will be delivered through an outsourced shared service
centre, with the retained functions delivered by the corporate centre and by
departmental Human Resource units. A project board has been established
in the Department to plan and put in place arrangements to continue to
manage Human Resource services for which the Department will remain
responsible, in line with the needs of the business.

8.3

A new Corporate Human Resource Strategy, covering the period 2006 to
KDVEHHQGHYHORSHG,WLVVWUXFWXUHGDURXQGIRXUWKHPHVUHÀHFWLQJWKH
strategic direction endorsed by the Northern Ireland Civil Service strategy
document ‘Fit for Purpose’. The four themes are:
• Resource Management
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• Building Capability
• Embracing Diversity
• People Management
8.4

A Corporate Human Resource action plan for 2006-07 has been developed
to support the implementation of the Corporate Human Resource Strategy.



2WKHUVSHFL¿FGHYHORSPHQWVKDYHLQFOXGHGWKHODXQFKRIWKH*UDGH
Development Programme, ‘Leading for Change’ in partnership with
the National School of Government. The results of the Department’s
¿UVW6WDII$WWLWXGH6XUYH\ZHUHSXEOLVKHGLQ0D\DQGDQXPEHURI
DFWLRQVUHÀHFWLQJWKHRXWFRPHRIWKHVXUYH\KDYHDOVREHHQLQFOXGHGLQWKH
Corporate Human Resource action plan.

9.

Events That Have Occurred Since the Financial Year-End
Corporate Plan 2006-08 and Business Plan 2006-07

9.1

The Department’s Corporate Plan 2006-08 and Business Plan 200607 is published on the internet at www.dsdni.gov.uk under the heading
3XEOLFDWLRQV%XVLQHVV3ODQV7KHSODQLV¿UPO\VHWLQWKHFRQWH[WRI
Priorities and Budget 2006-08 which was published on 14 December 2005,
DQGUHÀHFWVWKHFKDOOHQJHVDKHDGIRUWKH'HSDUWPHQWLQSURJUHVVLQJWKH
social development agenda in Northern Ireland.

9.2

A number of key events have occurred in the current planning cycle as
illustrated below.
Funding for the Voluntary and Community Sector
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9.3

A Community Investment Fund has been established to provide strategic
funding for the support of generic community development activity.
The £5 million made available for this over three years will complement
existing Government programmes and will be targeted towards community
development activity. The programme opened for applications on 27 April
2006 and will close on 8 June 2006.

9.4

On 4 April 2006, the Minister launched a cross-departmental action
plan aimed at renewing disadvantaged communities. The Renewing
Communities initiative includes measures valued at over £33 million and
places a particular emphasis on addressing the needs of Protestant working
FODVVFRPPXQLWLHVDVLGHQWL¿HGE\WKH*RYHUQPHQW7DVNIRUFH7KHSODQ
will complement existing measures aimed at tackling disadvantage and
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ZLOOFRQFHQWUDWHRQUHEXLOGLQJFRQ¿GHQFHUHYLYLQJKRSHDQGUHVWRULQJ
pride through additional investment in education, community capacity,
regeneration, improving public service delivery and freeing communities
IURPSDUDPLOLWDU\LQÀXHQFH$VSDUWRIWKLVLQLWLDWLYHWKH'HSDUWPHQWZLOO
OHDGRQDQXPEHURIVSHFL¿FDFWLRQVYDOXHGDW PLOOLRQRYHUWZR
years, relating to regeneration, housing and community capacity building.
Regeneration of Belfast City Centre
9.5

On 16 May 2006, the Minister announced that the Department in
conjunction with Belfast City Council will run an international design
competition later in 2006 to revamp Donegall Square. The scheme is
estimated to cost £12 million and is subject to securing additional funding
beyond 2008.
Unfitness in the Private Rented Sector

9.6

On 7 June 2006, new legislation was made for the private rented sector.
7KH3ULYDWH7HQDQFLHV 1, 2UGHULVWKH¿UVWSLHFHRIPDMRUOHJLVODWLRQ
for the sector for almost 30 years. It is anticipated that the main provisions
in the Order will commence in early 2007. The provisions are based on
recommendations made by a multi-agency working group and provide the
basis for a co-ordinated inter-agency approach to tackling disrepair in the
sector involving District Councils and the Housing Executive. It introduces
DV\VWHPRIUHSDLUHQIRUFHPHQWDQGLQIXWXUHWKH¿WQHVVRIDWHQDQF\ZLOO
be the chief factor in determining rent control. District Councils will have
powers to enforce necessary remedial work to bring a property up to the
¿WQHVVVWDQGDUG$VSDUWRIWKHRYHUDOOVWUDWHJ\IRUWKHSULYDWHUHQWHGVHFWRU
the Department will continue to work with the Housing Executive in
taking forward proposals on policy issues such as developing best practice
guides for use by landlords, licensing and accreditation of landlords and
researching the need for arbitration.

Public Interest and Other
10.

Policy on Employment of Disabled Persons

10.1

The Department aims to provide access to the full range of recruitment and
career opportunities for all people with disabilities and to establish working
conditions, which encourage the full participation of disabled people. The
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Department, where possible, seeks to retain existing staff who are affected
by disability through rehabilitation, training and reassignment.

11.

Section 75 Equality Duty

11.1

Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998 places a duty on the
Department, requiring it, in carrying out its functions relating to Northern
Ireland, to have due regard to the need to promote equality of opportunity
between:
• Persons of different religious belief, political opinion, racial group, age,
marital status or sexual orientation;
• Men and women;
• Persons with a disability and persons without; and
• Persons with dependants and persons without.

11.2

In addition, the Act also requires the Department to have regard to the
desirability of promoting good relations between persons of different
religious belief, political opinion or racial group.

11.3

The promotion of equality of opportunity and good community relations is
at the forefront of the Department’s programmes and activities. Section 75
has been integrated into the Department’s policy development processes
and has been an important aspect of governance throughout the year.

 7KH'HSDUWPHQWKDVFRQWLQXHGWRIXO¿OOWKHFRPPLWPHQWVPDGHLQLWV
Equality Scheme and has worked closely with the Equality Commission
and others in undertaking a 5 year review of the scheme. The Department
also submitted an annual review to the Equality Commission outlining
progress made in delivering on these statutory obligations throughout the
year.
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12.

Payment Practice Codes

12.1

The Department pays its trade creditors in accordance with the
Confederation of British Industry Prompt Payment Code and Government
Accounting rules. The Government Accounting rules require that the
timing of payment should normally be stated in the contract. Where there is
no contractual provision departments should pay within 30 days of receipt
of the goods or services or within 30 days of the presentation of a valid
invoice, whichever is the later.
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12.2

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, which came
into effect from 1 November 1998, enables suppliers to charge interest
on overdue debts. The Department made no payments during the year in
respect of such claims.

12.3

Details of payment performance are provided at Note 41 to the accounts.

13.

Employee Involvement

13.1

The Department places considerable reliance on the involvement of its
employees. It makes every effort to ensure that all staff are kept informed
of plans and developments. This is effected through meetings, team
EULH¿QJVFLUFXODUVSXEOLFDWLRQRIEXVLQHVVDQGWUDLQLQJSODQVDQGWKH
posting of relevant information on the Departmental intranet.

13.2

Staff also have access to welfare services and to trade union membership.

13.3

The Department uses the established Whitley process of staff consultation.
The Whitley Council and Committees provide an agreed forum for
discussion, which both employer and trade union representatives attend.
In this way, staff views are represented and information for employees is
promulgated.

14.

Health and Safety

14.1

The Department is committed to adhering to all existing legislation on
Health and Safety at Work to ensure that staff and customers enjoy the
EHQH¿WVRIDVDIHHQYLURQPHQW

15.

Electronic Government

15.1

The Department has achieved the targets set for electronic service
GHOLYHU\FDSDELOLW\LQUHVSHFWRIWKHNH\VHUYLFHVGH¿QHGLQWKH'6'
e-Business Strategy. As reported previously, internal corporate operations
are supported by an extensive network of information technology and
information systems. The main public services, social security and child
support, rely heavily on the use of computer systems and telephony to
support the high level of person to person contact that is, and will continue
to be, a feature of these services. Work is continuing at a national level
RQLPSURYLQJWKHOHJDF\V\VWHPVXVHGIRUEHQH¿WDGPLQLVWUDWLRQ7KH
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Department’s website was re-developed in early 2005 in accordance with
Northern Ireland Civil Service corporate design standards.

16.

Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Environmental
Information Regulations

16.1

The Department is fully committed to meeting its obligations under the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information
Regulations 2004, which came into force on 1 January 2005.

16.2

The Department has established a network of Local Information Managers
located in all business areas through which requests for information
are managed. The Departmental Information Manager monitors the
Department’s compliance with the Freedom of Information Act and the
Environmental Information Regulations and provides advice to all business
areas.

16.3

The Department will continue to publish and review information in
accordance with its Publication Scheme.

Remuneration Report
17.

Remuneration Policy

17.1

The remuneration of senior civil servants is set by the Prime Minister
following independent advice from the Review Body on Senior Salaries.
The Review Body also advises the Prime Minister from time to time on
the pay and pensions of Members of Parliament and their allowances; on
Peers’ allowances; and on the pay, pensions and allowances of Ministers
and others whose pay is determined by the Ministerial and Other Salaries
Act 1975.

17.2

In reaching its recommendations, the Review Body has regard to the
following considerations:
• 7KHQHHGWRUHFUXLWUHWDLQDQGPRWLYDWHVXLWDEO\DEOHDQGTXDOL¿HG
people to exercise their different responsibilities;
• Regional/local variations in labour markets and their effects on the
recruitment and retention of staff;
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• Government policies for improving the public services including the
requirement on departments to meet the output targets for the delivery of
departmental services;
• The funds available to departments as set out in the Government’s
departmental expenditure limits;
• WKH*RYHUQPHQW¶VLQÀDWLRQWDUJHW
17.3

The Review Body takes account of the evidence it receives about wider
economic considerations and the affordability of its recommendations.

17.4

Permanent Secretaries’ pay awards are determined by the Northern Ireland
Civil Service Permanent Secretary Remuneration Committee.

17.5

Further information about the work of the Review Body can be found at
www.ome.uk.com.

Performance Management
17.6

The Performance Management System for the Senior Civil Service
provides a means to improve management of individual performance
and a better link between organisational success, individual contribution
and reward. It links objective setting to business objectives; provides a
delivery-focused set of Senior Civil Service Leadership Competences;
encourages the development of skills and knowledge; focuses on personal
development through the mid-year development review; and rewards
results through the performance review and pay awards.

Service Contracts
17.7

Civil Service appointments are made in accordance with the Civil Service
Commissioners for Northern Ireland Recruitment Code, which requires
appointment to be on merit on the basis of fair and open competition but
also includes the circumstances when appointments may otherwise be made.

 8QOHVVRWKHUZLVHVWDWHGEHORZWKHRI¿FLDOVFRYHUHGE\WKLVUHSRUWKROG
appointments, which are open ended until they reach the normal retiring
age of 60. Policy relating to notice periods and termination payments is
contained in the Northern Ireland Civil Service Staff Handbook.
17.9

Further information about the work of the Civil Service Commissioners
can be found at www.nicscommissioners.org.
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Salary and Pension Entitlements
17.10 The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension
LQWHUHVWVRIWKH0LQLVWHUDQGPRVWVHQLRURI¿FLDOVRIWKH'HSDUWPHQW

Ministers’ Salaries
17.11 During 2005-06 the Department for Social Development was under the
direction and control of David Hanson, Minister of State. His salary and
DOORZDQFHVZHUHSDLGE\WKH1RUWKHUQ,UHODQG2I¿FHRUWKH&DELQHW2I¿FH
rather than the Northern Ireland Assembly. These costs have not been
included as notional cost in the Operating Costs Statement in the same
way as Devolved Ministers’ salaries. Details of David Hanson’s salary
DQGDOORZDQFHVZLOOEHSURYLGHGLQWKH1RUWKHUQ,UHODQG2I¿FH
Resource Accounts.

Ministerial Pensions
 3HQVLRQVEHQH¿WVIRU:HVWPLQVWHU0LQLVWHUVDUHSURYLGHGE\WKH
Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund (PCPF). The scheme is statute
based (made under Statutory Instrument SI 1993 No 3253, as amended).
17.13 Those Ministers who are Members of Parliament are also entitled to an
MP’s pension under the PCPF. The arrangements for Ministers provide
EHQH¿WVRQDQµDYHUDJHVDODU\¶EDVLVZLWKHLWKHUDWKRUWK
accrual rate, taking account of all service as a Minister. (The accrual rate
has been 1/40th since 15 July 2002 but Ministers, in common with all
other members of the PCPF, can opt to increase their accrual rate from 5
July 2001, or retain the former 1/50th accrual rate and the lower rate of
employee contribution.)
 %HQH¿WVIRU0LQLVWHUVDUHSD\DEOHDWWKHVDPHWLPHDV03V¶EHQH¿WV
become payable under the PCPF or, for those who are not MPs, on
UHWLUHPHQWIURPPLQLVWHULDORI¿FHRQRUDIWHUDJH3HQVLRQVDUHLQFUHDVHG
annually in line with changes in the Retail Price Index. Members pay
contributions of 6% of their ministerial salary if they have opted for the
1/50th accrual rate. Those members who have opted for the 1/40th accrual
rate are required to pay an increased contribution. The rate was increased
from 9% to 10% from 1 April 2004. There is also an employer contribution
paid by the Exchequer representing the balance cost. This is currently 24%
of the ministerial salary.
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Senior Civil Servants
2005-06

2004-05

Salary
£’000

Benefits in
kind
WRQHDUHVW


Salary
£’000

Benefits in
kind
WRQHDUHVW


115 - 120

-

110 – 115

-

Mr D Baker
Deputy Secretary Resources, Housing
& Social Security Group

85 – 90

-

80 - 85

-

Mr J McGrath
Deputy Secretary Urban Regeneration
& Community Development Group

85 - 90

-

75 - 80

-

Mr G Keenan
Chief Executive, Social Security
Agency

90 – 95

-

80 - 85

-

Mr B McGahan
Chief Executive, Child Support Agency

85 – 90

-

80 - 85

-

Officials
Mr A Shannon
Permanent Secretary

Salary
17.15 The ‘salary’ of senior civil servants includes gross salary; performance
pay or bonuses and any allowance to the extent that it is subject to UK
taxation. This report is based on payments made by the Department and
thus recorded in these accounts.

Benefits in kind
 7KHPRQHWDU\YDOXHRIEHQH¿WVLQNLQGFRYHUVDQ\EHQH¿WVSURYLGHGE\WKH
employer and treated by HM Revenue & Customs as a taxable emolument.
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Civil Service Pensions
Real increase
Accrued
in pension
pension at age
60 as at 31/3/06 and related CETV
at
lump sum at
and related
31/3/06
age 60
lump sum

Employer
contribution
Real
CETV increase to partnership
pension
in
at
account
31/3/05 CETV

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Nearest £100

40 – 45
plus
130 – 135
lump sum

0 – 2.5
plus
5 – 7.5
lump sum

759

698

36

-

25 – 30
plus
80 – 85
lump sum

0 – 2.5
plus
5- 7.5
lump sum

402

355

31

-

25 – 30
plus
85 – 90
lump sum

0 – 2.5
plus
5 – 7.5
lump sum

474

419

33

-

Mr G Keenan
Chief Executive, Social
Security Agency

40 – 45
plus
125 – 130
lump sum

0 – 2.5
plus
5 – 7.5
lump sum

733

664

45

-

Mr B McGahan
Chief Executive, Child
Support Agency

30 – 35
plus
95 – 100
lump sum

0 – 2.5
plus
5 – 7.5
lump sum

539

483

33

-

Officials
Mr A Shannon
Permanent Secretary

Mr D Baker
Deputy Secretary
Resources, Housing &
Social Security Group

Mr J McGrath
Deputy Secretary
Urban Regeneration
& Community
Development Group

 3HQVLRQEHQH¿WVDUHSURYLGHGWKURXJKWKH&LYLO6HUYLFHSHQVLRQ
arrangements. From 1 October 2002, civil servants may be in one of three
VWDWXWRU\EDVHGµ¿QDOVDODU\¶GH¿QHGEHQH¿WVFKHPHV FODVVLFSUHPLXP
DQGFODVVLFSOXV 7KHVFKHPHVDUHXQIXQGHGZLWKWKHFRVWRIEHQH¿WVPHW
by monies voted by Parliament each year. Pensions payable under classic,
premium and classic plus are increased annually in line with changes in
the Retail Price Index. New entrants after 1 October 2002 may choose
between membership of ‘premium’ or joining a good quality ‘money
SXUFKDVH¶VWDNHKROGHUDUUDQJHPHQWZLWKDVLJQL¿FDQWHPSOR\HUFRQWULEXWLRQ
(partnership pension account).
17.18 Employee contributions are set at the rate of 1.5% of pensionable earnings
IRUFODVVLFDQGIRUSUHPLXPDQGFODVVLFSOXV%HQH¿WVLQµFODVVLF¶
accrue at the rate of 1/80th of pensionable salary for each year of service.
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In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on
UHWLUHPHQW)RUµSUHPLXP¶EHQH¿WVDFFUXHDWWKHUDWHRIWKRI¿QDO
pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike ‘classic’, there is no
automatic lump sum (but members may give up (commute) some of their
pension to provide a lump sum). ‘Classic plus’ is essentially a variation
RISUHPLXPEXWZLWKEHQH¿WVLQUHVSHFWRIVHUYLFHEHIRUH2FWREHU
calculated broadly in the same way as in classic.
17.19 The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. The
employer makes a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending
on the age of the member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by
the employee from a selection of approved products. The employee does
not have to contribute but where they do make contributions, the employer
will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to
the employer’s basic contribution). Employers also contribute a further
0.8% of pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk
EHQH¿WFRYHU GHDWKLQVHUYLFHDQGLOOKHDOWKUHWLUHPHQW 
17.20 Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found
at the website www.civilservicepensions-ni.gov.uk.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
17.21 A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed
FDSLWDOLVHGYDOXHRIWKHSHQVLRQVFKHPHEHQH¿WVDFFUXHGE\DPHPEHUDW
DSDUWLFXODUSRLQWLQWLPH7KHEHQH¿WVYDOXHGDUHWKHPHPEHU¶VDFFUXHG
EHQH¿WVDQGDQ\FRQWLQJHQWVSRXVH¶VSHQVLRQSD\DEOHIURPWKHVFKHPH$
CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure
SHQVLRQEHQH¿WVLQDQRWKHUSHQVLRQVFKHPHRUDUUDQJHPHQWZKHQWKH
PHPEHUOHDYHVDVFKHPHDQGFKRRVHVWRWUDQVIHUWKHEHQH¿WVDFFUXHGLQ
WKHLUIRUPHUVFKHPH7KHSHQVLRQ¿JXUHVVKRZQUHODWHWRWKHEHQH¿WVWKDW
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of
the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which
GLVFORVXUHDSSOLHV7KH&(79¿JXUHVDQGIURPWKHRWKHUSHQVLRQ
GHWDLOVLQFOXGHWKHYDOXHRIDQ\SHQVLRQEHQH¿WLQDQRWKHUVFKHPHRU
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the Civil Service
pension arrangements and for which the CS Vote has received a transfer
payment commensurate with the additional pension liabilities being
DVVXPHG7KH\DOVRLQFOXGHDQ\DGGLWLRQDOSHQVLRQEHQH¿WDFFUXHGWR
the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension
service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within
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the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of
Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
 7KLVUHÀHFWVWKHLQFUHDVHLQ&(79HIIHFWLYHO\IXQGHGE\WKHHPSOR\HU
,WWDNHVDFFRXQWRIWKHLQFUHDVHLQDFFUXHGSHQVLRQGXHWRLQÀDWLRQ
FRQWULEXWLRQVSDLGE\WKHHPSOR\HH LQFOXGLQJWKHYDOXHRIDQ\EHQH¿WV
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU
10 October 2006
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Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities
Under the Government Resource and Accounts Act (NI) 2001, the Department of
Finance and Personnel Northern Ireland has directed the Department for Social
Development to prepare for each financial year resource accounts detailing the
resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the use of resources by
the Department during the year.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis, and must give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of Department for Social Development and of its net
resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, recognised gains and losses and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts the principal Accounting Officer is required to comply
with requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in
particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Department of Finance and
Personnel Northern Ireland, including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards as, set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and
• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.
The Department of Finance and Personnel Northern Ireland has appointed the
Permanent Head of Department as Accounting Officer of the Department for
Social Development. The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the
Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding
the Department for Social Development’s assets, are set out in the Accounting
Officers’ Memorandum issued by the Department of Finance and Personnel
Northern Ireland and published in Government Accounting Northern Ireland.
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Statement on Internal Control
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system
of internal control that supports the achievement of the Department for Social
Development’s (DSD) policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the
public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Government Accounting
Northern Ireland (GANI).
I am the Minister’s main policy advisor on all matters relating to the Department’s
areas of responsibility. It is my responsibility to ensure that the Minister is fully
aware of and involved as necessary in managing risks which impact on the
Department and its sponsored bodies. The Minister approves the Department’s
Corporate and Business Plans and Public Service Agreement (PSA) targets from
which corporate risks are derived. The Minister also receives regular reports on
all aspects of departmental performance, including a formal quarterly progress
report highlighting any significant deviation from achievement of targets, and any
underlying risk realisation.
As Accounting Officer I am supported and advised by the Departmental
Management Board (DMB), which I chair and which comprises the Deputy
Secretaries of the two Core Groups in the Department and the Chief Executives
of the Social Security Agency and the Child Support Agency. In addition, I have
appointed the Chief Executives of the NDPBs as Additional Accounting Officers
who are accountable for the maintenance and operation of the system of internal
control and risk management in their business areas and the for the production
of their associated Statement of Internal Control. The Deputy Secretaries have
responsibility for the Department’s relationship with and oversight of the
two Executive NDPBs (Laganside Corporation and ILEX), and the Northern
Ireland Housing Executive as a public corporation. All are required under the
Department’s policy on risk management to ensure that adequate risk management
arrangements are applied. A key element of the risk management process is the
creation and management of risk management Policy Statements and their robust
application, including the provision of annual assurance statements.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to implement policies and to achieve
aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
38
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assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of
departmental policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been
in place in DSD for the year ended 31 March 2006 and up to the date of approval
of the annual report and accounts, and accords with DFP guidance.

Capacity to handle risk
Leadership of the risk management process is provided corporately by the
Departmental Management Board. The work of the Departmental Management
Board regularly involves:
• DJUHHLQJWKHNH\ULVNVULVNRZQHUVDQGFRQWUROVWRPDQDJHULVNVLGHQWL¿HGLQWKH
Corporate Risk Register;
• taking major decisions affecting the management of risks within the
Department;
• monitoring the management and control of key risks to reduce the likelihood of
unforeseen occurrence;
• reviewing the Department’s approach to risk management; and
• ownership of the Corporate Risk Register.
All business areas within the Department have in place corporate governance
arrangements which include risk management policies that are reviewed and
endorsed annually and:
•
•
•
•
•

set out the Department’s approach to identifying, assessing and managing risk;
set out the key aspects of the risk management process;
identify the reporting procedures;
detail the roles and responsibilities of those involved; and
reinforce the link between risk management and the business planning process.

I have assigned ownership of key risks to those with the responsibility and
authority for implementing controls and assigning resources to manage key risks.
The risk management policies have been embedded across the Department.
Prior to the introduction of the new risk management arrangements an extensive
programme of training of key staff was undertaken to ensure full understanding
of the new methodology. Various groups such as the Departmental Management
Board, Agency Management Boards and Audit Committees provide fora for
exchanging information and sharing best practice on risk management issues, in
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addition to the more formal learning and development opportunities that exist for
individual staff. The corporate risk register is also published on the Department’s
intranet for the information of all staff.

The risk and control framework
The Department’s Corporate Governance Framework includes the following
organisational elements and support arrangements:
• the Departmental Management Board;
• the Management Boards in each of the Department’s two Executive Agencies
and two Core Groups;
• DGGLWLRQDO$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHUVIRUWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V$JHQFLHVDQG([HFXWLYH
Non-Departmental Public Bodies as required by Government Accounting NI;
• the Finance Director’s post as required by Government Accounting NI;
• the Departmental Audit Committee and Fraud Sub-Committee;
• the Audit and Risk Management Committees in each of the Department’s two
Executive Agencies and two Core Groups;
• the Departmental Internal Audit Service;
• the Departmental Corporate Investigations Unit. The Unit is responsible for
providing the Department with an effective investigative capability. It has
a prime role in the maintenance and servicing of the Department’s Fraud
Response Plan as well as providing an objective and professional investigation
service;
• a Central Policy and Co-Ordination Unit to facilitate policy development
capability and strategic management in the Department;
• D%XVLQHVV,PSURYHPHQW8QLWWRDVVLVW$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHUVWRPHHWWKHLU
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHVZLWKUHJDUGWRWKHHI¿FLHQWDQGHFRQRPLFDOXVHRIKXPDQDQG
other resources;
• a professional information service to provide a full communications service to
the Department and the Minister;
• the formal relationships established between the Department and external
organisations.
All business areas have in place risk management policies and appropriate
processes and procedures to:
• identify business objectives and risks, including risk registers;
• evaluate risk and the existing controls in place;
• allocate risk ownership to appropriate staff;
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• regularly review and report on aspects of risk management and internal control
DQGPDQDJHWKHPHFRQRPLFDOO\HI¿FLHQWO\DQGHIIHFWLYHO\
At a corporate level, risk management has been incorporated in the corporate
and business planning and decision-making processes of the Department, and the
Departmental Management Board carries out monthly reviews and updates of key
departmental risks, where appropriate.
The Department’s corporate and business-planning processes ensure that corporate
objectives and targets are delegated to lower management. A system is in place to
ensure regular monitoring of progress by the Departmental Management Board
against corporate and business plan objectives and targets. Risk management
arrangements are similarly delegated to lower management levels and supported
by a system of stewardship statements in individual business areas.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive
managers within the Department who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework, and comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised
on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control by the Board, the Departmental Audit Committee and a plan to
address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
The integrated departmental process, which operates to make certain risk
management and internal control issues are regularly reviewed and reported at the
appropriate level, provides assurance that effective internal control mechanisms
are maintained and developed. Throughout the year, risk owners monitor their
respective risks and any new issues or threats identified are reported to a more
senior level and ultimately to the Departmental Management Board as appropriate
on a monthly basis.
The Audit Committees, which are in place in all business areas, consider
and approve the audit programme; the completeness and quality of Internal
Audit work; and monitor management action on the implementation of audit
recommendations. These Committees assist me by drawing my attention to
matters of governance, risk, control and assurance.
The Department’s Internal Audit Unit, which operates to the Government’s
Internal Audit Standards, provides me with an independent opinion on risk
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management, control and governance arrangements by measuring and evaluating
their effectiveness in achieving the Department’s agreed objectives. Internal Audit
findings and recommendations are also beneficial to line management in the
audited areas, providing an independent and objective consultancy service to help
management improve the Department’s risk management, control and governance
arrangements. I also benefit from comments made by the external auditors in their
management letters and reports.
Furthermore, the Department’s economists provide me with an assurance on value
for money and sound business decisions through quality assurance of economic
appraisals in the Department. A new economic appraisal system has been
introduced to comply with requirements of DAO 06/05.
A review of corporate governance arrangements in the Department against
the new HM Treasury Code of Practice has recently taken place. Further
recommended best practice measures are currently being implemented which
will enhance corporate governance arrangements across the Department and
its sponsor bodies. Their implementation will also help to further embed risk
management processes; and to retain full assurance status for the Department as
assessed and rated by Internal Audit in 2005.

Significant internal control problems
Resources, Housing and Social Security Group (RHSSG)
Over a number of years the Department has implemented a range of measures
to address weaknesses in the financial management and control of Housing
Associations. As a consequence of this work, the Comptroller and Auditor General
lifted his qualification of this part of the Resource Account in 2004-05.
During 2005-06 the Department has built on the control measures that have been
put in place in relation to Housing Associations, in particular developing the
role of the Regulatory and Inspection Unit and the application of more robust
reporting systems to support implementation of the Social Housing Development
Programme.
A number of further measures have been taken. The new Housing Association
Guide was published on the Department’s website in April 2005. This is a working
document that is reviewed and updated as required and is proving beneficial in
ensuring that Housing Associations are kept informed of the controls with which
they should comply and the manner in which they should be delivering the Social
Housing Development Programme.
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Procedures were implemented during 2005-06 to produce regular projections
of profiled expenditure for the Social Housing Development Programme. This
contributed to the successful outcome of the programme in both meeting the target
and controlling the financial allocation.
In response to the 2005 Internal Audit review, the Housing Regulation and
Inspection Team completed its work on preparing a programme of inspections
based on the risk analysis of registered Housing Associations. The management of
this programme of inspections has been enhanced by the piloting of an inspection
programme control document which was developed in-house.
The recommendations made by the Northern Ireland Audit Office in respect
of the 2004-05 Resource Account concerning valuation issues of land for the
Social Housing Development Programme have been taken forward with the
Northern Ireland Housing Executive. A final solution has yet to be agreed. A
further recommendation to customise procurement procedures with Housing
Associations has resulted in 16 Associations signing up to a Client’s Charter. The
Department is currently working with a number of partners to develop a new
procurement strategy for the Social Housing Development Programme.
During 2005-06 a revised Management Statement and Financial Memorandum
was drawn up for the Northern Ireland Housing Executive, based on
DAO(DFP)23/04, in order to provide clear guidance on all the main areas of
finance, accountability and control. Final implementation of the work arising from
this revision will be carried forward in 2006-07.
The Department’s Internal Audit Annual Report for 2005-06 concluded that a
rating of substantial assurance is appropriate for the Resources, Housing and
Social Security Group.
The payment of Housing Benefit is administered by the Northern Ireland Housing
Executive. The Department introduced a target to reduce fraud and error in
Housing Benefit by 25% by 2006, from a baseline figure established in 2002.
The Housing Executive amended its counter-fraud strategy to ensure that the
areas of Housing Benefit most vulnerable to fraud and error were addressed.
As a result, the targeted performance level for March 2006 was met a year early
and a new target was agreed in October 2005 to achieve a further 10% reduction
by April 2008. During the course of 2005-06 the Department initiated a formal
Performance Standards Inspection of Housing Benefit administered by the
Northern Ireland Housing Executive with a view to benchmarking performance
against good practice and identifying areas for improvement. An action plan to
implement the review’s findings and recommendations will be developed and
implemented during 2006-07.
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Urban Regeneration and Community Development Group (URCDG)
As a consequence of the audit weaknesses identified in the 2004-05 C&AG’s
report and internal audit reviews, URCDG gave an undertaking to both share best
practice and to put in place a number of actions to further address the reported
audit weaknesses. During the course of 2005-06 URCDG has continued to do
this and implement the recommendations made by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in both his report and those made in the 2004-05 management letter.
The main control issues that arose in 2004-05 related to inadequate Contracts for
Funding and checking compliance with the terms and conditions. In one specific
case, Fernhill, NIAO reported concerns regarding the appraisal and approval
process and the need to document URCDG policies and procedures for potential
fast-track funding where time is of the essence.
The actions which have been carried out during 2005-06 are detailed below:
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(1)

the embedding of common procedures across URCDG to ensure sound
control over grant administration and consistency throughout URCDG. In
particular the introduction of a new Contract for Funding template with
guidance to staff has improved this part of the award process. Process maps
also form part of the guidance;

(2)

the introduction of a system of uniform management checks throughout
URCDG in June 2005. This involves checks over key areas of grant
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQWKH¿QGLQJVRIZKLFKDUHUHSRUWHGPRQWKO\WRWKH*URXS
Management Board (GMB). Internal Audit previously reported that
although new procedures were in place, non- compliance was an issue.
These checks detect non-compliance issues at an early stage and enable
management to put in place necessary corrective action;

(3)

the centralisation of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Unit (QAIU)
tasked with providing independent assurance to GMB monthly on the
TXDOLW\RIJUDQWDGPLQLVWUDWLRQ7KH¿QGLQJVIURP4$,8DUHGLVFXVVHGZLWK
Business Units and reported to GMB. Agreed remedial action is taken as
necessary including any performance issues;

(4)

a dedicated expert on Economic Appraisals to train staff, draft procedures,
liaise with Economists/DFP and promote best practice on all appraisal issues;

(5)

the commencement of a pilot project with a key aim to implement a risk
based approach to payments throughout URCDG;
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(6)

the development and delivery of tailored workshops for staff which
DGGUHVVHGDQXPEHURILVVXHVLQFOXGLQJNH\DXGLW¿QGLQJVLQDQG
DFWLRQWDNHQWRDGGUHVVLGHQWL¿HGFRQWUROZHDNQHVVHVDURXQGDUHDVVXFK
DVLQVXI¿FLHQWHYLGHQFHDXGLWHGDFFRXQWVSD\PHQWVPRQLWRULQJDQG
evaluation etc;

(7)

the drafting of procedures to cover when dealing with projects which
require immediate action and therefore require an accelerated assessment
and appraisal process. These procedures are to be used in exceptional
circumstances only and authorisation must be sought from the Director; and



RQJRLQJZRUNE\(88QLWDQGRWKHU%XVLQHVV$UHDVRQWKHLVVXHVLGHQWL¿HG
through Internal Audit reviews, Article 4 and Article 10 checks on EU
Programmes.

The Group has also made progress in the implementation of a number of generic
audit recommendations as detailed in the Internal Audit Annual Report and has
maintained a high standard of Governance and Risk Management.
Improvements have been reported by the Internal Audit Service across a number
of URCDG programmes and procedures during 2005-06. The Head of Internal
Audit has acknowledged that the introduction of the initiatives above has greatly
increased the profile of the quality improvement measures being taken by the
Group. Internal Audit have advised that the improvements, while reflecting a
sound system of control, need further time to bed in and be fully effective. Internal
Audit are currently reviewing the new practices. While the Head of Internal Audit
acknowledged the continued improvements throughout URCDG he was unable to
reassess the audit rating from that previous as key audit testing work had not been
completed and therefore the assurance rating for 2005-06 is ‘Limited’.
Further actions planned for 2006-07 by the Group are:
(1)

establishment of a Finance Sub Committee consisting of members of GMB;

(2)

continuing customised training for development staff;

(3)

the development of an evaluation framework and any necessary training;

(4)

continuing to improve monitoring activities throughout the group; and

(5)

review and evaluation of the URCDG Grant Administration Procedures.

The Group Management Board acknowledges the progress that has been made
during the year in putting in place a Management Control System but
acknowledges the system weaknesses that still need to be addressed and has
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welcomed the assistance of the audit bodies in addressing the Group’s problems.
Senior Management recognise that non compliance is also a performance management issue and this is addressed through analysis of the findings from management
checks and effective operation of the performance management system.
Social Security Agency (SSA)
Arising from his audit of the 2004-05 Agency accounts the Comptroller and
Auditor General (C&AG) reported on two major qualification issues.
The first of these concerned significant levels of estimated fraud and error in
certain social security benefits.
During 2005-06 the Agency has continued its regular monitoring and
measurement on the levels of fraud and error.
Essentially this involves the measurement of financial accuracy and the official
error in the administration of each benefit and, complementary to this benefit
reviews which estimate the level of customer fraud and customer error.
During 2005-06 the Agency undertook a review of its approach to measurement
and on completion has agreed a new methodology which, in future, should enable
the Agency to produce more accurate and transparent estimates of total fraud
and error in the benefit system in Northern Ireland. The new ‘common sample’
approach will be applied to all future measurement exercises from 2006-07
onwards. This should remove the previous problem surrounding the duplication of
the calculation of official error commented on in the past by the NIAO.
For 2005-06 very challenging new financial accuracy targets were set for the six
main benefits. Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance, Retirement Pension and
Incapacity Benefit were set at 99% and others at 96%. Four Benefits met their
new targets. Disability Living Allowance and Income Support while not meeting
target, maintained last year’s performance.
The most recently published benefit fraud and error figures for the period
January 2005- December 2005 are roughly on a par with 2004-05 and 2003-04 in
percentage terms.
Comparative estimates for previous years have now been updated and are now
based largely on the most recent Benefit Reviews. Benefit Reviews have been
published for the calendar year January to December 2005 and also for 2004-05.
Previous years’ estimates used financial accuracy figures in lieu of full benefit
review figures.
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Jobseeker’s Allowance does show a reduction from 9.2% error in 2003-04 to 4.4%
in the period January to December 2005.
In other benefits while fraud and error levels in percentage terms have remained
the same the corresponding monetary amounts have increased slightly mainly due
to increased benefit expenditure. Pension Credit figures from full benefit review
are also now included in the total for the first time. Expenditure on Pension Credit
has risen from £114 million in 2003-04 to £285 million in the 2005 calendar year.
For 2005-06 reducing fraud and error was one of the Agency’s key priority areas.
In addition to improvement plans all benefit branches have Programme Protection
plans in place to improve accuracy and identify areas for action to reduce levels of
fraud and customer error. Activity levels and success have improved in detecting
and removing error. From 01 April 2005 to 31 March 2006, almost 209,000
checks/interventions have been performed compared to the previous year figure of
141,000 checks/interventions.
The second qualification issue on the 2004-05 accounts related to uncertainties
surrounding the benefit overpayment debtors balance as reported in the Agency’s
balance sheet. Significant action has been taken by the Agency throughout 200506 in order to address this qualification area. Work has continued under the Debt
Transformation Programme. Furthermore extensive testing has been completed
on the information held on the current overpayment recovery system in order to
validate the amount of overpayment debt. In addition a year-end exercise has been
performed to estimate the level of potential debt throughout the Agency. This
work to validate the debtor balance has lead to the qualification being removed in
this year’s accounts.
The SSA Internal Audit Annual Assurance report for 2005-06 stated that limited
assurance remained appropriate for Programme Expenditure.
The main areas of concern continue to be those areas which Internal Audit have
reported on in previous years, namely inherent weaknesses within the computer
systems, non-compliance with laid down procedures and incomplete management
checks.
With regard to the OPSTRAT difficulties, the Agency remains dependent on
the progress made by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to remove
OPSTRAT/ system weaknesses.
With regard to non-compliance with laid down procedures and the incompleteness
of management/supervisory checks the Agency has ensured throughout 2005-06
that local managers address the relevant concerns within their control and take
appropriate action as required. The Social Security Agency Accounting Officer
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issued a direction in May 2005 that all operational business units should aim to
achieve substantial assurance ratings in relation to the management and control
of internal mandatory checks. To support this, an Operational Assurance Control
Framework has been drawn up to ensure a consistent and robust approach.
Consequently this year a dual assurance rating has been introduced within the
Agency. This dual assurance rating recognises the effort and action taken by
local managers to address the internal compliance issues within their control.
Where local management have been effective in this Internal Audit have awarded
them with a substantial assurance rating in recognition of their efforts. Limited
assurance is still appropriate to the operational/system concerns outside local
management’s control. The dual assurance rating therefore recognises that certain
operational internal control issues are outside the scope of the local managers’
remit but that management are working towards resolving those internal problems
within their area of control.
Throughout the Agency several operational areas have achieved a dual substantial
assurance rating and Internal Audit themselves recognise that the Agency is
making real progress in addressing those internal control issues within its remit.
Internal Audit have commented that the progress made for 2005-06 represents the
best ever Agency performance to date in respect of programme expenditure.
DSD Internal Audit also raised concerns last year in relation to the debt
management area within the Agency. These concerns focused on the validation
of the measurement system for reporting the Overpayment Recovery Target, and
problems concerning the completeness of overpayment information forwarded to
the Agency’s Debt Management Unit.
It is anticipated that all of the work undertaken by the Agency throughout 200506 in the validation the benefit overpayment debtors balance, together with the
ongoing development of the Debt Transformation Programme will effectively help
to address the concerns raised by Internal Audit.
Child Support Agency (CSA)
The Child Support Agency has made progress in implementing the new Child
Support System, however significant system problems still exist. The migration
and conversion of old cases has now been deferred. A programme of system fixes
and enhancements has been agreed and it is expected that this will improve system
reliability.
Sir David Henshaw has produced a report on the redesign of Child Support, which
considers the longer term policy and delivery arrangements for Child Support.
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Government will be considering the proposals in Sir David Henshaw’s report over
the summer, including the costs, benefits and delivery arrangements.
Internal Audit did not reveal any significant weaknesses within the Administration
expenditure of the Agency.

$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU
10 October 2006
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Department for Social Development
The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor
General to the House of Commons and the Northern Ireland
Assembly
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Department for
Social Development for the year ended 31st March 2006 under the Government
Resources and Accounts Act (Northern Ireland) 2001. These comprise the
Statement of Parliamentary Supply, the Operating Cost Statement and Statement
of Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, the Cashflow Statement and
the Statement of Operating Costs by Departmental Aim and Objectives and the
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out within them.

Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditor
The Accounting Officer is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with the Government Resources and Accounts
Act (Northern Ireland) 2001 and Department of Finance and Personnel directions
made thereunder and for ensuring the regularity of financial transactions.
These responsibilities are set out in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities.
My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant
legal and regulatory requirements, and with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland).
I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and
fair view and whether the Financial Statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with Department
of Finance and Personnel directions issued under the Government Resources
and Accounts Act (Northern Ireland) 2001. I also report whether in all material
respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes intended
by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which
govern them. I also report to you if, in my opinion, the Annual Report is not
consistent with the financial statements, if the Department has not kept proper
accounting records, if I have not received all the information and explanations I
require for my audit, or if information specified by the Department of Finance and
Personnel regarding remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.
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I review whether the statement on pages 38 to 49 reflects the Department’s
compliance with the Department of Finance and Personnel’s guidance on the
Statement on Internal Control, and I report if it does not. I am not required to
consider whether the Accounting Officer’s statements on internal control cover all
risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Department’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.
I read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether
it is consistent with the audited financial statements. This other information
comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Management Commentary and
the unaudited part of the Remuneration Report. I consider the implications
for my report if I become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. My responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. My audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts, disclosures and
regularity of financial transactions included in the financial statements and the
part of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgments made by the Accounting Officer in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are most appropriate to the Department’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which I considered necessary in order to provide me with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part
of the Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error and that in all material respects the expenditure
and income have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. In
forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to
be audited.
However, I did not have reasonable assurance, or the evidence available to me was
limited in the following areas:
• WKHHVWLPDWHGORVVHVRI PLOOLRQLQEHQH¿WVWKURXJKIUDXGDQGHUURUDQG
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• ZHDNQHVVHVLQ¿QDQFLDOFRQWURODQGPRQLWRULQJRIH[SHQGLWXUHLQUHVSHFWRI
urban regeneration and community development grants to the voluntary and
community sector.
In consequence, I was unable to carry out auditing procedures necessary to obtain
adequate assurance on the amounts and disclosures included in the financial
statements in respect of these issues.
Opinion: qualified opinion on the view given by financial statements and
qualified opinion on the regularity of income and expenditure
Except for the estimated losses due to errors in payment of benefits and fraudulent
claims made in receipt of those benefits, in my opinion:
• WKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVJLYHDWUXHDQGIDLUYLHZLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKH
Government Resources and Accounts Act (Northern Ireland) 2001 and
directions made there under by the Department of Finance and Personnel, of
the state of the Department’s affairs as at 31st March 2006 and of the net cash
requirement, net resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, recognised
JDLQVDQGORVVHVDQGFDVKÀRZVIRUWKH\HDUWKHQHQGHGDQG
• WKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGWKHSDUWRIWKH5HPXQHUDWLRQ5HSRUWWREHDXGLWHG
have been properly prepared in accordance with Department of Finance and
Personnel directions issued under the Government Resources and Accounts Act
(Northern Ireland) 2001;
Except for the expenditure relating to erroneous benefit awards and arising from
fraudulent claims and the weaknesses in financial control and monitoring of
expenditure in respect of urban regeneration and community development grants,
in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Details of these matters can be found in my report on these financial statements.

J M Dowdall CB
Comptroller and Auditor General
16 October 2006
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Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast BT7 1EU

Statement of Parliamentary Supply
Summary of Resource Outturn 2005-06
2004-05

2005-06
Estimate

Gross
Expenditure

Accruing
Resources

Net
Total

Gross
Expenditure

Accruing
Resources

Net
Total

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
saving/
H[FHVV

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

2,692,848

(99,388)

2,593,460

2,551,468

(88,766)

2,462,702

130,758

2,437,696

666,825

(222,773)

444,052

655,067

(222,773)

432,294

11,758

372,999

99,287

(2,327)

96,960

71,157

(2,327)

68,830

28,130

75,193

3,458,960



3,134,472

3,277,692



2,963,826

170,646

2,885,888





(31,656)

Outturn

Outturn
Net
Total

Request for
Resources A
1RWHVDQG
Providing a fair
system of financial
help to those in
need and to ensure
that parents who
live apart maintain
their children;
encouraging
personal
responsibility and
improving
incentives to work
and save:
Request for
Resources B
1RWHVDQG
Promoting
measurable
improvements to
housing in
Northern Ireland:
Request for
Resources C
1RWHVDQG
Improving the
physical,
economic,
community and
social environment
of neighbourhoods,
towns and cities in
Northern Ireland
with a particular
emphasis on
tackling
disadvantage:
Total resources
Non-operating AR
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Statement of Parliamentary Supply (continued)

Net cash requirement
2004-05

2005-06

Note
Net cash requirement

10

Estimate

Outturn

Net total
outturn
compared
with Estimate
saving/(excess)

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

3,108,956

2,902,799

206,157

2,858,263

Outturn

Summary of income payable to the Consolidated Fund
In addition to Accruing Resources, the following income relates to the Department
and is payable to the Consolidated Fund (cash receipts are shown in italics).
2005-06 Forecast

Total

2005-06 Outturn

Note

Income
£’000

Receipts
£’000

Income
£’000

Receipts
£’000

11

13,743

10,768

34,654

20,667

Explanations of variances between Estimate and Outturn are given in Note 2 and
in the Management Commentary in the Annual Report.
The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of these accounts.
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Operating Cost Statement for the year ended 31 March 2006
2004-05

2005-06
Note

Staff Costs
£’000

Other Costs
£’000

Income
£’000

Staff Costs
£’000

Other Costs
£’000

Income
£’000

Administration costs:
Staff costs

15

Other administration costs

16

Operating Income

19

143,026

142,072
121,880

126,825
(46,652)

(40,273)

Programme Costs:
Request for Resources A
Staff costs

15

Programme Costs

17

Income

19

687

442
2,283,732

2,251,459
(3,141)

(4,844)

Request for Resources B
Staff costs

15

Programme Costs

17

Income

19

-

652,601

614,627
(231,042)

(247,769)

Request for Resources C
Staff costs

15

Programme Costs

17

Income

19

343

308
84,896

68,374
(22,499)

(17,682)

National Insurance Benefits
and Non-Voted Expenditure
Programme Costs

17

Income

19

Totals
Net operating cost

1,571,048
(9)
144,056

9 & 20

1,509,338

4,714,157

(303,343)
4,554,870

(8)
142,822

4,570,623

(310,576)
4,402,869

The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of the accounts.
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Operating Cost Statement for the year ended 31 March 2006 (continued)

Statement of recognised gains and losses for the year ended
31 March 2006
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Net gain on revaluation of tangible fixed assets

34,218

9,229

Recognised gains and losses for the financial year

34,218

9,229

The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of these accounts.
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2006
31 March
2006
£’000

31 March
2005
£’000

Note

31 March
2006
£’000

Tangible assets

21

193,205

160,652

Investments

22

20,408

21,591

31 March
2005
£’000

Fixed assets:

Debtors falling due after more than one year

23

213,613

182,243

1,172,250

1,250,157

Current assets:
Assets held for resale

21b

500

Debtors

23

251,353

276,756

Cash with paying agents

24

-

22,507

Cash in hand

24

4,477

65

256,330

299,328

(302,638)

(310,363)

Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)

25

(46,308)

(11,035)

1,339,555

1,421,365

Net current (liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors
(amounts falling due after more than one year)

25

(1,071,393)

(1,168,017)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

26

(14,954)

(7,274)
(1,086,347)

(1,175,291)

253,208

246,074

Net Assets
Taxpayer’s Equity:
General fund

27

145,835

173,013

Revaluation reserve

27

107,373

73,061
253,208

246,074

The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of the accounts.

$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU
10 October 2006
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended
31 March 2006
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities

28.1

(4,489,430)

(4,416,944)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

28.3

3,091

12,814

(10,962)

(25,699)

Payments of amounts due to the Consolidated Fund
Financing from the Consolidated Fund

28.4

2,866,843

2,930,510

Net financing from the National Insurance Fund

28.4

1,646,559

1,483,849

-

17,063

16,101

1,593

Agencies’ Net Cash Inflow
Increase in cash in the period

27
28.5

The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Operating Costs by Departmental Aim
and Objectives for the year ended 31 March 2006

Gross
£’000

2004-05
£’000
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

4,056,532

4,016,623

(44,619)

3,972,004

(231,042)

424,025

617,040

(247,769)

369,271

97,153

(22,840)

74,313

79,782

(18,188)

61,594

4,858,213

(303,343)

4,554,870

4,713,445

(310,576)

4,402,869

Gross
£’000

2005-06
£’000
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

4,105,993

(49,461)

655,067

Objective 1
Providing a fair system of financial help to
those in need and to ensure that parents who
live apart maintain their children;
encouraging personal responsibility and
improving incentives to work and save:
Objective 2
Promoting measurable improvements to
housing in Northern Ireland:
Objective 3
Improving the physical, economic,
community and social environment of
neighbourhoods, towns and cities in Northern
Ireland with a particular emphasis on tackling
disadvantage:
Net operating costs

The notes on pages 60 to 130 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2006
1

Statement of accounting policies
7KH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVKDYHEHHQSUHSDUHGLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKH
2005-06 Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the
Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP). The accounting policies
contained in the FReM follow UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (UK GAAP) for companies to the extent that it is meaningful and
appropriate to the public sector.
In addition to the primary statements prepared under UK GAAP, the
FReM also requires the Department to prepare two additional primary
statements. The Statement of Parliamentary Supply and supporting notes
show outturn against Estimate in terms of the net resource requirement
and the net cash requirement. The consolidated Statement of Operating
Costs by Departmental Aim and Objectives and supporting notes analyse
the Department’s income and expenditure by the objectives agreed with
Ministers.
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting
policy, which has been judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Department for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The Department’s accounting policies have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to
the accounts.

1.1

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
PRGL¿HGWRDFFRXQWIRUWKHUHYDOXDWLRQRI¿[HGDVVHWVZKHUHPDWHULDODW
their value to the business by reference to their current costs.
:LWKRXWOLPLWLQJWKHLQIRUPDWLRQJLYHQWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVPHHWWKH
accounting and disclosure requirements of the Companies (NI) Orders
1986 and 1990, accounting standards issued or adopted by the Accounting
Standards Board, UK GAAP and accounting and disclosure requirements
issued by DFP as far as those requirements are appropriate.
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1.2

Basis of consolidation
These accounts comprise a consolidation of the core Department, its
on-vote Executive Agencies, and a number of its non-executive nonDepartmental public bodies as shown in italics in Note 42. Transactions
between entities included in the consolidation are eliminated.
The Executive Agencies of the Department are the Child Support Agency
(CSA) and the Social Security Agency (SSA).
The Social Fund is consolidated within the Primary Statements. Although
elements of the National Insurance Fund (NIF) are included in the
Operating Costs Statement, Balance Sheet, Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement and Consolidated Statement of Operating Costs by Departmental
Aim and Objectives, they are excluded from the Summary of Resource
Outturn, Statement of Parliamentary Supply.
The NIF, which is now the responsibility of HM Revenue and Customs,
LVH[FOXGHGIURPWKHFRQVROLGDWLRQ7KHVHDUHFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WVDOO
administration costs and their related assets and liabilities.
A full list of bodies and funds consolidated within the accounts is given in
Note 42, together with a list of excluded bodies.
This consolidation boundary ensures that all items which fall within DSD
H[SHQGLWXUHDUHUHÀHFWHGLQWKHRSHUDWLQJFRVWVWDWHPHQWZKHUHDVWKH
VXPPDU\RIUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQUHÀHFWVRQO\WKRVHLWHPVZKLFKIDOOZLWKLQWKH
supply process.
Each Executive Agency produces its own Annual Report and Accounts.
Separate White Paper Accounts are produced for the Social Fund and the NIF.

 7DQJLEOH¿[HGDVVHWV
Fixed assets comprise the land and buildings, computers and equipment
held by the Department or DFP.
Freehold land and buildings have been restated at current cost using
professional valuations by the Valuation and Land Agency (VLA) every
¿YH\HDUVDQGDSSURSULDWHLQGLFHVLQLQWHUYHQLQJ\HDUV7KHYDOXDWLRQV
were carried out by members of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) in accordance with procedures laid out in the RICS Appraisal and
Valuation Manual. The next valuation will be carried out before the 1 April
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DQGUHYDOXDWLRQVZLOOEHDW¿YH\HDUO\LQWHUYDOVWKHUHDIWHU2WKHU
tangible assets have been stated at current cost using appropriate indices at
31 March 2006. All assets in the same class have been revalued.
The new towns development land in Craigavon, Ballymena and Antrim
have been on the books of the Department (and before it, the Department
of the Environment) for in excess of 30 years and, although not the original
intention, are currently held for rental under a piecemeal programme of
disposal, economic conditions permitting (so as not to adversely affect the
property markets in those areas).
7KHFDSLWDOLVDWLRQWKUHVKROGVDUH IRURI¿FHPDFKLQHU\DQG¿[WXUHV
DQG¿WWLQJVDQG IRUSURSHUW\LPSURYHPHQWVFDEOLQJVRIWZDUHDQG
licences. All personal computer equipment is also capitalised irrespective
of cost.
Title
Title to the freehold land and buildings shown in the accounts is held as
follows:

1.4

(i)

Property on the Departmental estate, title to which is held by DSD;
and

(ii)

Property held by DFP, which is in the name of the Secretary of State
for Northern Ireland.

Depreciation
No depreciation is provided on freehold land since they have unlimited or
very long estimated useful lives.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost or
valuation, less estimated residual value, of freehold buildings and other
WDQJLEOH¿[HGDVVHWVRQDVWUDLJKWOLQHEDVLVRYHUWKHLUHVWLPDWHGXVHIXO
lives, or lease period if shorter.
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Asset lives are normally in the following ranges:
Asset life
DSD Core

Housing & Urban
Regeneration

CSA

SSA

Freehold buildings

25 – 60 years

100 years

10 - 25 years

5 - 60 years

Leasehold property

Lease period
remaining

100 years

Lease period
remaining

25 - 60 years

Computer
equipment

3 – 10 years

3 - 5 years

3 - 5 years

3 - 10 years

Other equipment

3 – 15 years

3 - 10 years

5 - 10 years

3 - 10 years

Asset type

7KHPDMRULW\RIIXUQLWXUHDQG¿WWLQJVDUHUHQWHGIURP')3DQGKDYHQRW
been capitalised. Instead this forms part of the notional accommodation
costs included in the Operating Cost Statement.
7KH&6$GRHVQRWRZQDQ\ODQGRUEXLOGLQJVKRZHYHU¿WWLQJRXWRI
the Great Northern Tower and Royston House has been capitalised, as
leasehold improvements, over the period of the lease – 25 years and 10
years respectively.
Most of the buildings used by the core Department and its agencies are
part of the Government Estate. As rents are not paid for these properties,
notional accommodation costs are based on a capital charge for the
properties. These costs have been charged to the Operating Cost Statement.

 ,QWDQJLEOH¿[HGDVVHWV
Software licences, i.e. the right to use software developed by third parties
are treated as intangible assets and the capitalisation threshold is £5,000.
They are depreciated over the life of the licences. Software developed
either inhouse or by third parties is capitalised as a tangible asset.

1.6

Development Assets
Development Assets comprise land and property which is acquired for
redevelopment and which will not be held on a long term basis. These
DUHLQFOXGHGLQWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDWWKHORZHURIQHWFXUUHQW
replacement cost (or the historic cost, if this is not materially different)
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is estimated as Open Market
Value which is determined in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation
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Manual of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) by the
Valuation and Lands Agency.

1.7

Investments
Fixed asset investments consist of loan stock. The loan stock is valued at
cost, which is considered to be a close approximation of the market value.

1.8

Vesting of land
In certain instances, the Department will vest property with the intention
of facilitating Urban Regeneration. In such circumstances the Department
assumes ownership at the date of which the vesting order becomes
operative and the property is capitalised at its VLA valuation.
The estimated compensation payments payable to the owner of the vested
property are provided for in the period in which the vesting order becomes
operative.

1.9

Stocks
Within the core Department and its on-vote Executive Agencies, stocks
consist only of consumable items and are therefore expensed in the year of
purchase.

1.10 Operating income
Operating income is income, which relates directly to the operating
activities of the Department. It principally comprises fees and charges
for services provided to external customers and public sector repayment
work, but also includes other income such as that from investments. It
includes both income appropriated-in-aid of the Estimate and income to
the Consolidated Fund, which in accordance with the FReM is treated
as operating income. It excludes Accruing Resources and Consolidated
Fund extra receipts treated as capital. Receipts under EU Peace and
Reconciliation Programme or other EU initiatives are also treated as
operating income.
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1.11 Administration and programme expenditure
The Operating Cost Statement is analysed between administration and
programme costs.
$GPLQLVWUDWLRQFRVWVUHÀHFWWKHFRVWVRIUXQQLQJWKH'HSDUWPHQWLWVRQ
vote Executive Agencies and its non-executive non-Departmental public
bodies. These include both those administrative costs and associated
operating income. Income is analysed in the notes between that which,
under the administrative cost control regime, is allowed to be offset
against gross administrative costs in determining the outturn against the
administration cost limit, and that operating income which is not.
3URJUDPPHFRVWVUHÀHFWQRQDGPLQLVWUDWLRQFRVWVLQFOXGLQJSD\PHQWV
of grants and other disbursements by the Department, as well as certain
staff costs where they relate directly to service delivery. The Department’s
main areas of programme expenditure are Social Security, Housing, Urban
Regeneration and Community Development and grants to the Voluntary
Sector.
Social Security programme expenditure comprises statutory payments
LQFOXGLQJFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHZKLFKLVIXQGHGIURPWKH
NIF and expenditure which is borne by the Social Fund in addition to the
programme expenditure, which is within the supply process.

1.12 Social security programme expenditure
,Q6RFLDO6HFXULW\EHQH¿WVZHUHSDLGE\FKHTXHVSD\DEOHRUGHUV
and bankers automated credit transfer. Direct Payment is the Social
6HFXULW\¶VPDLQPHWKRGRISD\PHQWIRUDOOEHQH¿WVZLWKPRUHWKDQRI
FXVWRPHUVEHLQJSDLGGLUHFWO\LQWRDEDQNEXLOGLQJVRFLHW\RU3RVW2I¿FH
card account.

1.13 Capital charge
$FKDUJHUHÀHFWLQJWKHFRVWRIFDSLWDOXWLOLVHGE\WKH'HSDUWPHQWLV
included in operating costs.
The charge is calculated at the Government’s standard rate of 3.5% in real
terms on the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities, except
for:
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• GRQDWHGDVVHWVDQGDVVHWV¿QDQFHGE\JUDQWVRWKHUWKDQIURPWKH(8
where the charge is nil; and
• liabilities for amounts to be surrendered to the Consolidated Fund where
the credit is at a nil rate.

1.14 Pensions
Present and past employees of the core Department and its Agencies are
covered by the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme [PCSPS(NI)]
ZKLFKDUHGHVFULEHGLQ1RWH7KHGH¿QHGEHQH¿WVFKHPHVDUHXQIXQGHG
DQGDUHQRQFRQWULEXWRU\H[FHSWLQUHVSHFWRIGHSHQGHQWVEHQH¿WV
$OWKRXJKWKHVFKHPHLVDGH¿QHGEHQH¿WVFKHPHOLDELOLW\IRUSD\PHQW
RIIXWXUHEHQH¿WVLVDFKDUJHWRWKH3&636 1, 7KH'HSDUWPHQWDQGLWV
Agencies meet the cost of pension cover provided for the staff they employ
by payment of charges calculated on an accruing basis. There is a separate
scheme statement for the PCSPS(NI) as a whole.
For the year 2005-06, contributions of £18.817 million (2004-05
£13.970 million) were paid to the PCSPS(NI) at rates determined by
the Government Actuary and advised by the Department of Finance and
Personnel. These rates were in the range 16.5% - 23.5% of pensionable pay
(2004-05 12% - 18%).

1.15 Leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset
DUHERUQHE\WKH'HSDUWPHQWLWLVUHFRUGHGDVDWDQJLEOH¿[HGDVVHWDQGD
debt is recorded to the lessor of the minimum lease payments discounted
E\WKHLQWHUHVWUDWHLPSOLFLWLQWKHOHDVH7KHLQWHUHVWHOHPHQWRIWKH¿QDQFH
lease payment is charged to the Operating Cost Statement over the period
of the lease at a constant rate in relation to the balance outstanding. Other
leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to the
Operating Cost Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

1.16 Grants payable
Grants payable are recorded as expenditure in the period in which the
underlying event or activity giving entitlement to the grant occurs, in so
IDUDVLVSUDFWLFDEOHWRGRVR*UDQWVLQDLGGH¿FLWJUDQWVDQGSD\PHQWVWR
other public bodies who operate grant schemes are expensed in the period
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in which the payments are made. Grant expenditure incurred and claimed
by recipients but unpaid by the Department by the year end is accrued,
as is grant expenditure incurred by the recipient before the year end but
not claimed until after the year end. A provision is also made for grant
expenditure incurred by the recipient before the year end but where the
'HSDUWPHQWKDVEHHQQRWL¿HGRIWKHDPRXQWRIWKHFODLPEXWWKHFODLPKDV
not yet been submitted. Any future amounts payable under EU Letters of
Offer are disclosed as commitments. Overpayments of grants are shown as
debtors.
Housing Association Grants are repayable to the Department on the sale of
housing properties and land. In addition, most grants provided by Urban
Regeneration contain a provision within the Letter of Offer for clawback of
the grant in particular circumstances. The amount of the repayment that is
known with reasonable certainty has been included within debtors (Note
23).

 3ULYDWH)LQDQFH,QLWLDWLYH 3), WUDQVDFWLRQV
PFI transactions have been accounted for in accordance with Technical
Note No.1 (Revised), entitled How to Account for PFI Transactions as
required by the FReM. Where the balance of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the PFI property are borne by the PFI operator, the PFI
payments are recorded as an operating cost. Where the Department has
contributed assets, a prepayment for their fair value is recognised and
amortised over the life of the PFI contract. Where at the end of the PFI
contract a property reverts to the Department, the difference between the
expected fair value of the residual on reversion and any agreed payment on
reversion is built up over the life of the contract by capitalising part of the
unitary charge each year.
Where the balance of risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property is
ERUQHE\WKH'HSDUWPHQWWKHSURSHUW\LVUHFRJQLVHGDVD¿[HGDVVHWDQGWKH
OLDELOLW\WRSD\IRULWLVDFFRXQWHGIRUDVD¿QDQFHOHDVH&RQWUDFWSD\PHQWV
DUHDSSRUWLRQHGEHWZHHQDQLPSXWHG¿QDQFHOHDVHFKDUJHDQGDVHUYLFH
charge.

1.18 Contingent Liabilities
In addition to contingent liabilities disclosed in accordance with FRS 12,
the Department discloses for parliamentary reporting and accountability
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purposes certain statutory and non-statutory contingent liabilities where the
OLNHOLKRRGRIDWUDQVIHURIHFRQRPLFEHQH¿WLVUHPRWHEXWZKLFKKDYHEHHQ
reported to Parliament in accordance with the requirements of Government
Accounting Northern Ireland.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities which are
required to be disclosed under FRS 12 are stated at discounted amounts
and the amount reported to Parliament separately noted. Contingent
liabilities that are not required to be disclosed by FRS 12 are stated at the
amounts reported to Parliament.

1.19 Provisions
The Department provides for legal or constructive obligations, which are
of uncertain timing or amount at the balance sheet date on the basis of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.

1.20 Value Added Tax
VAT is recovered centrally by the Department (from DFP) on a cash basis.
The Operating Cost Statement is stated net of VAT. Both trade debtors
and trade creditors are stated gross of VAT and the VAT account balance is
adjusted accordingly.

1.21 Third party assets
The CSA operates a Client Funds Account to control the receipt of child
maintenance and fees from non-resident parents and parents with care.
Child maintenance and fees are collected and paid over respectively to
persons with care or to the Department (maintenance) and to the Agency
(fees). These are not Departmental assets and are not included in the
Balance Sheet.
The CSA Client Funds Account shows that £13.2 million was received
during 2005-06 (2004-05 £12.9 million) by the Agency from non-resident
parents. Of the £13.2 million (2004-05 £12.9 million) subsequently paid
out in the year, £9.8 million (74%) (2004-05 £9.1 million (71%)) was paid
over to persons with care and £2.9 million (22%) (2004-05 £3.4 million
(26%)) was paid to DSD where persons with care were in receipt of
income support and £0.2 million (2%) (2004-05 nil) was paid over to the
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Great Britain Agency, and £0.3 million (2%) (2004-05 £0.3 million (3%))
was refunded to non-resident parents.
DSD administers a Central Investment Fund for Charities into which NI
Charities invest funds and a Charitable Donations and Bequests Fund.
These are not Departmental funds and are not consolidated within the
Departmental accounts. The value of the Central Investment Fund as at
30th September 2005 was £25.7 million (30th September 2004 - £21.6
million) on which Dividends are paid twice yearly by DSD.

 1DWLRQDO,QVXUDQFH)XQG 1,)
As stated in Note 1.2, the NIF is excluded from the consolidation.
+RZHYHUFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WVIXQGHGIURPWKH1,)DQGWKHFRVWV
to the Department of administering the National Insurance Fund are
LQFOXGHGLQWKH2SHUDWLQJ&RVW6WDWHPHQW7KH1,)SURYLGHV¿QDQFLQJ
WRWKH'HSDUWPHQWWRFRYHUWKLVFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHDQGWKH
DGPLQLVWUDWLRQFRVWVLQFXUUHGE\WKH'HSDUWPHQW7KH¿QDQFLQJIURP
WKH1,)VKRZQLQWKH&DVK)ORZ6WDWHPHQWLVWKHQHW¿QDQFLQJGXHWR
WKH'HSDUWPHQW$Q\GLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHQHW¿QDQFLQJGXHWRWKH
'HSDUWPHQWDQGWKHQHW¿QDQFLQJUHFHLYHGIURPWKH1,)ZLOOEHUHÀHFWHGLQ
the current account maintained between the Department and the NIF.

1.23 Early departure costs
The Department is required to meet the cost of paying the pensions of
employees who retire early from the date of their retirement until they
reach normal pensionable age. The Department provides in full for the
cost of meeting pensions up to normal retirement age in respect of early
retirement programmes announced in the current or previous years. The
Department may, in certain circumstances, settle some or all of its liability
in advance by making a payment to the PCSPS(NI) Vote. The amount
provided is shown net of any such payments.
The Civil Service White Paper, ‘Continuity and Change’ (Cm 2627)
published in July 1994, announced arrangements for funding early
departure costs of civil servants departing between 1 October 1994 and 31
March 1997. Under these arrangements 20% of the cost will normally be
borne by Agencies and Departments and the remaining 80% which would
otherwise fall upon Departments’ running costs, will be met centrally from
the DFP Superannuation Vote. In Northern Ireland the full costs falling in
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1994-95 of departures between 1 October 1994 and 31 March 1995 have
been funded by DFP Superannuation Vote. Recovery of 20% of the costs
falling after 1 April 1995 of departures between 1 October 1994 and 31
March 1995, and the 20% of both the lump sum and ongoing costs of staff
departing between 1 April 1995 and 31 March 1997, will be made from
Departments.
Government policy is to include the full cost of a Department’s activities
in its accounts even where, as in this case, some of the costs are borne
elsewhere in Government. Normal accounting practice is to provide for
the full cost of early departure of employees in the year in which the early
departure decision is made. However, for departure costs covered by the
DUUDQJHPHQWVVXFKWUHDWPHQWZRXOGQRWUHÀHFWWKHIDFWWKDW
of the cost will be borne by DFP Superannuation Vote rather than the
Department. Consequently DFP has issued a direction that whereas the
20% element borne by the Department should be charged to the Operating
Cost Statement and charged to a Provision on the Balance Sheet, the
annual payments from Superannuation Vote in respect of the 80% element
VKRXOGEHUHÀHFWHGDVQRWLRQDOFRVWVLQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V2SHUDWLQJ&RVW
Statement when actually paid.
For early departures occurring after 31 March 1997 the Department has to
fund 100% of the costs.

1.24 EU income
$OOUHFHLSWVIURPWKH(8DUHVHSDUDWHO\LGHQWL¿HGDQGVKRZQDVLQFRPH
in the Operating Cost Statement. A distinction is made between receipts
earned by the Department on infrastructure development which are paid
over to the consolidated fund and receipts in support of Departmental grant
schemes which are netted off the cost of the schemes. All EU income is
treated by the Department as non-public expenditure and thereby reduces
the burden on the UK exchequer.

1.25 Funding from parliamentary vote
Vote funding is not treated as income on the face of the Operating Cost
Statement, instead cash voted and drawn down is credited to the general
fund.
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1.26 Provision of agency services
The Department provides agency services to the Department of Work
and Pensions (DWP) in administering the Belfast Child Support Agency
&HQWUHWKH%HOIDVW%HQH¿W&HQWUHDQGWKH3DLG2UGHU8QLW7KHGLUHFWFDVK
costs incurred in operating the Belfast Child Support Agency Centre and
WKH%HOIDVW%HQH¿W&HQWUHDUHUHFRYHUHGLQIXOOIURP':32IWKHGLUHFW
cash costs incurred by the Paid Order Unit 96% is recovered from DWP
with the remaining 4% being the Department’s share of running costs.
The expenditure in relation to these services is reported as administration
costs in the Operating Cost Statement with the related Accruing Resources
treated as operating income.

1.27 Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments
7KH'HSDUWPHQWXVHV¿QDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVWRPDQDJHWKH¿QDQFLDOULVNV
associated with the Department’s underlying business activities. The
Department has reported these in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard (FRS) 13, Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments:
Disclosures. The Department does not undertake any trading activities in
¿QDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV

1.28 Presentation of Consolidated Accounts
Within the Department the Core Accounts are not material in comparison
to the results of the Consolidated Departmental Resource Account.
7KHUHIRUHWKH'HSDUWPHQWKDVQRWGLVFORVHGWKHWUDQVDFWLRQVDQGÀRZV
IRUWKH¿QDQFLDO\HDUDQGWKHEDODQFHVDWWKH\HDUHQGEHWZHHQWKH&RUH
Department and the Consolidated Group.
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2

Analysis of net resource outturn by section
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

11,453

1

180,306

(30,624)

149,682

154,667

4,985

14,580

-

-

14,580

(13,867)

713

785

72

688

-

-

688

(610)

78

138

60

Belfast Child Support
Agency Centre

28,186

-

-

28,186

(28,186)

-

-

-

Child Support Agency for
Northern Ireland

15,490

2

-

15,492

(9)

15,483

16,941

1,458

-

-

-

-

-

-

20

20

- Pension benefits

-

-

27,743

27,743

-

27,743

34,731

6,988

- Disability benefits

-

-

892,746

892,746

-

892,746

918,303

25,557

- Industrial injuries benefits

-

-

25,869

25,869

-

25,869

26,000

131

- Pension credit

-

-

288,518

288,518

(1)

288,517

296,000

7,483

- Income support – nonpensioners

-

-

462,787

462,787

(3,088)

459,699

508,750

49,051

- Jobseeker’s allowance
(income based)

-

-

65,774

65,774

(48)

65,726

75,000

9,274

- Jobseeker’s allowance
(contribution based)

-

-

12,332

12,332

(12,332)

-

-

-

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

168,852

2005-06
Request for Resources A
5I5$
Providing a fair system of
financial help to those in
need and to ensure that
parents who live apart
maintain their children;
encouraging personal
responsibility and improving
incentives to work and save:
Departmental Expenditure
in DEL
Social Security
Administration
Belfast Benefit Centre
Paid Order Unit

Financial Assistance Scheme
(Payments)
Annually Managed
([SHQGLWXUH $0(
Non-contributory and means
tested benefits:

Income support –
non-Pensioners and
Jobseeker’s allowance:
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

-

878

878

-

878

850

(28)

-

-

8,141

8,141

-

8,141

9,850

1,709

Housing benefit (rent)

-

-

332,901

332,901

-

332,901

357,467

24,566

Discretionary housing
payments

-

-

1,049

1,049

-

1,049

1,142

93

Compensation payments to
providers of existing support
accommodation

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

1

Financial Assistance Scheme
(Provisions)

-

9,000

-

9,000

-

9,000

9,000

-

Housing benefit (rates)

-

-

47,288

47,288

-

47,288

45,400

(1,888)

Payments into the Social
Fund (Regulated)

-

-

8,104

8,104

-

8,104

8,104

-

Payments into the Social
Fund in respect of Winter
Fuel Payments

-

-

50,750

50,750

-

50,750

50,750

-

Payments into the Social
Fund (Discretionary)

-

-

16,490

16,490

-

16,490

16,490

-

Payments into the Northern
Ireland National Insurance
Fund

-

-

39,116

39,116

(1)

39,115

39,112

(3)

22,730

-

-

22,730

-

22,730

23,959

1,229

250,526

20,455

2,280,487

2,551,468



2,462,702

2,593,460

130,758

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

Job grant

-

Grants to voluntary bodies –
social security

2005-06

Non-Budget

Notional Charges
Total
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

-

136,679

136,679

(3,842)

132,837

140,442

7,605

2,074

864

738

3,676

-

3,676

3,766

90

Housing grants to the
Northern Ireland Housing
Executive

-

224,628

129,120

353,748

(104,165)

249,583

253,379

3,796

Renovation grants and group
repair of dwellings

-

-

45,607

45,607

-

45,607

45,538

(69)

Interest Payments on
Housing Loans

-

114,766

-

114,766

(114,766)

-

-

-

Executive Programme Funds

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

E-Government Fund

-

102

49

151

-

151

268

117

-

-

48

48

-

48

49

1

392

-

-

392

-

392

610

218

2,466

340,360

312,241

655,067



432,294

444,052

11,758

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

-

2005-06
Request for Resources B
5I5%
Promoting measurable
improvements to housing in
Northern Ireland:
Departmental Expenditure
in DEL
Assistance to the voluntary
housing movement
Housing - other expenditure

Non-Budget
Other Expenditure
Notional Charges
Total
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

5,524

8,973

23,288

(2,327)

20,961

42,520

21,559

1,311

-

15,363

16,674

-

16,674

16,836

162

EU Programme for Peace
and Reconciliation

-

-

8,460

8,460

-

8,460

9,547

1,087

ERDF Grants to district
councils, community groups
and the private sector

-

-

2,185

2,185

-

2,185

2,394

209

Executive Programme Funds

34

-

2,194

2,228

-

2,228

4,268

2,040

Community Initiatives

-

-

2,374

2,374

-

2,374

3,266

892

Integrated Development
Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

434

434

52

6,026

240

6,318

-

6,318

5,135

(1,183)

Grants to Laganside

-

-

5,400

5,400

-

5,400

7,509

2,109

Grants to ILEX

-

-

675

675

-

675

1,000

325

EU Debtors Capital Charges

-

579

-

579

-

579

1,128

549

Cost of Laganside
Development Assets

-

-

1,250

1,250

-

1,250

837

(413)

1,726

-

-

1,726

-

1,726

2,086

360

11,914

12,129

47,114

71,157



68,830

96,960

28,130

264,906

372,944

2,639,842

3,277,692



2,963,826

3,134,472

170,646

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

Urban Regeneration

8,791

Community and Voluntary
Sector Funding

2005-06
Request for Resources C
5I5&
Improving the physical,
economic, community and
social environment of
neighbourhoods, towns and
cities in Northern Ireland
with a particular emphasis on
tackling disadvantage:
Department Expenditure
in DEL

Annually Managed
([SHQGLWXUH $0(
Urban Regeneration/
Community Development
Non-cash items
Non-Budget

Notional Charges
Total
Resource Outturn
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
This Note shows the NIF administration costs for Northern Ireland being incurred
in the ‘Admin’ column and offset by the income in the ‘AR’ column.

Explanation of the variation between Estimate and outturn for
5HTXHVWIRU5HVRXUFHV$ 5I5$
• 1RQFRQWULEXWRU\3HQVLRQ%HQH¿WVZHUH PLOOLRQ ORZHUWKDQ
the estimate mainly due to an over-estimation of requirements for age related
payments.
• Payments of Jobseeker’s allowance (income based) were 12.4% (£9.274
million) lower than expected due to reductions in caseloads and continuing
GLI¿FXOWLHVLQHVWLPDWHGUHTXLUHPHQWVDULVLQJIURPWKHUHPRYDORIWKHFKLOG
elements for new claims following introduction of Child Tax Credit.
• The estimate for the expenditure in relation to “grants to voluntary bodies
– social security” was 17.4% lower (£1.709 million) lower than the estimate
due to reduction in the level of growth of awards.

Explanation of the variation between Estimate and outturn for
5HTXHVWIRU5HVRXUFHV& 5I5&
• Urban Regeneration was 50.7% (£21.559 million) lower than the estimate
GXHWRSURMHFWVOLSSDJHLQWRWKHQH[W¿QDQFLDO\HDUWKHIDLOXUHRISURMHFWVWR
materialise and non uptake on Urban Regeneration Grants, Neighbourhood
Renewal and Public Realm. In addition, the CRISP scheme was coming to
an end and uptake was much slower than anticipated and disposals of part of
WKH'HSDUWPHQW¶VODQGSRUWIROLRUHDOLVHGPXFKJUHDWHUSUR¿WVWKDQDQWLFLSDWHG
(£7.321 million).
• EU Programme for Peace and Reconciliation was 11.4% (£1.087 million) lower
than the estimate due to delays in uptake of grant aid by applicants who had
DQWLFLSDWHGLQFXUULQJH[SHQGLWXUHLQWKLV¿QDQFLDO\HDU6RPHVFKHPHVGLGQRW
SURFHHGRWKHUVZLOOSURFHHGLQWKHQH[W¿QDQFLDO\HDUDQGVRPHVFKHPHVSXW
forward for funding, did not meet eligibility criteria and were withdrawn.
• Executive Programme Funds were 47.8% (£2.040 million) lower than the
estimate due to delays in completion of the Omagh Riverside Project which is
QRZH[SHFWHGWRFRPSOHWHLQWKHFXUUHQW¿QDQFLDO\HDU6RPHRWKHUVFKHPHVWR
be funded under Short Term Funding, postponed from 2004-05, and expected to
complete in 2005-06, were withdrawn or curtailed.
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• Community Initiatives were 27.3% (£0.892 million) lower than the estimate due
WRVFKHPHVQRWSURFHHGLQJRUEHLQJSRVWSRQHGXQWLOWKHQH[W¿QDQFLDO\HDURU
being withdrawn on the grounds of eligibility criteria.
• Non-cash items were 23% (£1.183 million) higher than the estimate due to
unexpected increases in the value of in land sales debtors due to higher than
expected proceeds of disposal of land and buildings owned by the Department.
• Grants to Laganside were 28.1% (£2.109 million) lower than the estimate
because of capital project slippage into 2006-07.
• EU Debtors Capital Charges were 48.7% (£0.549 million) lower than the
estimate because of an unanticipated large EU Debtor write-off.
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

11,016

8

191,176

(30,830)

160,346

167,239

6,893

12,911

-

-

12,911

(12,306)

605

705

100

2,729

-

-

2,729

(2,470)

259

390

131

Belfast Child Support
Agency Centre

24,234

-

-

24,234

(24,234)

-

-

-

Child Support Agency for
Northern Ireland

14,352

2

-

14,354

(8)

14,346

16,263

1,917

- Pension benefits

-

-

15,646

15,646

-

15,646

15,668

22

- Disability benefits

-

-

861,532

861,532

-

861,532

884,811

23,279

- Industrial injuries benefits

-

-

25,103

25,103

-

25,103

26,200

1,097

- Income support for the
elderly/Pension Credit

-

-

283,121

283,121

-

283,121

280,000

(3,121)

- Income support - non
pensioners

-

-

489,101

489,101

(3,556)

485,545

523,552

38,007

- Jobseeker’s allowance
(income based)

-

-

72,331

72,331

(50)

72,281

92,500

20,219

- Jobseeker’s allowance
(contribution based)

-

-

12,360

12,360

(12,360)

-

-

-

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

180,152

2004-05
Request for Resources A
5I5$
Providing a fair system of
financial help to those in
need and to ensure that
parents who live apart
maintain their children;
encouraging personal
responsibility and improving
incentives to work and save:
Departmental Expenditure
in DEL
Social Security
Administration
Belfast Benefit Centre
Paid Order Unit

Annually Managed
([SHQGLWXUH $0(
Non-contributory and
means tested benefits:

Income support - nonpensioners and
Jobseeker’s allowance:
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RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

-

443

443

-

443

300

(143)

-

-

7,984

7,984

-

7,984

8,700

716

Housing benefit (rent)

-

-

335,201

335,201

-

335,201

335,602

401

Discretionary housing
payments

-

-

1,029

1,029

-

1,029

1,142

113

Compensation payments to
providers of existing support
accommodation

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

1

Housing benefit (rates)

-

-

41,986

41,986

-

41,986

41,600

(386)

Payments into the Social
Fund (Regulated)

-

-

9,293

9,293

-

9,293

9,293

-

Payments into the Social
Fund in respect of Winter
Fuel Payments

-

-

48,676

48,676

-

48,676

48,676

-

Payments into the Social
Fund (Discretionary)

-

-

15,809

15,809

-

15,809

15,809

-

Payments into the Northern
Ireland National Insurance
Fund

-

-

37,485

37,485

-

37,485

37,467

(18)

21,006

-

-

21,006

-

21,006

19,104

(1,902)

255,384

11,018

2,257,108

2,523,510

(85,814)

2,437,696

2,525,022

87,326

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

Job grant

-

Grants to voluntary bodies –
social security

2004-05

Non-Budget

Notional Charges
Total
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

-

102,443

102,443

(9,554)

92,889

104,420

11,531

2,034

850

675

3,559

-

3,559

3,694

135

Housing grant to the NI
Housing Executive

-

162,618

141,479

304,097

(110,550)

193,547

195,348

1,801

Renovation grants and group
repair of dwellings

-

-

45,580

45,580

-

45,580

45,580

-

Interest Payments on
Housing Loans

-

123,937

-

123,937

(123,937)

-

-

-

Executive Programme Funds

-

-

48

48

-

48

152

104

-

-

36,910

36,910

-

36,910

36,910

-

-

-

87

87

-

87

90

3

379

-

-

379

-

379

461

82

2,413

287,405

327,222

617,040

(244,041)

372,999

386,655

13,656

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

-

2004-05
Request for Resources B
5I5%
Promoting measurable
improvements to housing in
Northern Ireland:
Departmental Expenditure
in DEL
Assistance to the voluntary
housing movement
Housing - other expenditure

Annually Managed
([SHQGLWXUH $0(
Supporting people
(Transitional Housing
Benefit funding element)
Non Budget
Other Expenditure
Notional Charges
Total
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 $QDO\VLVRIQHWUHVRXUFHRXWWXUQE\VHFWLRQ FRQWLQXHG
Outturn

Estimate

Grants
£’000

Gross
resource
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net
Total
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared
with
Estimate
£’000

1,363

10,783

20,044

(2,630)

17,414

34,313

16,899

1,112

-

14,442

15,554

-

15,554

15,609

55

EU Programme for Peace &
Reconciliation

-

-

8,437

8,437

-

8,437

8,454

17

ERDF Grants to district
councils, community groups
and the private sector

-

-

1,915

1,915

-

1,915

2,125

210

Executive Programme Funds

204

-

2,499

2,703

-

2,703

5,394

2,691

-

-

2,320

2,320

-

2,320

4,661

2,341

83

16,275

83

16,441

-

16,441

16,513

72

Grants to Laganside

-

-

7,055

7,055

-

7,055

7,146

91

Grants to ILEX

-

-

649

649

-

649

820

171

EU Debtors Capital Charges

-

-

902

902

-

902

1,030

128

1,803

-

-

1,803

-

1,803

1,626

(177)

11,100

17,638

49,085

77,823

(2,630)

75,193

97,691

22,498

268,897

316,061

2,633,415

3,218,373

(332,485)

2,885,888

3,009,368

123,480

Admin
£’000

Other
current
£’000

Urban Regeneration

7,898

Community and Voluntary
Sector Funding

2004-05
Request for Resources C
5I5&
Tackling disadvantage
amongst individuals,
communities and neighbourhoods, with particular
emphasis on greatest need
and encouraging, developing
and supporting community
development:
Department Expenditure
in DEL

EU Community Initiatives
Annually Managed
([SHQGLWXUH $0(
Urban Regeneration/
Community Development
Non-cash items
Non Budget

Notional Charges
Total
Resource Outturn
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This Note shows the NIF administration costs for Northern Ireland being incurred
in the ‘Admin’ column and offset by the income in the ‘AR’ column.

3

Contributory benefit expenditure paid from the
National Insurance Fund
2004-05

2005-06
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

1,007,583

-

1,007,583

963,804

-

963,804

192,039

-

192,039

173,702

-

173,702

3,501

-

3,501

3,325

-

3,325

19,355

-

19,355

20,918

-

20,918

- additional component

4,929

-

4,929

5,462

-

5,462

- widow’s payment

4,416

-

4,416

4,452

-

4,452

Unemployment, Invalidity
and Sickness Benefits.

(132)

-

(132)

(21)

-

(21)

12,332

(9)

12,323

12,360

(8)

12,352

311,862

-

311,862

308,216

-

308,216

10,677

-

10,677

12,102

-

12,102

4,486

-

4,486

4,304

-

4,304

1,571,048



1,571,039

1,508,624

(8)

1,508,616

Note
Pension benefits
Retirement pension
- basic element
- additional component
Christmas bonus
Widow’s benefit
- basic element

Unemployment, incapacity
and other benefits
Jobseeker’s Allowance –
Contributions Based
Incapacity Benefit
- basic element
- additional component
Family benefits
Maternity Allowance
Total

82

9.2
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4

Non-contributory benefit expenditure
2004-05

2005-06
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

1,887

-

1,887

1,909

-

1,909

988

-

988

1,110

-

1,110

24,868

-

24,868

12,627

-

12,627

187,389

-

187,389

186,558

-

186,558

Carers allowance

82,105

-

82,105

84,664

-

84,664

Severe disablement
allowance

40,656

-

40,656

40,782

-

40,782

582,599

-

582,599

549,523

-

549,523

(5)

-

(5)

1

-

1

2

-

2

4

-

4

25,869

-

25,869

25,103

-

25,103

4,222

(1)

4,221

4,734

-

4,734

284,296

-

284,296

278,387

-

278,387

Family credit

(7)

-

(7)

(13)

-

(13)

Child Support Maintenance
bonus

25

-

25

92

-

92

462,788

(3,088)

459,700

487,426

(3,556)

483,870

66,623

(48)

66,575

72,472

(50)

72,422

11

-

11

221

-

221

1,761,179

1,745,600

(3,606)

1,741,994

Pension benefits
Non-contributory retirement
pension
Christmas bonus
Other
Disability allowance
Attendance allowance

Disability living allowance
Disability working allowance
Miscellaneous Diseases
Scheme
Industrial injuries benefits

Income support for the
elderly/Pension Credit
Income support for the
elderly
Pension Credit
Family benefits

Income support non-pensioners and
Jobseeker’s Allowance
Income support
(non-pensioners)
Jobseeker’s allowance
(income based)
Back to work bonus
Total

1,764,316
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5 Statutory benefits
2004-05

2005-06
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) and
Statutory Maternity Pay
(SMP)

39,116

-

39,116

37,485

-

37,485

Total

39,116

-

39,116

37,485

-

37,485

6 Other social grants and disbursements
2004-05

2005-06
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

7,507

-

7,507

7,385

-

7,385

634

-

634

600

-

600

Rent rebate

168,432

-

168,432

170,674

-

170,674

Rent allowances

164,830

-

164,830

164,572

-

164,572

47,288

-

47,288

41,986

-

41,986

1,049

-

1,049

1,029

-

1,029

2,663

-

2,663

2,457

-

2,457

1

-

1

6

-

6

4,512

-

4,512

4,574

-

4,574

Community care grants

13,505

-

13,505

12,661

-

12,661

Winter fuel payments

50,197

-

50,197

49,910

-

49,910

275

-

275

305

-

305

460,893

-

460,893

456,159

-

456,159

Grants to independent
bodies
Independent living funds
Motability
Housing benefit

Rates
Discretionary Housing
Payments

Social Fund disbursements
Funeral payments
Cold weather payments
Maternity payments

Budgeting loans, Crisis loans
and Funeral payment
transfers to GB
Total

84
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National Insurance Fund administration
Note

NIF Administration costs incurred by the Department
12 & 9.1

Total

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

29,850

30,200

29,850

30,200

Costs incurred by other government Departments are reimbursed from the NIF.

8

Programme overheads
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Increase in provision for doubtful debt

8.1

5,706

1,585

Programme debt written off

8.2

14,150

8,115

Other programme overheads

8a

2,862

3,217

22,718

12,917

20,971

12,203

1,747

714

22,718

12,917

Total

Non-contributory programme overheads

17

Contributory programme overheads
Total

8.1

Movement in provision for doubtful debt

The movement in the provision for doubtful debt consists of a movement in the
provisions for debt relating to the overpayments of the following:
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

240

(116)

Non-contributory benefits

5,501

1,187

Social Fund payments

(272)

431

237

83

5,706

1,585

Note
Contributory benefits

Other programme
Total

8
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8.2

Bad debts written off

The bad debts written off consist of the write-off of overpayments of the following
benefits:
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Pension benefits

496

224

Incapacity benefits

909

520

102

86

Disability benefit

1,974

568

Income support

5,688

3,467

Family benefits

2

7

1,851

1,028

2,890

2,063

238

152

14,150

8,115

Note
Contributory benefits

Other

8b

Non-contributory benefits

Other

8c

Social Fund
Funeral grant
Other

8d

Total

8a

Other programme overheads include:
Housing: Wages and salaries paid to the Construction Service of £0.955
million. This includes all expenditure relating to the Rent Assessment
Panel, i.e. wages and salaries and all other administration costs; and
Urban Regeneration: Consultancy £0.416 million, interest payable on
compensation (Victoria Square) £0.567 million, maintenance £0.383 million,
legal and professional fees £0.253 million, database development costs
£0.109 million, land registry fees £0.010 million and other £0.169 million.

86

E

2WKHUFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WVLQFOXGH8QHPSOR\PHQW%HQH¿W PLOOLRQ
6LFNQHVV%HQH¿W PLOOLRQ0DWHUQLW\$OORZDQFH PLOOLRQ
,QYDOLGLW\%HQH¿W PLOOLRQDQG-6$ &  PLOOLRQ

F

2WKHUQRQFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WVLQFOXGH3HQVLRQ%HQH¿WV PLOOLRQ
,QGXVWULDO,QMXULHV PLOOLRQ,,%'LVDEOHPHQW%HQH¿W PLOOLRQ
and JSA (NC) £0.431 million.

8d

Other Social Fund includes Budgeting Loans and Crisis Loans.
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9 Reconciliation of outturn to net operating cost and against
Administration Budget
9.1 Reconciliation of net resource outturn to net operating cost
2004-05

2005-06

Note
Net resource outturn
Non-supply Expenditure (net)
AR not treated as income – funding from
NIF to cover Administration costs

9.2

Outturn
compared with
Estimate
£’000

Outturn
£’000

2,981,251

3,134,472

153,221

2,885,888

1,571,039

1,590,467

19,428

1,509,330

29,850

29,850

-

30,200

(4,191)

-

4,191

(3,865)

(23,079)

(13,743)

9,336

(18,684)

4,554,870

4,741,046

186,176

4,402,869

7

Excess of Social Fund grant over Social Fund
operating cost expenditure
Non-supply Income (CFERs)

Outturn
£’000

Supply
Estimate
£’000

11

Net operating cost

Net operating cost is the total of expenditure and income appearing in the
Operating Cost Statement. Net resource outturn is the total of those elements of
expenditure and income that are subject to parliamentary approval and included
in the Department’s Supply Estimate. The outturn against the estimate is shown in
the Summary of Resource Outturn (Statement of Parliamentary Supply).

9.2 Non-supply expenditure
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Contributory benefits (gross)

3

1,571,048

1,508,624

NIF write-offs and movement on debt provision

8

-

714

Total gross non-supply expenditure

17

1,571,048

1,509,338

Contributory benefits – Accruing Resources

3

(9)

(8)

1,571,039

1,509,330

Total net non-supply expenditure

9.1
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 2XWWXUQDJDLQVW¿QDO$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ%XGJHW
2005-06
Budget
£’000

2005-06
Outturn
£’000

2004-05
Outturn
£’000

Gross Administration Budget

244,137

239,929

268,897

Income allowable against the Administration Budget

(46,222)

(46,652)

(40,273)

Net outturn against final Administration Budget

197,915

193,277

228,624

Note

The Gross administration outturn figure excludes notional costs and URCDG’s
administration non-cash costs. This is because the budget figure is the admin
DEL (Departmental Expenditure Limit) figure whereas notional costs are nonbudget items and URCDG’s admin non-cash costs are treated as AME (Annually
Managed Expenditure) in budgeting terms.

88
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Reconciliation of resources to cash requirement:
2004-05

2005-06

Note

Estimate
£’000

Outturn
£’000

Net total
outturn
compared with
Estimate
VDYLQJ H[FHVV
£’000

2

3,134,472

2,963,826

170,646

2,885,888

Acquisition of fixed assets

21

22,975

10,928

12,047

53,380

Investments

22

-

-

-

-

(5,647)

(5,647)

-

(30,378)

22

(1,209)

(1,183)

(26)

(1,278)

18.2

(51,879)

(41,975)

(9,904)

(48,809)

10,119

(117,768)

127,887

(34,498)

-

96,624

(96,624)

90,036

Resource Outturn

Outturn
£’000

Capital:

Non-operating AR:
Proceeds of fixed asset disposals
Repayment of loans to other bodies
Accruals adjustments:
• Non-cash items
• Changes in working capital other than
cash
• Changes in creditors falling due after
more than one year

25.2

• Use of provision

26

125

2,185

(2,060)

1,271

• Excess of Social Fund grant to operating
cost expenditure

9.1

-

(4,191)

4,191

(3,865)

• Agencies’ Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)

27

-

-

-

(17,063)

-

-

-

(36,421)

3,108,956

2,902,799

206,157

2,858,263

Asset transferred from DRD/DFP
Net cash requirement

([SODQDWLRQRIWKHYDULDWLRQEHWZHHQ(VWLPDWHDQGRXWWXUQ QHWFDVK
UHTXLUHPHQW 
(i)

The main reason for the variation between the Estimate and the Outturn, in
respect of net cash requirement, is the variation in total Resource Outturn
(£2,963,826) and it’s Estimate (£3,134,472) (as above) and lower than
anticipated capital expenditure and non-cash items.
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11

Analysis of income payable to the Consolidated Fund

Summary of income payable to the Consolidated Fund.
In addition to Accruing Resources, the following income relates to the Department
and is payable to the Consolidated Fund (cash receipts are shown in italics).
2005-06 Forecast

2005-06 Outturn

Income
£’000

Receipts
£’000

Income
£’000

Receipts
£’000

-

-

7,629

4,576

Other operating income and receipts – not
classified as AR

13,743

10,768

15,450

16,091

Subtotal

13,743

10,768

23,079

20,667

Note
Operating income and receipts – excess AR

Non-operating income and receipts –
excess AR

13

-

-

11,575

-

Other non-operating income and receipts not
classified as AR

14

-

-

-

-

Excess Cash Surrendarble to the Consolidated
Fund

10

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,743

10,768

34,654

20,667

Other amounts collectable on behalf of the
Consolidated Fund
Total income payable to the Consolidated
Fund

27

12 Reconciliation of income recorded within the Operating Cost
Statement to operating income payable to the Consolidated Fund
Note
Operating Income

2004-05
£’000

294,772

308,617

NIF Administration Cost (SSA)

7

28,000

27,960

NIF Administration Costs (DSD Core)

7

1,850

2,240

NIF Contributory Benefits

3

12,332

12,360

NIF Accruing Resources

3

(9)

(8)

-

-

336,945

351,169

(313,866)

(332,485)

23,079

18,684

Adjustment for transactions between RfRs
Gross Income
Income authorised to be Accruing Resource (deduct the lower of
AR and Estimate)
Operating Income payable to the Consolidated Fund
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2005-06
£’000
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13 Non-operating income – Excess AR
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

11,575

145

Repayments of loans to other bodies

-

-

Other

-

-

11,575

145

Note
Proceeds of tangible fixed assets disposed of

11

Non-operating income – Excess AR

14 Non-operating income not classified as AR
There was no non-operating income not classified as Accruing Resources during
2005-06.

15 Staff numbers and related costs
Staff costs comprise:

15.1 Administration staff costs consist of:
2004-05

2005-06

Total
£’000

Permanently
employed
staff
£’000

Others
£’000

Ministers
£’000

Special
Advisers
£’000

Total
£’000

116,609

116,345

264

-

-

120,286

Social security costs

7,347

7,329

18

-

-

7,645

Other pension costs

19,070

19,070

-

-

-

14,141

143,026

142,744

282

-

-

142,072

-

-

-

-

-

-

143,026

142,744

282

-

-

142,072

Wages and salaries

Sub Total
Less Recoveries in respect of outward
secondments
Total net administration staff costs
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Programme staff costs consist of:
2004-05

2005-06

Note

Total
£’000

Permanently
employed
staff
£’000

Others
£’000

Ministers
£’000

Special
Advisers
£’000

Total
£’000

Wages and salaries

17

817

817

-

-

-

619

Social security costs

17

67

67

-

-

-

45

Other pension costs

17

146

146

-

-

-

86

1,030

1,030

-

-

-

750

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,030

1,030

-

-

-

750

144,056

143,774

282

-

-

142,822

Sub Total
Less Recoveries in respect of
outward secondments
Total net programme staff costs
Total Net Costs

The PCSPS(NI) is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme which
produces its own resource accounts, but the Department is unable to identify
its share of the underlying assets and liabilities. The most up to date actuarial
valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2003 and details of this valuation are
available in the PCSPS(NI) resource accounts.
For 2005-06, employers’ contributions of £18.817 million (2004-05 £13.970
million) were payable to the PCSPS(NI) at one of four rates in the range 16.5%
to 23.5 % of pensionable pay, based on salary bands (the rates in 2004-05 were
between 12% to 18%). The rates have increased from 1 April 2005 as a result of
the latest actuarial valuation. The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are
accrued, not when the costs are actually incurred, and reflect past experience of
the scheme.
Employees joining after 1 October 2002 could opt to open a partnership pension
account, a stakeholder pension with an employer contribution. Employers’
contributions of £7,934 were paid to one or more of a panel of four appointed
stakeholder pension providers. Employer contributions are age-related and
range from 3% to 12.5% of pensionable pay. Employers also match employee
contributions up to 3% of pensionable pay. In addition, employer contributions
of £706, 0.8% of pensionable pay, were payable to the PCSPS(NI) to cover the
cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service and ill health
retirement of these employees.
Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the balance sheet date
were £nil. Contributions prepaid at that date were £nil.
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10 persons (2004-05 49 persons) retired early on ill health grounds, the total
additional accrued pension liabilities in the year amounted to £32,649 (2004-05
£54,557).
Of the total expenditure on staff costs in 2005-06 of £144.056 million (2004-05
£142.822 million) £132.769 million relates to Request for Resources A (2004-05
£132.598 million), £1.972 million relates to Request for Resources B (2004-05
£1.866 million) and £9.315 million relates to Request for Resources C (2004-05
£8.358 million).

Average number of persons employed
15.2 The average number of whole-time equivalent persons employed during
WKH\HDULVVKRZQLQWKHWDEOHEHORZ7KHVH¿JXUHVLQFOXGHWKRVHZRUNLQJ
in the Department as well as in agencies and other bodies included with the
consolidated Departmental resource account.
2004-05
Number
of Staff

2005-06
Number of Staff

Total

Permanent
staff

Others

Ministers

Special
advisers

Total

6,661

6,490

171

-

-

6,948

69

66

3

-

-

67

303

292

11

-

-

285

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,033

6,848

185

-

-

7,300

Objective 1
Providing a fair system of financial help to
those in need and to ensure that parents who
live apart maintain their children;
encouraging personal responsibility and
improving incentives to work and save:
Objective 2
Promoting measurable improvements to
housing in Northern Ireland:
Objective 3
Improving the physical, economic,
community and social environment of
neighbourhoods, towns and cities in Northern
Ireland with a particular emphasis on tackling
disadvantage:
Staff engaged on capital projects
Total
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16 Other Administration Costs
16.1 Other administration costs
The other administration costs of the core Department, its on-vote Executive
Agencies, and its non-executive non-Departmental public bodies include:
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

260

568

- Other operating leases

-

316

Interest charges

-

-

2,827

2,872

- Service element of on-Balance Sheet contracts

-

-

Research and development expenditure

-

-

4,665

3,811

Contracted services

30,339

34,546

CSA GB running costs (fully reimbursed)

28,186

24,234

2,451

2,660

140

911

Medical adjudication

6,417

5,666

Postage

2,158

2,681

Printing and stationery

2,702

2,924

Service charges

4,676

3,611

Computer and office running costs

2,079

2,239

Other expenditure

4,083

9,113

30,897

30,673

121,880

126,825

Note
Rentals under operating leases:
- Hire of plant and machinery

PFI service charges:
- Off-Balance Sheet contracts

Accommodation costs

Travel and subsistence
Management consultancy

Non-cash items
Total

16.2

Of the total expenditure on other administration costs in 2005-06 of £121.880
million (2004-05 £126.825 million) £118.444 million relates to Request for
Resources A (2004-05 £123.228 million), £0.494 million related to Request for
Resources B (2004-05 £0.547 million) and £2.942 million relates to Request for
Resources C (2004-05 £3.050 million).
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16.2 Administration costs: non-cash items

Notional costs (excluding Ministers’ salaries)
Depreciation on administration fixed assets

Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

16.3

25,621

24,127

21

4,467

3,696

-

-

514

740

295

2,110

-

-

30,897

30,673

Loss on disposal of administration fixed assets
Movement in administration provision

26

Permanent diminution in value of administration fixed assets
Other
Total

16.1, 18

16.3 Notional costs
Certain services are provided and received by the Department without the transfer
of cash. Amounts of £25.621 million (2004-05 £24.127 million) are included in
the net cost of operations and are made up as follows:
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Accommodation costs

16.3a

20,716

11,233

Other indirect charges and services

16.3b

3,765

11,603

-

-

24,481

22,836

773

937

367

354

-

-

1,140

1,291

25,621

24,127

Services provided by other Departments

Other

Other notional costs
Notional cost of capital charge in respect of net administration
assets
Auditors’ remuneration and expenses

16.3c

Other

Total

16.2, 27

16.3a Accommodation costs include charges levied from the Accommodation
and Construction Division of DFP.
16.3b Other indirect charges and services are levied by DFP, DHSSPS, DRD,
DWP and NICS Recruitment Service.
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F 7KHDXGLWIHHUHSUHVHQWVWKHFRVWIRUWKHDXGLWRIWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
carried out by the Comptroller and Auditor General. There was no
remuneration paid for non-audit work during the year.
The notional cost of capital charge in respect of net programme assets is included
in Note 17 below.

17 Net programme costs

Note
Grants and other current expenditure

2005-06

2004-05

Net
Expenditure
£’000

Net
Expenditure
£’000

2,964,428

2,902,079

Seconded out staff – wages and salaries

15.1

817

619

Seconded out staff – social security costs

15.1

67

45

Seconded out staff – other pension costs

15.1

146

86

Non-contributory programme overheads

8

20,971

12,203

1,571,048

1,509,338

Non-supply expenditure: contributory benefits

9.2

Depreciation on programme fixed assets

18, 21

28

15

Notional cost of capital charge in respect of programme assets

18, 27

8,957

7,638

Movement in provisions (excluding amounts utilised in year)

18, 26

9,351

279

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

18

41

242

Permanent diminution in value of programme fixed assets

18

22

11,921

17,431

83

4,593,307

4,444,548

(256,691)

(270,303)

4,336,616

4,174,245

Other programme costs

Less: programme income
Total

19

Grants and other expenditure and contributory benefits expenditure is the amount
of expenditure incurred in the year and excludes programme overheads. The
expenditure analysed in Note 2 includes programme overheads.
Included within current grants and other expenditure is £1.250 million which
relates to a development asset that was transferred from Laganside Corporation at
a cost of £1 and revalued to £1.250 million.
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18 Non-cash items
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Administration (excluding Ministers’ salaries)

16.2

30,897

30,673

Administration (Ministers’ salaries)

15.1

-

-

30,897

30,673

19,649

20,095

Other

-

-

Total

50,546

50,768

Programme

17

The programme non-cash items in 2005-06 of £19.649 million (2004-05 £20.095
million) comprises notional cost of capital charge in respect of programme assets
£8.957 million, movements in provision (excluding amounts utilised in year)
£9.351 million, other programme costs £1.272 million, programme depreciation
£0.028 million and loss on disposal of fixed assets £0.041 million. (2004-05
comprises notional cost of capital charge in respect of programme assets £7.638
million, movements in provision (excluding amounts utilised in year) £0.279
million, other programme costs £11.921 million, programme depreciation £0.015
million and loss on disposal of fixed assets £0.242 million).

18.1 The total of non-cash transactions included in the
5HFRQFLOLDWLRQRI2SHUDWLQJ&RVWVWR2SHUDWLQJ&DVKÀRZVLQ
Note 28.1 comprises:
Note
Non-cash items (as above)

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

50,546

50,768

(8,571)

(1,959)

-

-

41,975

48,809

Less non-cash income
- profit on sale of fixed assets
Other
Total non-cash transactions
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18.2 The total of non-cash items included in the Reconciliation of
Resources to Cash Requirement in Note 10 comprises:
Note
Total non-cash transactions as above
Other
Non-cash items per Reconciliation of Resources to
Cash Requirement
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2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

41,975

48,809

-

-

41,975

48,809

19 Income
19.1 Operating Income
Operating income not Accruing Resources (i.e. surrenderable to the Consolidated
Fund) is analysed for resource budget purposes between that which is included
in public expenditure and that which is not (see Note 9). In 2005-06 all operating
income not classified as Accruing Resources was within public expenditure.
Operating income is as follows:
2004-05

2005-06
RfR A
£’000

RfR B
£’000

RfR C
£’000

Total
£’000

RfR A
£’000

RfR B
£’000

RfR C
£’000

Total
£’000

9

-

-

9

8

-

-

8

114

-

341

455

184

-

506

690

Fees and charges to other
Departments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Interest receivable

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Profit on disposal of
administration assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

46,188

-

-

46,188

39,575

-

-

39,575

46,311

-

341

46,652

39,767

-

506

40,273

EU receipts

-

-

9,388

9,388

-

-

12,972

12,972

Interest receivable

-

2,225

-

2,225

-

2,691

-

2,691

Profit on disposal of
programme assets

-

-

8,571

8,571

-

-

1,959

1,959

19b

3,150

228,817

4,540

236,507

4,852

245,078

2,751

252,681

17

3,150

231,042

22,499

256,691

4,852

247,769

17,682

270,303

49,461

231,042

22,840

303,343

44,619

247,769

18,188

310,576

Note
Administration income:
Allowable within
administration cost limit
Fees and charges to
external customers

Other

19a

Programme income:

Other

Total

19a
L

Other administration Accruing Resources include:
66$$PRXQWVUHFHLYHGIURP':3EDFNRI¿FHSURFHVVLQJVHUYLFHVFDUULHG
RXWDWWKH%HOIDVW%HQH¿WV&HQWUHDQG3DLG2UGHU8QLW6HFRQGHGRI¿FHU
and miscellaneous receipts £17.955 million;
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(ii)

CSA - Recoveries from DWP and miscellaneous receipts £28.232 million;
and

(iii)

Core – Miscellaneous receipts £0.001 million.

19b

Other programme Accruing Resources include:

(i)

Housing – Additional receipts of £3.842 million for long term loans
recoverable, £104.165 million relating to NIHE Sales, £114.766 million
interest reimbursements from NIHE and Miscellaneous £6.044 million;

(ii)

Urban Regeneration - Victoria Square recoupment £1.771 million,
proceeds of disposal of assets transferred from Laganside development
asset £1.250 million, Recoupment from IFI £0.319 million, Grant clawback
£0.964 million and miscellaneous £0.236 million;

LLL 

(iv)

66$%HQH¿WV±,QFRPHIURP,QFRPH6XSSRUW ,6 1RQ3HQVLRQHU 
million, JSA Non-contributory £0.048 million, JSA Contributory £0.009
million and miscellaneous £0.003 million; and
Core – Miscellaneous £0.001 million.

All of the interest receivable is external.
The above analysis is not disclosed for the purposes of SSAP 25.
An analysis of income from services provided to external and public sector
customers is as follows:
2004-05

2005-06

100

Income
£’000

Full Cost
£’000

Surplus/
GHILFLW
£’000

Income
£’000

Full Cost
£’000

Surplus/
(deficit)
£’000

Income from external customers

455

423

32

690

148

542

Total

455

423

32

690

148

542
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20 Analysis of net operating cost by spending body
This Note analyses funding by the Department to the relevant spending body.
2004-05

2005-06
Estimate
£’000

Outturn
£’000

Estimate
£’000

Outturn
£’000

Core Department (RHSSG and URCDG)

1,016,562

884,721

920,043

804,871

Social Security Agency

2,011,577

2,008,071

1,986,336

2,000,334

17,246

15,695

17,009

14,556

1,620,317

1,571,039

1,560,193

1,509,330

75,344

75,344

73,778

73,778

4,741,046

4,554,870

4,557,359

4,402,869

Child Support Agency
National Insurance Fund
Social Fund
Net Operating Cost
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21 Tangible fixed assets
Land &
Buildings
excluding
Dwellings
£’000

Dwellings
£’000

Information
Technology
£’000

Plant &
Machinery
£’000

Furniture
& Fittings
£’000

Transport
Equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

154,147

1,294

14,085

89

682

5

170,302

-

-

(3)

-

-

-

(3)

10,205

-

562

-

148

13

10,928

889

-

-

-

-

-

889

Disposals

(8,603)

(59)

(482)

(27)

(5)

(5)

(9,181)

Upward Revaluations

30,908

3,325

-

-

11

-

34,244

(55)

-

(526)

(2)

(1)

-

(584)

187,491

4,560

13,636

60

835

13

206,595

2,928

-

6,177

65

476

4

9,650

-

-

(1)

-

-

-

(1)

600

6

3,819

11

52

7

4,495

(4)

-

(447)

(25)

(6)

(5)

(487)

-

-

-

-

7

-

7

(37)

-

(236)

(1)

-

-

(274)

3,487

6

9,312

50

529

6

13,390

At 31 March 2006

184,004

4,554

4,324

10

306

7

193,205

At 31 March 2005

151,219

1,294

7,908

24

206

1

160,652

182,078

4,554

4,324

10

306

7

191,279

1,926

-

-

-

-

-

1,926

184,004

4,554

4,324

10

306

7

193,205

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2005
Adjustments to opening
balances
Additions
Transfers in

Downward Revaluations
At 31 March 2006
Depreciation
At 1 April 2005
Adjustments to opening
balances
Charged in year
Disposals
Upward Revaluations
Downward Revaluations
At 31 March 2006
Net book value

Asset Financing at 31 March 2006
Owned
Capitalised leasehold
Net book value at 31 March
2006
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Analysis of tangible fixed assets
The net book value of tangible fixed assets comprises:

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Core Department

173,278

136,634

19,927

24,018

193,205

160,652

Agencies
Total

Freehold land and buildings were revalued during 2004-05. The next revaluation
will be carried out before 1 April 2008 in line with accounting policy note 1.3.
Other tangible assets were revalued on the basis of the latest available indices.

21b Assets held for resale

Assets held for resale

Balance at 31 March 2006

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

500

-

-

-

500

-

In accordance with the FReM assets which the Department has identified as
surplus to requirement and held pending disposal have been written down to their
recoverable amount and included as current assets.
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22 Investments
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2005

21,591

22,869

Repayments

(1,183)

(1,278)

Revaluations

-

-

20,408

21,591

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

20,408

21,591

-

-

20,408

21,591

Balance at 31 March 2006

Investments consist of Housing loans.
The balance at 31 March comprises:

Core Department
Agencies
Total
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23 Debtors
23.1 Analysis by type - Amounts falling due within one year
2004-05

2005-06
Gross
debtors
£’000

Provision
for doubtful
debt
£’000

Net
debtors
£’000

Gross
debtors
£’000

Provision
for doubtful
debt
£’000

Net
debtors
£’000

Trade debtors

157

-

157

121

-

121

VAT

780

-

780

1,302

-

1,302

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,443

-

6,443

5,862

-

5,862

-

-

-

12

-

12

-

-

-

-

-

-

373

-

373

630

-

630

431

(73)

358

345

(7)

338

5,697

(1,026)

4,671

4,233

(390)

3,843

(30)

-

(30)

17

-

17

- Contributory benefits

6,762

-

6,762

8,398

-

8,398

- Non-contributory Benefits

5,196

-

5,196

6,906

-

6,906

80

-

80

72

-

72

29,508

-

29,508

27,357

-

27,357

18,472

-

18,472

59,780

-

59,780

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

105

-

105

21

-

21

Note
Administration

Deposits and advances
Prepayments and accrued
income

23.1c

Inter-Departmental debtor with
DWP
Consolidated Fund debtor for
cash undrawn

27

Other administration debtors
Programme
Benefit overpayments
- Contributory benefits
- Non-contributory Benefits
- Social Fund
Benefit prepayments

Social Fund loans
- Funeral loans
- Other loans

23.1a

NIF Debtor
Interest receivable
Consolidated Fund debtor for
cash undrawn

27

Prepayments and accrued
income
NIHE debtor

23.1e

96,604

-

96,604

89,939

-

89,939

Other programme debtors

23.1b 23.1d

84,872

(2,998)

81,874

74,934

(2,776)

72,158

255,450



251,353

279,929

(3,173)

276,756

Total debtors falling due
within one year
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23.1a Other Social Fund loans consist of Budgeting Loans £23.862 million
(2004-05 £20.672 million) and Crisis Loans £5.646 million (2004-05
£6.685 million).
23.1b Other programme debtors consist of:
L

+RXVLQJLoan interest receivable £0.887 million, housing
grants repayable as a result of equity sales £0.576 million, NIHE
£2.813 million, other housing grants recoverable £0.290 million,
prepayment £0.020 million, Housing Association Grant prepayment
£36.780 million, vesting orders recoverable £0.065 million and
disposal proceeds fund recoverable £2.596 million;

LL 

8UEDQ5HJHQHUDWLRQEU Debtor £9.145 million, Clawback Debtor
£0.431million, SEUPB & LCF Debtor £7.410 million, NBCAU
debtor £0.861 million, Land sale Debtors £15.672 million, Other
Debtors £0.173 million and Provision for Bad Debts (£2.637)
million;

LLL 

'6'&RUH+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WDQG5DWHV3UHSD\PHQWV PLOOLRQ
and Independent Living Fund £0.311 million; and

LY 

66$%HQH¿WV Child Support Agency £0.023 million, Overseas
Governments £0.076 million, others £0.104 million, Compensation
Recovery Unit £0.786 million, unadjudicated debt £0.849 million
and Provision for Bad Debts (£0.361) million.

EU grant income is recognised by the Department in the Operating Cost
Statement but as it is CFER income, it is not reflected in the Statement
of Parliamentary Supply with EU receipts remitted to the Consolidated
Fund. The Department has reviewed the level of debtors in respect of EU
grant income receivable for the period 1994 to 31st March 2006. This has
resulted in a reduction in debtors of £17.425 million, which is reflected in
the 2005-06 debtor balance.
23.1c Included within Other debtors and prepayments and accrued income
is £27.089 million (2004-05 £30.527 million) that will be due to the
Consolidated Fund once the debts are collected.
23.1d In 2005-06 the Social Security Agency has undertaken an exercise to value
WKHEHQH¿WRYHUSD\PHQWGHEWQRW\HWLGHQWL¿HGWR'HEW0DQDJHPHQW8QLW
DQGKHOGDWORFDODQGFHQWUDOEHQH¿WRI¿FHV7KHYDOXDWLRQLVEDVHGRQD
stock count at 31 March 2006 and historical trends of average overpayment
values. This has been valued in total at £8.488 million and is disclosed as
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£0.849 million in other programme debtors less than one year, and £7.639
million in other debtors falling due after more than one year.
23.1e NIHE loans with DFP of £96.604 million (2004-05 £89.939 million)
are shown in the DSD Balance Sheet. There is a debtor from NIHE and
corresponding creditor to DFP (Consolidated Fund).

23.2 Analysis by type Amounts falling due after more than one year
2004-05

2005-06

Gross
debtors
£’000

Provision
for
doubtful
debt
£’000

Net
debtors
£’000

Gross
debtors
£’000

Provision
for doubtful
debt
£’000

Net debtors
£’000

655

-

655

847

-

847

2,444

(929)

1,515

2,079

(763)

1,316

- Non-contributory benefits

51,276

(21,536)

29,740

39,592

(16,650)

22,942

- Housing benefit

13,671

(7,374)

6,297

4,552

(2,439)

2,113

4,817

(2,667)

2,150

Note
Administration
Prepayments and accrued income
Programme
Benefit overpayments
- Contributory benefits

Social Fund loans
- Funeral loans
- Other loans

23.2a

18,930

(177)

18,753

17,270

(222)

17,048

NIHE debtor

23.2d

1,071,393

-

1,071,393

1,168,017

-

1,168,017

Other programme debtors

23.2b,
23.2c

41,784

-

41,784

37,837

-

37,837

1,204,705



1,172,250

1,270,459

(20,302)

1,250,157

Total debtors falling due after
more than one year

Total debtors

1,423,603

1,526,913

23.2a Other Social Fund loans consist of Budgeting Loans £10.849 million
(2004-05 £9.317 million) and Crisis Loans £7.904 million (2004-05 £7.731
million).
23.2b Other Programme Debtors consist of:
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(i)

Urban Regeneration: Victoria Square Development Debtor
£34.145 million.
Included in other programme debtors is a debtor which relates to
the Victoria Square Development Scheme. This is in accordance
with Clause 4.4 of the Development Agreement signed between the
Department for Social Development (DSD) and the Victoria Square
Developer (AM Development UK Limited) on 23 October 2003
under which the Developer would purchase the vested properties
from DSD. The subsequent Vesting Order was made by DSD on 7
November 2003.

(ii)

66$%HQH¿WVUnadjudicated debt £7.639 million.

23.2c Other programme debtors consist of £7.639 million relating to the
YDOXDWLRQRIEHQH¿WRYHUSD\PHQWGHEWQRW\HWLGHQWL¿HGWR'HEW0DQDJHPHQW
8QLWDQGKHOGDWORFDODQGFHQWUDORI¿FHV
23.2d NIHE loans with DFP of £1,071.393 million (2004-05 £1,168.017 million)
are shown in the DSD Balance Sheet. There is a debtor from NIHE and a
corresponding creditor to DFP (Consolidated Fund).

23.3 Intra-Government Balances
Amounts falling due
within one year
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

19,615

114,676

655

1,168,864

Balances with local authorities

-

-

-

-

Balances with NHS trusts

-

-

-

-

Balances with public corporations
and trading funds

104,731

1,958

1,071,393

-

Subtotal: intra-government
balances

124,346

116,634

1,072,048

1,168,864

Balances with bodies external to
government

127,007

160,122

100,202

81,293

Total debtors at 31 March

251,353

276,756

1,172,250

1,250,157

Balances with other central
government bodies
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Amounts falling due
after more than one year
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3RWHQWLDOGHEW±&RPSHQVDWLRQ5HFRYHU\8QLW 66$
Debt will only be recognised in the Balance Sheet at the point at which a
settlement is notified to the Compensation Recovery Unit by the compensator. For
benefit recoveries, this needs to be shown on the Programme Balance Sheet.
Certificates of recoverable benefit are issued upon request to compensators
(primarily insurance companies) where a compensation claim is made as a result
of an accident or injury. Until there is acceptance of liability by the compensator
and a payment made for compensation, the SSA has no right to demand recovery
of benefit payments made as a consequence of this accident or injury. Therefore,
no acknowledgement is made in the SSA’s Balance Sheet, apart from those cases
that have been settled but where the recoverable benefit element has not yet been
received.
As an indication of the cash generated from this income stream for the SSA for the
year to 31 March 2006, £8.375 million, on an annualised basis, has been included
in the Operating Cost statement as a reduction to Gross Expenditure. There is no
information to suggest that this level of cash generation will differ significantly in
the next financial year.

24 Cash at bank and in hand
24.1 Cash with paying agents
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Post Office Counters Ltd

-

-

Alliance & Leicester Commercial Bank plc

-

22,507

Balance at 31 March

-

22,507

As at 31 March 2006 the balance held with the Alliance & Leicester Commercial
Bank plc (ALCB plc) is a credit balance of £5.470 million disclosed with other
programme creditors as per Note 25.1.
24.2 Cash at bank and in hand
Note
Balance at 1 April
Net change in cash balances
Balance at 31 March

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

(11,624)

(13,217)

16,101

1,593

4,477

(11,624)
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Balances at 31 March are held at:

Commercial bank balances
Cash at bank and in hand
Balance at 31 March

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

4,412

(11,689)

65

65

4,477

(11,624)

Bank balances are shown net of outstanding liabilities for instruments of payment
due to be encashed against the Department’s bank accounts.
The Department for Social Development (DSD) was established on 2 December
1999 in response to devolution. A number of functions of the former Department
of Health and Social Services (DHSS), and the Department of the Environment
(NI) (DOE) transferred to DSD. To facilitate the successful establishment of
the new Department some elements of the former structures were retained. This
included the banking arrangements. With the exception of National Insurance
Fund monies, the public funding and other receipts of DSD were lodged to a bank
account, which was shared with the Department of Health and Social Services and
Public Safety (DHSSPS).
In the Departmental Resource Account for 2001-02 this bank account, then called
the DHSS Number One Account, was treated as belonging to DHSSPS, with the
balance relating to DSD treated as an inter-Departmental creditor with DHSSPS.
The bank account was renamed the DSD Number One Account in late March
2002 and from August 2002 DHSSPS receipts were lodged to a new account in
that Department’s name. The DSD Number One Account was then renamed the
DSD General Account on 1 April 2003. Consequently in 2004-05 the balance on
the DSD General Account has been treated as belonging to DSD, with the balance
relating to DHSSPS treated as an inter-Departmental creditor with DHSSPS. In
2005-06 a control mechanism was put into operation which eliminated this interDepartmental balance.
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25 Creditors
25.1 Analysis by type - Amounts falling due within one year
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

24.2

-

11,689

Trade Creditors - Capital

1

49

Inter-Departmental creditor with DHSSPS

-

19

1,051

-

Early retirement

19

38

Consolidated fund extra receipts received and due to be paid to
the consolidated fund

47

19

Consolidated fund extra receipts receivable and other due to be
paid to the consolidated fund

9

1

-

-

7,265

6,576

Other taxation and social security

50

33

Other administration creditors

22

598

- Contributory benefits

16,158

20,768

- Non-contributory benefits

24,455

22,411

87

102

3,161

4,574

Consolidated fund extra receipts received and due to be paid to
the consolidated fund

18,771

9,095

Consolidated fund extra receipts receivable and other due to be
paid to the consolidated fund

27,080

30,526

3,079

39,035

631

1,082

Administration
Bank overdraft

Inter-Departmental creditor with DWP

Amounts issued from the consolidated fund for supply but not
spent at year end

27

Accruals and deferred income

Programme
Benefit accruals:

- Social Fund
Encashment control

Amounts issued from the consolidated fund for supply but not
spent at year end

27

EU grants accrual
NIHE creditor

25.1b

96,604

89,939

Other programme creditors

25.1a

104,148

73,809

302,638

310,363

Total creditors falling due within one year
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25.1a Other programme creditors consist of:
(i)

Housing: Housing Association Grant £40.334 million, Small
Adaptation Grant £0.335 million, other accruals £0.107 million,
Deferred income £0.076 million, NIHE creditor £1.432 million and
Voluntary Purchase Grant accrual £0.453 million;

(ii)

Urban Regeneration: Road Service creditor £0.057 million, Vested
Land creditor £14.693 million, Grant Accruals £21.812 million, Ilex
£0.236 million, other creditors £0.059 million and sundry accruals
£1.238 million;

(iii)

DSD Core: +RXVLQJ%HQH¿WDQG5DWH$FFUXDOV DQG

(iv)

66$%HQH¿WV Inland Revenue £0.465 million, Inter-Government
£0.072 million, DEL £0.293 million, Health Service £0.707 million,
Overseas Government creditors £0.014 million, Third Party Control
£2.734 million, Alliance and Leicester Commercial Bank £5.471
million and sundry creditors £0.143 million.

25.1b NIHE loans with DFP of £96.604 million (2004-05 £89.939 million)
are shown in the DSD Balance Sheet. There is a debtor from NIHE and
corresponding creditor to DFP (Consolidated Fund). Included in this
balance is a creditor of £1.563 million (2004-05 £1.463 million) to Local
Authorities.
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25.2 Analysis by type Amounts falling due after more than one year
Note

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

25.2a

1,071,393

1,168,017

Total creditors falling due after more than one year

1,071,393

1,168,017

Total creditors

1,374,031

1,478,380

Programme
NIHE creditor

25.2a NIHE loans with DFP of £1,071.393 million (2004-05 £1,168.017 million)
are shown in the DSD Balance Sheet. There is a debtor from NIHE and
corresponding creditor to DFP (Consolidated Fund). Included in this
balance is a creditor of £28.560 million (2004-05 £30.115 million) to Local
Authorities.

25.3 Intra-Government Balances
Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts falling due after more than one year

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

159,661

166,406

1,042,833

1,137,902

1,563

1,463

28,560

30,115

708

600

-

-

Balances with public corporations and
trading funds

13,417

10,883

-

-

Subtotal: intra-government balances

175,349

179,352

1,071,393

1,168,017

Balances with bodies external to
government

127,289

131,011

-

-

Total creditors at 31 March

302,638

310,363

1,071,393

1,168,017

Balances with other central
government bodies
Balances with local authorities
Balances with NHS trusts
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26 Provisions for liabilities and charges
2004-05

2005-06
Administration
Note

£’000

Balance at 1 April

Programme

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,178

6,096

7,274

-

-

-

Transferred to
Creditors

£’000

Administration

Total

£’000

Programme

£’000

£’000

Total

£’000

£’000

750

6,776

7,526

-

-

-

Provided in the year

597

12,321

12,918

869

4,809

5,678

Provisions not
required written back

(83)

(2,970)

(3,053)

(129)

(4,530)

(4,659)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unwinding of
discount
16.2, 17

514

9,351

9,865

740

279

1,019

Provisions utilised in
the year

(438)

(1,747)

(2,185)

(312)

(959) (1,271)

Balance at 31 March

1,254

13,700

14,954

1,178

6,096

7,274

Administration provisions include:
(i)

DSD Core: Early Departure Costs £0.097 million, Equal Opportunity
Provision £0.021 million and Personnel Provision £0.015 million;

(ii)

Urban Regeneration: Tribunal Cases £0.021 million and Provision for
back salary payments for contract staff £0.125 million; and

(iii)

SSA: Early Departure costs £0.137 million, Personal Injury cases £0.553
million and Equal Opportunity costs £0.285 million.

Programme provisions include:
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(i)

Core: Financial Assistance Scheme Provision £9.000 million;

(i)

Housing: Warm Homes Provision £0.925 million, Adaptations Provision
£1.263 million and Voluntary Purchase Grants £1.097 million;

(ii)

Urban Regeneration: Public Liability Claims £0.072 million; and

(iii)

66$%HQH¿WV Compensation Recovery Unit provisions on review and
appeal £1.343 million.
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27 General Fund
The General Fund represents the total assets less liabilities of each of the entities
within the accounting boundary, to the extent that the total is not represented by
other reserves and financing items.
2004-05

2005-06
General
Fund
£’000

Revaluation
Reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

General
Fund
£’000

Revaluation
Reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

173,013

73,061

246,074

123,515

69,286

192,801

Net parliamentary funding
– Drawn Down

2,866,843

-

2,866,843

2,897,298

-

2,897,298

Net parliamentary funding
– Deemed Supply

39,035

-

39,035

-

-

-

1,646,559

-

1,646,559

1,483,849

-

1,483,849

(4,554,870)

-

(4,554,870)

(4,402,869)

-

(4,402,869)

(34,654)

-

(34,654)

(18,829)

-

(18,829)

17,425

-

17,425

-

34,218

34,218

-

9,229

9,229

Note
Balance at 1 April

Net funding from the
National Insurance Fund
Net cost of operations
Non-AR income payable
to the consolidated fund

11

EU debtor write-off
Arising on revaluation
during the year (net)
Consolidated fund
creditor for cash unspent

25

(3,079)

-

(3,079)

(39,035)

-

(39,035)

Consolidated fund debtor
for cash undrawn

23

-

-

-

-

-

-

34,578

-

34,578

31,765

-

31,765

28

-

28

-

-

-

Fixed Asset transferred
from DRD/DFP to DSD

-

-

-

36,421

-

36,421

Agencies’ Net Cash
Inflow/(Outflow)

-

-

-

17,063

-

17,063

(40,699)

1,750

(38,949)

38,381

-

38,381

144,179

109,029

253,208

167,559

78,515

246,074

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,656

(1,656)

-

5,454

(5,454)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

145,835

107,373

253,208

173,013

73,061

246,074

Notional costs

15.1, 16.3,
17

Fixed Assets purchased by
DHSS/PS for DSD

Other

27a

Transferred to the
General Fund in respect
of the realised element
of the Revaluation
Reserve resulting from:
- depreciation
- disposal or impairment
of assets
- other
Balance at 31 March
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The revaluation reserve reflects the unrealised element of the cumulative balance
of indexation and revaluation adjustments (excluding donated assets and those
financed by Government grants).
27a

Other movements in the general fund consist of:
(i)

Urban Regeneration: Asset additions from prior periods £0.464
million;

(ii)

66$%HQH¿WVMovement in NIF debtor balance of £(41.308)
million; and

(iii)

Other: Sundry adjustments £0.145 million.
Other movements in the revaluation reserve consist of:

(i)
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Urban Regeneration: Revaluation of assets transferred from
Laganside £1.750 million.
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28 Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 5HFRQFLOLDWLRQRIRSHUDWLQJFRVWWRRSHUDWLQJFDVKÀRZV
Note
Net operating cost

20

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000



(4,402,869)

Adjustments for non-cash transactions

18.1

41,975

48,809

Decrease/(Increase) in cash with Paying Agents

24.1

22,507

(9,733)

Increase in investments

22

-

-

Decrease in debtors

23

103,310

27,807

(29,794)

48,119

(104,349)

(51,823)

33,855

(75,983)

(2,185)

(1,271)

121

-



(4,416,944)

less movements in debtors relating to items not passing through
the OCS
(Decrease) in creditors

25

less movements in creditors relating to items not passing through
the OCS
Use of provisions

26

Adjustment to Net Operating Cost
Net cash outflow from operating activities

 $QDO\VLVRIFDSLWDOH[SHQGLWXUHDQG¿QDQFLDOLQYHVWPHQW
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

(10,900)

(16,981)

Proceeds of fixed asset disposals

17,222

28,517

(Repayments) from other bodies

1,183

1,278

Net cash inflow from investing activities

7,505

12,814

Note
Tangible fixed asset additions
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 $QDO\VLVRIFDSLWDOH[SHQGLWXUHDQG¿QDQFLDOLQYHVWPHQWE\
Request for Resources
Capital
Expenditure
£’000

Loans etc
£’000

Accruing
Resources
£’000

Net Total
£’000

Request for Resources A

(695)

-

-

(695)

Request for Resources B

-

-

1,183

1,183

Request for Resources C

(10,205)

-

17,222

7,017

(10,900)

-

18,405

7,505

Net movement of debtors/creditors

7,100

-

(11,514)

(4,414)

Total 2005-06



-

6,891

3,091

Total 2004-05

(16,981)

-

29,795

12,814

 $QDO\VLVRI¿QDQFLQJ
Note

2004-05
£’000

From Consolidated Fund (Supply): current year

27

2,905,878

2,897,298

From Consolidated Fund (Supply): prior year

25

(39,035)

33,212

-

-

1,646,559

1,483,849

(1,600,889)

(1,539,530)

2,912,513

2,874,829

From the Consolidated Fund (Non-supply)
From the National Insurance Fund
Payments to the National Insurance Fund
Net financing
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2005-06
£’000
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28.5 Reconciliation of Net Cash Requirement to increase in cash
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

10

2,902,799

2,858,263

From Consolidated Fund (Supply): current year

28.4

(2,905,878)

(2,897,298)

From Consolidated Fund (Supply): prior year

28.4

39,035

(33,212)

9,115

13,832

(18,818)

(4,598)

Note
Net Cash Requirement

Amounts due to the Consolidated Fund received in a prior year
and paid over
Amounts due to the Consolidated Fund received and not paid
From the National Insurance Fund

28.4

(1,646,559)

(1,483,849)

Payments to the National Insurance Fund

28.4

1,600,889

1,539,530

3,316

5,739



(1,593)

Other Government Financing
Increase in cash

29 Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Operating Costs by
Departmental Aim and Objectives
The Consolidated Statement of Operating Costs by Departmental Aim and
Objectives provides an analysis of expenditure against the three objectives that
underpin the Department’s aim.
Administration expenditure has been apportioned to objectives in accordance with
the Department’s normal management accounting practices, wherever possible, or
has been allocated in the same proportions as programme expenditure.
Programme grants and other current expenditure have been allocated as
follows:
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Objective 1

3,852,317

3,756,387

Objective 2

421,559

366,858

Objective 3

62,740

51,000

4,336,616

4,174,245

Total
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Capital Employed by Departmental Aim and Objectives
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Objective 1

61,867

76,031

Objective 2

14,176

23,818

Objective 3

177,165

146,225

Total

253,208

246,074

30 Capital commitments
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Contracted capital commitments at 31 March for which no
provision has been made

163

-

Total

163

-

31 Commitments under leases
Commitments under operating leases to pay rentals during the year following
the year of these accounts are given in the table below, analysed according to the
period in which the lease expires.
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Operating leases
2005-06
Total
£’000

2004-05
Total
£’000

-

-

26

26

610

580

636

606

5

5

91

181

-

-

96

186

732

792

Obligations under operating leases comprise:
Land & buildings
- Expiry within one year
- Expiry after 1 year but not more than 5 years
- Expiry thereafter
Total
Other
- Expiry within one year
- Expiry after 1 year but not more than 5 years
- Expiry thereafter
Total

Total obligations under operating leases

Other obligations under operating leases include leasing of office equipment
£0.096 million (2004-05 £0.186 million).
The Department had no obligations under finance leases and hire purchase
agreements.

32 Commitments under PFI contracts
The Department has entered into the following PFI contracts.
Off Balance Sheet
During the year 2001-02 the Agency entered into a PFI agreement for the
provision of IT hardware and software solutions in relation to the processing of a
number of benefits. The anticipated total rentals payable are over a 10 year period.
The rentals are charged to the Operating Cost Statement over the period of the
agreement. This agreement was renegotiated during 2003-04 resulting in a revised
cost of £22.616 million, the rentals being charged at £2.827 million over the
remaining eight years.
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Charges to the Operating Cost Statement and future commitments
The total amount charged in the Operating Cost Statement in respect of offBalance Sheet PFI transactions was £2.827 million (2004-05 £2.872 million); and
the payments to which the Department is committed during 2005-06, analysed by
the period during which the commitment expires, is as follows:
2005-06
Total
£’000

2004-05
Total
£’000

- Expiry within one year

-

-

- Expiry within two to five years

-

-

- Expiry within six to ten years

2,827

2,872

Total

2,827

2,872

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

Government grant commitments at 31 March for which no provision
has been made

196,172

175,361

Total

196,172

175,361

33 Government grant commitments

34 Financial Instruments
FRS 13, Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments: Disclosure, requires
disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities. Because
of the largely non-trading nature of its activities and the way Government
Departments are financed, the Department is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Moreover, financial instruments play
a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
the listed companies to which FRS 13 mainly applies. The Department has very
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and its financial assets and
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities and are not held to
change the risks facing the Department in undertaking its activities.
As permitted by FRS 13, debtors and creditors which mature or become payable
within 12 months have been omitted from the currency profile.
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Liquidity Risk
The Department’s net revenue resource requirements are financed by resources
voted annually by Parliament, as largely is its capital expenditure. It is not
therefore exposed to significant liquidity risks.
Interest Rate Risk
100% of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities carry either nil or fixed
rates of interest and it is not therefore exposed to significant interest rate risk.
Interest Rate Profile
The following two tables show the interest rates and currency profiles of the
Department’s financial liabilities and assets.
Financial liabilities

Fixed rate financial liabilities

Non-interest
bearing
financial
liabilities

Weighted
average period
until maturity
Years

Total
£’000

Fixed rate
Financial
Liabilities
£’000

Non-interest
bearing
financial
liabilities
£’000

Weighted
Average
Interest rate
%

Weighted
Average
period for
which rate is
fixed
Years

Sterling

1,173,468

1,167,997

5,471

8.03%

30

-

Gross financial liabilities

1,173,468

1,167,997

5,471

8.03%

30

-

Sterling

1,269,645

1,257,956

11,689

8.03%

30

-

Gross financial liabilities

1,269,645

1,257,956

11,689

8.03%

30

-

Currency
At 31 March 2006

At 31 March 2005

Financial assets

Note 1: the Department’s non-interest bearing financial assets comprise cash with
paying agents and cash at bank and in hand. This is available on demand.
Note 2: the gross financial assets and financial liabilities include the NIHE loans
with DFP.
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Foreign Currency Risk
The Department has no exposure to foreign currency risk.
Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of book values and fair values of the
Department’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2006.
Book value
£’000

Fair value
£’000

Cash with paying agents

-

-

Cash at bank and in hand

4,477

4,477

20,408

20,408

1,167,997

1,167,997

NIHE Creditor

1,167,997

1,167,997

Bank overdraft

5,471

5,471

Basis of Fair
Valuation

Primary financial instruments
Financial assets

Housing loans
NIHE Debtor

Note a

Financial liabilities

Note a – given the nature of the Housing loans, the reason for their existence and
the Department’s policy towards them, the fair value is not materially different
from the book value.
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35 Contingent liabilities disclosed under FRS 12
CSA
From April 1995 the CSA has deferred some debt, which will not be recoverable
from clients provided certain conditions have been met. This could result in the
CSA taking over such debt from persons with care. The maximum potential
liability at 31 March 2006 is £0.009 million (2004-05 £0.018 million), subject
to all cases meeting the criteria. To date only £0.194 million (2004-05 £0.189
million) has been paid out, and as a result it is deemed too soon to predict with
any accuracy, the amount which may be compensated and therefore no provision
has been made in the accounts this year.
There are twenty five Industrial Tribunal cases, which are being dealt with as at
31 March 2006 and the CSA may be liable to pay compensation depending on the
decision made on each case. The estimated potential liability is less than £0.017
million (2004-05 £0.020 million).
There are five outstanding Health & Safety litigation cases as at 31 March 2006.
The estimated potential liability is less than £0.015 million (2004-05 £0.010
million).
SSA Benefits
Following the suspension of Deficiency Notices from 1996-97 there is a
significant number of people who are unaware of a possible shortfall in the level
of their state pension. Accordingly the Reinstatement of Deficiency Notices
project was created to notify those pensioners who reached State Pension age
since 6 April 1997 who may be able to improve their State Pension, or qualify
for a basic State Pension, by paying voluntary class 3 National Insurance
contributions. As a result of the work of this project throughout 2005-06
approximately £0.800 million (2004-05 £nil) has been paid out to customers
to restore their State Pension position. In addition Special Payments of £0.017
million (2004-05 £nil) relating to 194 cases have been paid out as interest.
Estimates of further costs for State Pension arrears likely to be incurred in
restoring the remaining customers cannot be measured with sufficient reliability to
enable an accurate value to be determined. However, the Social Security Agency
considers an estimate of net arrears of £0.590 million (2004-05 £0.735 million)
and an associated interest payment (Special Payment) of approximately £0.068
million (2004-05 £0.055 million) as an indication of the amounts like to be due.
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Urban Regeneration
There is an estimated contingent liability in relation to outstanding public liability
claims of £0.025 million.

36 Contingent liabilities not required to be disclosed under
FRS 12 but included for parliamentary reporting and
accountability
The Department has not entered into any contingent liabilities, quantifiable
or unquantifiable, not required to be disclosed under FRS 12 but included for
parliamentary reporting and accountability.

37 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments
The information presented here is on a cash basis.
RfR A
Administration and miscellaneous services
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

370

45

£’000

£’000

1,462

825

Ex-gratia payments (1,263 cases)

572

352

Extra-statutory payments (5,056 cases)

890

473

£’000

£’000

9,590

4,869

365

-

Losses
Total (5,120 cases)

Special Payments
Total (6,319 cases)
Comprising:

Social security – administered by the Social Security Agency

Losses
Total (30,231 cases)
Total losses in relation to Post Office Card Accounts (2,906 cases)
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RfR B
Housing
2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

367

253

3

5

364

248

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

35

1,381

1

7

1

7

Special Payments
Total (474 cases)
Comprising:
Ex-gratia payments (2 cases)
Extra-statutory payments (472 cases)

RfR C
Urban regeneration and community development

Losses
Total (15 cases)
Special Payments
Total (1 case)
Comprising:
Ex-gratia payments (1 case)

Claims above the £250,000 threshold include:
The use of Post Office Card Accounts (POCA’s) were established in April 2003
as part of the Payment Modernisation Programme. During the operation of these
cards it was discovered that certain benefit payments were being paid into the
wrong customer card account. Accordingly corrective action was taken by the
Agency to reduce the possibility of further incorrect payments and to recover
those erroneous payments already made.
As at 31 March 2006 an amount of £0.020 million relating to 150 cases, affecting
75 customers was outstanding (2004-05: approximately £0.400 million relating to
5,000 cases affecting 2000 customers.) During the 2005-06 year £0.365 million
of incorrect benefit payments were written off as a cash loss (2004-05 £nil)
as it was deemed that this money was no longer recoverable due to legislative
and procedural issues. The Agency is continuing to pursue recovery action for
repayment of incorrect card payments.
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38 Related-party transactions
The Department for Social Development sponsors those bodies listed at Note 42.
All these bodies are regarded as related parties with which the Department has had
material transactions during the year.
In addition, the Department has had a small number of transactions with other
Government Departments and Central Government bodies. Most of these
transactions have been with the Department of Health, Social Services and Public
Safety and the Department for Regional Development. Other entities include the
Department of Employment and Learning, the Training and Employment Agency,
the Department of Finance and Personnel and the Department of Work and
Pensions in Great Britain, and their Executive Agencies.
None of the Board members, key managerial staff or other related parties has
undertaken any material transaction with the Department for Social Development
during the year.

39 Third-party assets
The CSA operates a Client Funds Account to control the receipt of child
maintenance and fees from non-resident parents and parents with care. Child
maintenance and fees are collected and paid over respectively to persons with
care or to the Department (maintenance) and to the Agency (fees). These are not
Departmental assets and are not included in the Balance Sheet.

Balance at 1 April
Gross inflows
Gross (outflows)
Balance at 31 March

2005-06
£’000

2004-05
£’000

407

397

13,194

12,959

(13,162)

(12,949)

439

407

40 Post Balance Sheet events
There were no post balance sheet events which could have had material effect
on the state of affairs of the Department as at 31 March 2006 or the results for
the year ended on that date, which have not been adequately provided for or
disclosed.
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41 Prompt payment performance
Regular reviews conducted to measure how promptly the Department pays its bills
found that approximately 96.05% were paid within 30 days.
The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 provides small
businesses with a statutory right to claim interest on the late payment of
commercial debt. No payments were made by the Department during the year.

42 Bodies for which the Minister has lead policy responsibility
The following are the bodies for which the Minister had lead policy responsibility
during the year:
Executive Groups
Resources, Housing and Social Security Group (RHSSG)
Urban Regeneration and Community Development Group (URCDG)
Executive Agencies
Northern Ireland Child Support Agency
Northern Ireland Social Security Agency
Public Corporation
Northern Ireland Housing Executive
Executive Non-Departmental Public Body
Laganside Corporation
ILEX Urban Regeneration Company
Non-Executive Non-Departmental Public Bodies
Charities Advisory Committee
Disability Living Allowance Advisory Board for Northern Ireland
Rent Assessment Panel
Vaughan Charity (Trustees)
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Directly Provided Services
The Department performs a range of services for other bodies throughout its
Agencies. The resources allocated to those activities come mainly from outside
the Department. The Belfast Benefits Centre, the Paid Order Unit and the Belfast
Child Support Agency Centre (CSAC) process social security benefit claims,
provide filing/retrieval systems for paid benefit orders and process child support
cases respectively on behalf of agencies in Great Britain.
Independent Statutory Bodies
Office of the Social Fund Commissioner
The accounts of the bodies in italics have been consolidated in the group accounts
of the Department.
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N IAO
Northern Ireland Audit Office

Department for
Social Development
Resource Accounts
2005-06
Report by the Comptroller and
Auditor General for Northern Ireland
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Part 1: Introduction and Executive Summary
Summary
Introduction
1.1

The Department for Social Development is responsible for administering
a wide range of expenditure aimed at helping those in need, promoting
measurable improvements to housing in Northern Ireland and tackling
disadvantage amongst individuals and communities. Through the Social
Security Agency and the Northern Ireland Child Support Agency, the
Department is responsible for the administration of social security
EHQH¿WVDQGFKLOGVXSSRUW7KH1RUWKHUQ,UHODQG+RXVLQJ([HFXWLYHLV
UHVSRQVLEOHIRUDGPLQLVWHULQJ+RXVLQJ%HQH¿W7KH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDO
assistance to the housing and urban regeneration sectors is administered
through its Resources, Housing and Social Security Group and the Urban
Regeneration and Community Development Group respectively. In
2005-06, the Department accounted for expenditure of £4.6 billion on
these areas, including associated administration costs, in its consolidated
Resource Account.

1.2

This report:
• summarises the results of my audit and sets out the reasons for my
TXDOL¿HGDXGLWRSLQLRQ 3DUW 
• UHYLHZVWKHUHVXOWVRIP\DXGLWRIH[SHQGLWXUHRQVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WV
DQGVRFLDOIXQGEHQH¿WVDGPLQLVWHUHGE\WKH6RFLDO6HFXULW\$JHQF\DQG
H[SODLQVWKHUHDVRQIRUUHPRYLQJWKHSUHYLRXVTXDOL¿FDWLRQRQEHQH¿W
overpayment debtors (Part 2); and
• reviews the results of my audit of expenditure by the Department on
urban regeneration and community development grants (Part 3).

Executive Summary
On the reasons for my qualified audit opinion


,KDYHTXDOL¿HGP\RSLQLRQRQWKHDFFRXQWEHFDXVHRI
• VLJQL¿FDQWOHYHOVRIHVWLPDWHGIUDXGDQGHUURULQFHUWDLQVRFLDOVHFXULW\
EHQH¿WVDQG
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• ZHDNQHVVHVLQWKH¿QDQFLDOFRQWURODQGPRQLWRULQJRIH[SHQGLWXUHLQ
relation to urban regeneration and community development grants to
voluntary and community bodies.
Fraud and Error in Social Security Benefits
1.4

The estimated level of losses through fraud and error in social security
EHQH¿WVLQLV PLOOLRQZKLFKLVSHUFHQWRIH[SHQGLWXUHRQ
EHQH¿WV



,KDYHTXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKHDFFRXQWEHFDXVHRIVLJQL¿FDQW
OHYHOVRIHVWLPDWHGIUDXGDQGHUURULQFHUWDLQVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WV

Debtor Balances – removal of previous qualification


,QSUHYLRXV\HDUV,TXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQDVWKHUHZDVVLJQL¿FDQW
uncertainty over the accuracy and completeness of the amounts due to the
$JHQF\LQUHVSHFWRIEHQH¿WRYHUSD\PHQWVDQGWKH$JHQF\ZHUHXQDEOH
WRSURYLGHPHZLWKDVXI¿FLHQWDXGLWWUDLOWRWHVWWKHEDODQFHVLQFOXGHG
,QWKH$JHQF\XQGHUWRRNDVLJQL¿FDQWDPRXQWRIZRUNRQWKHVH
GHEWRUEDODQFHVDQG,KDYHEHHQVDWLV¿HGWKDWWKHDPRXQWVLQFOXGHGDV
overpayment debtors are not materially misstated, consequently I have not
TXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKLVLVVXHWKLV\HDU

Financial Control Weaknesses over Urban Regeneration and Community
Development Grants to Voluntary and Community Bodies
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2QWKHEDVLVRIP\DXGLW¿QGLQJV,KDYHFRQFOXGHGWKDWDOWKRXJK
IXUWKHUSURJUHVVKDVEHHQPDGHWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDOFRQWUROVDQG
monitoring of expenditure in relation to grants to voluntary and community
bodies is still not satisfactory. The basis for this conclusion is detailed in
Part 3 of this report.

1.8

The Department has or is currently implementing some new initiatives
WRLPSURYH¿QDQFLDOFRQWURODQGPRQLWRULQJRIH[SHQGLWXUH7KHVHDUH
detailed at paragraphs 3.19 to 3.26 of this report.



$VDUHVXOWRIWKHZHDNQHVVHVLQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDOFRQWUROVDQG
monitoring of this expenditure I am unable to determine whether the
expenditure was applied to the purposes intended and was regular. I have
WKHUHIRUHTXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
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Part 2: Qualified Audit Opinion Arising from the Level
of Estimated Fraud and Error in Social Security
Benefits
Introduction
2.1.

The Departmental Resource Account (Request for Resources A) provides
for expenditure by the Department for Social Development (DSD) on “a
IDLUV\VWHPRI¿QDQFLDOKHOSWRWKRVHLQQHHGDQGWRHQVXUHWKDWSDUHQWVZKR
live apart maintain their children; encouraging personal responsibility and
improving incentives to work and save.”

2.2.

During 2005-06, the Department accounted for expenditure of £1.76 billion
RQQRQFRQWULEXWRU\6RFLDO6HFXULW\EHQH¿WV ELOOLRQRQFRQWULEXWRU\
6RFLDO6HFXULW\EHQH¿WVDQG PLOOLRQRQ6RFLDO)XQGH[SHQGLWXUH
administered by the Social Security Agency. This included Income Support
£462 million, Jobseeker’s Allowance £79 million, Disability Living
Allowance £583 million, Attendance Allowance £187 million, Carer’s
Allowance £82 million, Pension Credit £284 million, Retirement Pension
%HUHDYHPHQW%HQH¿WV PLOOLRQ,QFDSDFLW\%HQH¿W PLOOLRQ
and Social Fund £71 million. Additionally, the Department accounted for
H[SHQGLWXUHRI PLOOLRQRQ+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WZKLFKLVDGPLQLVWHUHGE\
the Northern Ireland Housing Executive (NIHE).

2.3.

This part of my report sets out:
• the background and the accounting arrangements for this expenditure;
(paragraphs 2.4 to 2.6)
• NIAO audit approach (paragraphs 2.7 to 2.10);
• VXPPDU\RIDXGLW¿QGLQJVDQGFRQFOXVLRQ(paragraphs 2.11 to 2.38).

Background and the accounting arrangements for this expenditure
2.4

Part 1 of this report explains the structure of the Department. The
Social Security Agency (the Agency) is an Executive Agency within the
'HSDUWPHQW$VWKH$JHQF\LVSDUWRIWKH'HSDUWPHQWEHQH¿WVH[SHQGLWXUH
accounted for within the Agency Account is also included within 2005-06
DSD Resource Account programme expenditure.

2.5

My audit of the 2005-06 Social Security Agency Account has now been
FRPSOHWHG7KH$JHQF\$FFRXQWZDVTXDOL¿HGEHFDXVHRIVLJQL¿FDQW
OHYHOVRIHVWLPDWHGIUDXGDQGHUURULQFHUWDLQVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WV7KLV
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TXDOL¿FDWLRQRIWKH$JHQF\$FFRXQWDOVRLPSDFWVXSRQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V
Resource Account.


$VZHOODVWKH6RFLDO6HFXULW\$JHQF\¶VEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHWKH
'HSDUWPHQW¶V5HVRXUFH$FFRXQWDOVRLQFOXGHV+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WZKLFKLV
administered by NIHE and accounted for by the Department. I reported
the results of my audit of the 2005-06 NIHE Accounts on 30th June 2006.
7KH1,+($FFRXQWVZHUHTXDOL¿HGEHFDXVHRIDOLPLWDWLRQRIDXGLWVFRSH
as a result of the estimated losses due to fraud and error within Housing
%HQH¿W7KLVTXDOL¿FDWLRQDOVRLPSDFWVXSRQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V5HVRXUFH
Account.

NIAO Audit Approach
2.7.

The Agency’s Standards Assurance Unit examines statistical samples of
DOOEHQH¿WDZDUGVRQDFRQWLQXRXVEDVLV)URPWKHVHVDPSOHVWKH\DUHDEOH
to monitor the accuracy of payments made, the quality of decision making
and estimate the gross monetary value of error. The Unit also completes a
SURJUDPPHRIEHQH¿WUHYLHZVZKLFKDUHGHVLJQHGWRSURGXFHDUHDVRQDEOH
HVWLPDWHRIWKHOHYHORIFXVWRPHUIUDXGDQGHUURULQEHQH¿WDZDUGV

2.8.

As part of our audit work in this area my staff examined and reperformed
a sample of the Unit’s non – contributory and social fund case work
during the year for both the caseload accuracy and decision making and
WKHEHQH¿WUHYLHZH[HUFLVHV,FDQUHSRUWWKDW,DPFRQWHQWWKDWWKHZRUN
undertaken continues to be of good standard and the results produced by
the Unit are both accurate and complete. The Agency also administers
FRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHRQEHKDOIRI+HU0DMHVW\¶V5HYHQXHDQG
Customs (previously known as the Inland Revenue). As part of their work
on the Northern Ireland National Insurance Fund, NAO also examine and
UHSHUIRUPDVDPSOHRIFRQWULEXWRU\EHQH¿WFDVHVDQGKDYHLQGLFDWHGWKDW
they consider the work of the Unit to be of a good standard.



7KHEHQH¿WUHYLHZUHSRUWVJLYHDQHVWLPDWHRIWKHOHYHOVRIFXVWRPHU
IUDXGDQGHUURU7KHLQIRUPDWLRQLQFOXGHGZLWKLQEHQH¿WUHYLHZUHSRUWV
enables the Agency to consider how effective their processes have been
DWDGGUHVVLQJWKHVHOHYHOVRYHUWLPH7KH$JHQF\DOVRFDUULHVRXW¿QDQFLDO
accuracy exercises which estimate the levels of internal Agency error.

 ,QSUHYLRXV\HDUVHYLGHQFHDYDLODEOHWRPHWRVXSSRUWVLJQL¿FDQWEHQH¿W
overpayment debtor balances was limited. My staff reviewed progress
made by the Agency in addressing this issue. The results of the review of
this matter are outlined in paragraphs 2.32 to 2.36.
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Findings
2.11

This section reviews the results of my audit of expenditure on contributory,
QRQ±FRQWULEXWRU\DQGPHDQVWHVWHGVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVDGPLQLVWHUHG
by the Social Security Agency and NIHE.

Total levels of estimated fraud and error
2.12. In order to assist me in determining my opinion on the Department’s
accounts, I have prepared (see Figure 1 below) an estimate of the total level
of fraud and error for 2005-06 which indicates a level of £151 million. I
welcome the Agency’s work in estimating total levels of fraud and error for
EHQH¿WVDGPLQLVWHUHGE\LWDQGQRWHWKDWWKH$JHQF\LQWHQGVWRGLVFORVHWKLV
information in a note to the Annual Accounts in future years.
2.13. The level of fraud and error of £151 million represents 4.0 per cent of
WRWDOEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHIRUWKH\HDULQGLFDWLQJDVPDOOLQFUHDVHIURPWKH
SHUFHQWRIWRWDOEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHUHSRUWHGLQ,KDYHXVHG
the Department’s estimate of total levels of fraud and error for 2004-05 as
WKRVHDUHPRUHFRPSDUDEOHWKDQWKH¿JXUHV,VWDWHGLQP\UHSRUWODVW\HDU
2.14

I remain concerned with the overall levels of fraud and error. I recognise
the considerable efforts and resources committed by the Department to
address fraud and error but it is my view that these levels continue to be
unacceptably high and can be reduced.

2.15

In response to the reported levels of fraud and error the Department has
told me that reducing losses from fraud and error is one of the Social
6HFXULW\$JHQF\¶V¿YHNH\SULRULWLHVIRUEHQH¿WVZLWKLQWKH$JHQF\¶V
control. I am concerned by the increase in the level of fraud and error
IRU+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WIURPWKHSUHYLRXV\HDUDQGZRXOGHQFRXUDJHWKH
Department to continue to employ strategies to reduce the levels of loss.
The Department has told me that the Northern Ireland Housing Executive
KDVLPSOHPHQWHGDQHZ+RXVLQJ%HQH¿W6WUDWHJ\LQZKLFK
includes measures to prevent overpayments such as the use of information
on the causes of overpayment to target client groups and problem areas.
The Department advised that the Housing Executive has increased the use
of datamatching and has begun a programme of regular interventions to
help the reduction of fraud. Furthermore the Department also indicated
WKDWZLWKUHJDUGWRKHOSLQJUHGXFHWKHOHYHORIRI¿FLDOHUURUWKH+RXVLQJ
Executive has introduced a programme of refresher training for existing
staff in the latter part of 2005/06. The Department expects that all these
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measures will help address the levels of fraud and error from Housing
%HQH¿W
Figure 1: Estimated level of fraud and error 2005-06
2005-06
£million

% of benefit
expenditure

2004-05 #
£million

% of benefit
expenditure

25.6*

5.4

24.2*

5.0

4.1*

4.4

6.3*

6.4

Disability Living Allowance

54.7**

9.5

52.2**

9.5

Attendance Allowance

4.2***

2.2

5.7***

3.1

Carer’s Allowance

7.5**

9.0

7.7**

9.0

Pension Credit

16.3*

5.7

15.2*

5.5

Housing Benefit

14.0*

3.7

11.6*

2.9

Retirement Pension &
Bereavement Benefits

9.2***

0.8

4.7***

0.4

Incapacity Benefit

13.8**

4.3

13.8*

4.3

Payments, grants and loans

1.6***

2.3

1.5***

2.1

Benefit
Non –contributory

Income Support
Jobseeker’s Allowance

National Insurance
Fund Contributory

Social Fund

Total

151.0

% of benefit expenditure



142.9
4.0%

3.9%

%HQH¿W5HYLHZXQGHUWDNHQLQ\HDU


1R%HQH¿W5HYLHZXQGHUWDNHQGXULQJ±¿JXUHVHVWLPDWHGE\
DSSO\LQJSHUFHQWDJHHUURUIURPPRVWUHFHQW%HQH¿W5HYLHZ
 )LQDQFLDO$FFXUDF\¿JXUHRQO\ LHLQWHUQDO$JHQF\HUURURQO\



 HVWDWHGZKHUHQHFHVVDU\WRUHÀHFWPRVWUHFHQW¿JXUHVDYDLODEOH
5
and enhance comparability

Source: Figures provided by the Department.
2.16
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The Department emphasised that different factors contribute to fraud
and error and referred to the comments made in a report by the House of
Commons Committee on Public Accounts (the Committee) “Tackling the
&RPSOH[LW\RIWKH%HQH¿WV6\VWHP´SXEOLVKHGLQ$SULO +& 
The Department noted that in this report the Committee said that “the
FRPSOH[LW\RIWKHEHQH¿WVV\VWHPLVDNH\IDFWRUDIIHFWLQJSHUIRUPDQFH´
and that “the consequences of complexity include high levels of error
by staff and customers. It also helps create a climate in which fraud
DJDLQVWWKHEHQH¿WV\VWHPFDQPRUHHDVLO\WDNHSODFHDQGJRXQGHWHFWHG´
Furthermore the Department highlighted that the Committee had
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considered the factors that are required to improve the levels of fraud and
HUURUZLWKLQWKHFRPSOH[LW\RIWKHEHQH¿WV\VWHPVSHFL¿FDOO\VWDWLQJWKDW
“Managing complexity requires well trained staff supported by accessible
JXLGDQFHDQGDVVLVWDQFHDQGHI¿FLHQWLQIRUPDWLRQWHFKQRORJ\V\VWHPV´
The Department also referred to an earlier report from the Committee
³)UDXGDQG(UURULQEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUH´ +&SXEOLVKHGLQ2FWREHU
 ZKHUHLWZDVVWDWHGWKDW³WKHFRPSOH[LW\RIPHDQVWHVWHGEHQH¿WV
remains a key problem”…. “but fraud and error are unlikely ever to be
brought under proper control without further action to simplify the rules”.
7KH'HSDUWPHQWKLJKOLJKWHGWKDWVLPSOL¿FDWLRQRIWKHEHQH¿WV\VWHP
and improvements to existing information technology are not within it’s
control.
2.17

The Department also indicated that while the overall value of error
reported has increased from £142.9 m in 2004-05 to £151m in 2005-06
WKHDFWXDOSHUFHQWDJHWKLVUHSUHVHQWVRIWRWDOEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHUHPDLQV
approximately the same at 4.0 per cent for 2005-06 compared to 3.9% for
2004-05 and the increased monetary amount is mainly due to increased
EHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUH

2.18

The Department advised that it has in place programme protection plans to
improve accuracy and identify areas for action to reduce levels of customer
fraud and error and in implementing these plans it has checked almost
209,000 cases of Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance, Disability
/LYLQJ$OORZDQFH,QFDSDFLW\%HQH¿W5HWLUHPHQW3HQVLRQDQG3HQVLRQ
Credit between April 2005 and March 2006 in order to prevent and detect
fraud and error. The Department noted that this has resulted in a change
LQWKHDPRXQWRIEHQH¿WSDLGWRWDOOLQJ PDQGDOVRGXULQJWKLVVDPH
SHULRGRYHUIUDXGFDVHVZHUHVXFFHVVIXOO\FRQFOXGHGDQGEHQH¿WZDV
adjusted to the value of £13.3m. The Department also indicated that in
DGGLWLRQEHQH¿WIUDXGVDQFWLRQVVXFKDVSURVHFXWLRQV$GPLQLVWUDWLYH
Penalties and cautions were imposed.

2.19

The Department told me it is continuing to pursue vigorously its strategy
of identifying and removing fraud and error that has penetrated the system
ZKLOHDWWKHVDPHWLPHVHFXULQJWKHJDWHZD\VLQWRWKHEHQH¿WVV\VWHP
The Department emphasised that it should also be recognised that external
fraud and error is not within the direct control of the Department and there
are therefore limitations on how much this can be effectively reduced.
The Department also told me that improvement plans are in place across
DOOEHQH¿WVWRGULYHXSVWDQGDUGVDQGUHGXFHWKHOHYHOVRIRI¿FLDOHUURU
The Department also referred me to the 2004-05 report of the Comptroller
and Auditor General for the United Kingdom on the resource accounts
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

139

of the Department for Work and Pensions in order to contextualise the
issues facing it in relation to reducing fraud and error within a complex
EHQH¿WV\VWHP,QSDUWLFXODUWKH'HSDUWPHQWQRWHGWKDWLQTXDOLI\LQJ
the accounts of the Department for Work and Pensions for the sixteenth
year in succession, the Comptroller and Auditor General for the United
.LQJGRPDOVRFRPPHQWHGRQ³WKRVHDVSHFWVRIFRPSOH[LW\LQWKHEHQH¿W
system which I have long maintained are the main cause of the repeated
TXDOL¿FDWLRQ´
Disability Living Allowance
 )LJXUHLQGLFDWHVWKDWWKHOHYHORIIUDXGDQGHUURUIRUWKLVEHQH¿W
UHSUHVHQWVSHUFHQWRIWKHH[SHQGLWXUHRQWKLVEHQH¿W:KLOVW,UHFRJQLVH
WKDWWKLVLVDFRPSOH[EHQH¿WWRDGPLQLVWHU,DPFRQFHUQHGWKDWWKHOHYHORI
IUDXGDQGHUURUUHPDLQVKLJK,KDYHUHFHQWO\LVVXHGDUHSRUWRQWKLVEHQH¿W
where I made a number of recommendations regarding the levels of error
in the decision making process. The Agency has advised me that it has
LPSOHPHQWHGVSHFL¿FUHFRPPHQGDWLRQVGHWDLOHGZLWKLQWKH1,$2UHSRUW
and has put in place an action plan to improve performance.
 ,QRWHWKDWWKHPRVWUHFHQWEHQH¿WUHYLHZIRUWKLVEHQH¿WUHODWHGWR
I also note that the majority of cases where customer error was found were
FDWHJRULVHGDVµEHQH¿WFRUUHFWFKDQJHLQFLUFXPVWDQFHV¶7KLVLVDQHZ
FDWHJRU\ZKLFKLGHQWL¿HVFDVHVZKHUHDFXVWRPHU¶VFRQGLWLRQKDVLPSURYHG
RUGHWHULRUDWHGEXWWKHFXVWRPHUKDVQRWQRWL¿HGWKH$JHQF\RIWKHLUFKDQJH
LQFRQGLWLRQDQGWKHUHIRUHWKHEHQH¿WSD\PHQWLVLQFRUUHFW7KH$JHQF\
IXUWKHUFODUL¿HGWKDWWKLVFDWHJRU\LQFOXGHGFDVHVZKHUHDFXVWRPHU¶V
condition had improved or deteriorated but at the time of the payment the
customer was not deemed at fault in not recognising the gradual change
of circumstances – the resulting payments are therefore in excess of, or
less than, the actual entitlement due, but still procedurally correct. My
staff have had a number of discussions with Agency staff regarding this
category of error and in particular methods the Agency can employ to
ensure customers are more actively encouraged to inform the Agency of
any change in their circumstances. In response to this issue, the Agency
told me it has adopted a risk-based approach and worked with statisticians
to identify the existing customers most likely to fall within this category. In
April 2006 the Agency indicated that a programme has commenced which
over the next 3 years will see these ‘at risk’ customers contacted either for
a formal review or through a mailshot.
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2.22

I welcome the action taken by the Agency and will monitor the impact on
WKHOHYHOVRIHUURUIRUWKLVYHU\LPSRUWDQWDQGFRPSOH[EHQH¿W

Financial Accuracy
2.23

Figure 2 below indicates the total estimated level of internal Agency error
reported by the Agency’s Financial Accuracy process. This process is a
continuous programme of measurement of the level of internal Agency
HUURULQWKHPDLQVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WV)LJXUHDOVRFRQWDLQVWKH
HVWLPDWHGPRQHWDU\YDOXHRIHUURUDQGWKH¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\FRUUHFWQHVV
DVDSHUFHQWDJHRIH[SHQGLWXUHIRUHDFKEHQH¿WDQGWKHWDUJHWVVHWE\WKH
$JHQF\IRUWKHPDLQEHQH¿WV7KH'HSDUWPHQWWROGPHWKDWZKLOHWKHUHLV
QR¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\WDUJHWVHWIRU+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WWKH1,+(FXUUHQWO\
include a Processing Accuracy Target which is set at 95 per cent of claims.
The Department informed me that this target relates to the percentage of
FDVHVIRUZKLFKWKHFDOFXODWLRQRIWKHDPRXQWRIEHQH¿WGXHZDVFRUUHFW
on the basis of the information available. The Department told me that the
outturn for 2005-06 was 95.4 per cent.

2.24

The 2005-06 Financial Accuracy programme has indicated an estimated
level of internal error of £79.8 million. Although there has been no
FKDQJHLQ¿QDQFLDODPRXQWDQGLQSHUFHQWDJHRIHUURUIURP
I am concerned by the level of internal Agency errors as this type of
HUURULVZLWKLQWKH$JHQF\¶VFRQWURODQGVLJQL¿FDQWUHVRXUFHVKDYHEHHQ
committed to reducing these errors. I asked the Agency to comment on
the seemingly static position in the levels of internal Agency error and
the Agency told me that it recognises the concern of the Comptroller and
Auditor General regarding the level of internal error. The Agency indicated
WKDWWKHFRPSOH[LW\RIWKH%HQH¿WVV\VWHPLVRQHLVVXHFRQWULEXWLQJWR
staff making mistakes as highlighted by the Committee of the Public
Accounts (see paragraph 2.16) but, nevertheless the Agency is pursuing
this problem and is working steadily to drive up quality standards. The
Agency told me that in 2005-06, very demanding targets were set for
¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\7KH$JHQF\KLJKOLJKWHGWKDWIRUH[DPSOH,QFRPH
Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance, Retirement Pension and Incapacity
%HQH¿WKDG¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\WDUJHWVVHWDWSHUFHQWDQGWKDW,QFRPH
6XSSRUW$WWHQGDQFH$OORZDQFH&DUHU¶V$OORZDQFH,QFDSDFLW\%HQH¿W
DQG6RFLDO)XQGDOOH[FHHGHGSHUFHQW¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\7KH$JHQF\
DOVRVWDWHGWKDWLQUHDOLW\LWLVDYHU\GLI¿FXOWWDVNWRPDLQWDLQWKHVHOHYHOV
RI¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\OHWDORQHLPSURYHWKHPHVSHFLDOO\LQWKHFRQWH[W
of staff headcount reductions. The Agency also pointed out that the
¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\FDOFXODWLRQVLVDVWDWLVWLFDOHVWLPDWLQJSURFHVVEDVHG
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on random sampling and sample sizes used have a tolerance of around
+/- 1 %, so actually measuring the limited improvements now possible
LQPRVWEHQH¿WVLVEHFRPLQJLQFUHDVLQJO\GLI¿FXOWWRGRZLWKVWDWLVWLFDO
SUHFLVLRQ7KH$JHQF\IHHOVWKDWRYHUDOOWKH¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\UHVXOWVGR
UHÀHFWWKHPDMRUHIIRUWWKDWKDVEHHQPDGHWRLPSURYHDFFXUDF\DFURVVDOO
EHQH¿WVDQGUHDOLVWLFDOO\IXO¿OVH[SHFWHGSHUIRUPDQFHLPSURYHPHQW\HDU
by year. However, the Agency does concede that there is still room for
improvement in Disability Living Allowance and Pension Credit and are
ZRUNLQJWRWKDWREMHFWLYH7KH$JHQF\WROGPHWKDWLQERWKRIWKHVHEHQH¿WV
a lot of the error lies in the caseload and efforts are being focussed on ‘at
risk’ cases to seek improvement.
2.25

I would encourage the Agency to continue to consider methods and
processes to reduce the levels of these errors and I would expect to see a
GHFUHDVLQJWUHQGZKHQ,FRQVLGHUWKHVH¿JXUHVGXULQJP\DXGLW

 )LJXUHDOVRLQGLFDWHVWKDWVL[¿QDQFLDODFFXUDF\WDUJHWVFRYHULQJWKH
PDMRUEHQH¿WVZHUHVHWE\WKH$JHQF\,QWKUHHRIWKHVL[WDUJHWV
set were achieved. The Agency told me that the target for Incapacity
%HQH¿WZDVDOVRDFKLHYHGDVLWVUHVXOWZDVZLWKLQWKHVWDWLVWLFDOWROHUDQFH
level. The Agency also told me that it considers that the very exacting
targets which have been set attest to the Agency’s commitment to do better
DQGWKDWLPSURYHPHQWSODQVDUHLQSODFHDFURVVDOOEHQH¿WDUHDVWRGULYHXS
standards.
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Figure 2: Internal Agency Financial Accuracy

2005-06
Target

2004-05
Monetary
Value of
Error
£million

2004-05
Financial
Accuracy
correctness
as a % of
expenditure

2004-05
Target

97.7%

99.0%

11.0

97.8%

98.5%

0.7

99.2%

99.0%

1.6

98.4%

98.5%

37.3

93.5%

96.0%

36.0

93.5%

95.0%

4.2

97.8%

Not
available*

5.7

96.9%

Not
available*

1.1

98.7%

Not
available*

0.9

98.9%

Not
available*

11.0

96.2%

96.0%

12.7

95.4%

95.0%

Retirement Pension
& Bereavement
Benefits

9.2

99.2%

99.0%

4.7

99.6%

95.0%

Incapacity Benefit

3.7

98.8%

99.0%

5.7

98.2%

98.5%

1.6

97.7%

1.5

97.8%

79.8

97.7%

79.8

97.6%

Benefit

2005-06
Monetary
Value of
Error
£million

2005-06
Financial
Accuracy
correctness
as a % of
expenditure

11.0

Non–contributory
Income Support
Jobseeker’s
Allowance
Disability Living
Allowance
Attendance
Allowance
Carer’s Allowance
Pension Credit
National Insurance
Fund Contributory

Social Fund
Payments, grants and
loans
Total



Not
available*

Not
available*

1RWDYDLODEOHDVWDUJHWVQRWVHWIRUWKHVHEHQH¿WV

Tackling Customer Fraud and Error
2.27

As part of the ongoing efforts to address the level of customer fraud and
HUURUWKH$JHQF\HVWDEOLVKHGWKH%HQH¿W6HFXULW\'LUHFWRUDWHLQWR
coordinate and drive strategies for reducing fraud and error. Following
IURPWKLVWKH%HQH¿W,QYHVWLJDWLRQ6HUYLFH %,6 ZDVLQWURGXFHGWR
FRQWULEXWHWRWKHUHGXFWLRQLQFXVWRPHUJHQHUDWHGEHQH¿WIUDXG%,6¶V
VHUYLFHVDUHDOVRH[WHQGHGWRFRYHU+RXVLQJ%HQH¿WXQGHUD6HUYLFHOHYHO
$JUHHPHQWZLWK1,+(,Q%,6¶VZRUNOHDGWREHQH¿WVEHLQJ
adjusted in over 40 per cent of their investigations.

2.28

The following two case studies illustrate the positive work being done by
BIS.
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Case Study 1 – Claiming benefit during a period of employment
This case arose from a data matching process which identified that
the customer had been working during the time he was claiming and
receiving Job Seekers Allowance. Checks performed on the benefit
system revealed that the customer had been employed for a 12 week
period before he had ceased to claim the benefit. The employer was
contacted and the employment details confirmed. The customer was
interviewed under caution and, after initially denying the allegations,
admitted to the circumstances on seeing the evidence. The overpayment
was confirmed as £668.28 and the benefit Decision Maker deemed
an administrative penalty of £200.48 appropriate. Procedures were
followed and a decision was taken to offer the customer to pay an
‘administrative penalty’. The customer accepted the decision and the
repayment of the amounts due from the customer has now commenced.
Case Study 2 – Living together as husband and wife
An anonymous telephone call was received in alleging that Customer
X was claiming benefit and living with their partner. Various lines
of enquiry were pursued and details were taken from the Driving
Vehicle Licensing Agency showing that the Customer’s partner’s car
was registered to the Customer’s address. Authorised surveillance
was carried out over an extended period of time and showed that
the Customer’s partner may reside at that address. The Customer,
accompanied by a solicitor, was interviewed under caution and denied
the allegation. The benefit Decision Maker accepted the evidence and
raised an overpayment of £5,086.19. The information was gathered
and passed to the Public Prosecution Service (PPS) who confirmed that
the case would be taken forward for prosecution. The Customer was
found guilty and received a conditional discharge on two counts for
12 months each. The Customer has now commenced repayment of the
amounts fraudulently claimed.
2.29
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I note the recently published report from the Criminal Justice Inspection
1RUWKHUQ,UHODQGµ,QVSHFWLRQRIWKH%HQH¿W,QYHVWLJDWLRQ6HUYLFHRIWKH
Social Security Agency. The report highlighted a number of areas of
good practice within BIS but noted that there is scope for improvements.
In particular, a joined up approach to manage counter fraud activities
within the Agency and using the information the system generates to
target fraud would help tackle fraud more effectively. In response to the
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Report, the Agency has developed an action plan to implement the major
recommendations as soon as possible. I will monitor the Agency’s progress
on this action plan.
2.30

The progress of the Agency in tackling issues related to fraud and error
LQWKHDGPLQLVWUDWLRQRIVRFLDOVHFXULW\EHQH¿WVZLOODOVREHDGGUHVVHGLQ
a value for money report on Social Security Fraud and Error which I am
currently undertaking.

2.31

As noted in paragraph 2.10 my staff reviewed the progress made by the
Agency in respect of Social Security programme debtor balances.

Contributory and Non Contributory Benefit Overpayment debtors - Removal of
previous audit qualification
 ,QSUHYLRXV\HDUV,TXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V
account because of the uncertainties regarding the amounts included as
EHQH¿WRYHUSD\PHQWV,QWKH6RFLDO6HFXULW\$JHQF\XQGHUWRRND
VLJQL¿FDQWDPRXQWRIZRUNRQWKHGHEWRUVEDODQFHDQG,FDQFRQ¿UPWKDW
as a result of the testing completed by my staff I am able to remove the
SUHYLRXVTXDOL¿FDWLRQRQWKHVHEDODQFHV
2.33

Overpayments to customers arise as a result of fraud or error on the part
RIWKHFXVWRPHUDQGWRDOHVVHUH[WHQWHUURUVE\RI¿FLDOV&XUUHQWO\ZKHQ
DQRYHUSD\PHQWLVLGHQWL¿HGORFDOVRFLDOVHFXULW\RI¿FHVQRWLI\'HEW
Management Unit (DMU). DMU records the amount of the overpayment
on their debt management system, the Overpayment Recovery System
(OPREC) and pursue recovery. These and subsequent movements in debt
outstanding are posted to the Programme Accounting Computer System
(PACS) general ledger in total rather than by the individual amounts. In
previous years the debtor balance recorded in the PACS general ledger was
considered to be more accurate, and being lower, more prudent and this
was the balance that was included within debtors in the accounts. However,
the PACS system cannot provide a listing of individual customers owing
money for my staff to test. A listing of individual balances was available
from the OPREC system but the total overpayments did not agree with the
balance recorded on the PACS system. In previous years the Agency were
unable to satisfactorily reconcile the two balances and as a consequence
I was uncertain about the accuracy and completeness of the overpayment
GHEWRUVEDODQFHLQWKHDFFRXQWVDQG,KDGTXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKH
basis that the scope of my audit was limited.
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 +RZHYHULQDVLJQL¿FDQWDPRXQWRIZRUNKDVEHHQLQYHVWHG
by Agency staff to address my concerns about the overpayment debtor
balance. An exercise to validate and update the individual customer
balances on the OPREC system was undertaken and the results indicated
that the debtor balances on OPREC were robust to the extent that it was
considered more accurate for the overpayment debtor in the 2005-06
Agency accounts to be based on the OPREC balance. Consequently my
staff had access to an overpayment debtors listing that agrees with the
balance shown in the accounts to perform audit work on.
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2.35

I previously had concerns about the completeness of customer
overpayment debt. However, this year in preparation for the Debt
0RGHUQLVDWLRQ3URMHFWWKH$JHQF\KDVSXWVLJQL¿FDQWHIIRUWLQWRDGGUHVVLQJ
my previous audit concerns over completeness and as a result they have
LGHQWL¿HGDKLJKOHYHORIGHEWFDVHVZKLFKKDYHQRW\HWEHHQIXOO\DVVHVVHG
and included on OPREC at the year end. These cases are considered to be
“potential debt” until operational staff have correctly established whether
a genuine overpayment debt does in fact exist. Using historical statistical
information the Agency has estimated the value of this “potential debt”
WREH PLOOLRQDQGWKLV¿JXUHKDVEHHQDFFRXQWHGIRUZLWKLQGHEWRUV
LQWKHDFFRXQWV,DPFRQFHUQHGWKDWVXFKDVLJQL¿FDQWOHYHORI
unassessed debt (27,990 cases) exists within the Agency and strongly
encourage the Agency to take immediate steps to fully assess the amounts
due and pursue the outstanding balances. I asked the Agency to comment
on this matter and it told me that a reduction in the level of unassessed debt
is one of the priority areas for the Debt Modernisation Project. The Agency
informed me that operational managers have put in place recovery plans
to clear the backlog of unassessed debt cases. Furthermore the Agency
indicated that the objectives of the Debt Modernisation Project will also
contribute to more streamlined debt management processes and the more
HI¿FLHQWPDQDJHPHQWRIEHQH¿WRYHUSD\PHQWGHEW

2.36

The Agency acknowledge that the systems for handling overpayment
debtors have been largely unsatisfactory for a number of years and it is
currently introducing a IT system, a revised management structure and
business processes as part of the Debt Modernisation Project. The new IT
system (Debt Manager) will replace OPREC and will be operational by
October 2006. I will closely monitor the anticipated improvements that
this new system will deliver in terms of accuracy of debt information and
recovery of debt in future audits.
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Summary of audit findings
Fraud and Error in Social Security Benefits
2.37

I have estimated the total level of fraud and error for 2005-06 as £151
PLOOLRQZKLFKUHSUHVHQWVSHUFHQWRIWRWDOEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUH

Conclusion
 ,QIRUPLQJP\DXGLWRSLQLRQ,DPUHTXLUHGWRFRQ¿UPWKDWWKHDFFRXQW
is free from material misstatement, whether caused by error, fraud or
LUUHJXODULW\,KDYHTXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKHDFFRXQWGXHWRWKH
PDWHULDOOHYHORIHVWLPDWHGIUDXGDQGHUURULQEHQH¿WH[SHQGLWXUHWRWDOOLQJ
£151 million (see Figure 1).
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Part 3: Qualified Audit Opinion Arising from
Weaknesses in Financial Control and Monitoring
of Expenditure in Relation to Urban Development
and Community Development Grants to
Voluntary and Community Bodies
Request For Resource C:
Urban Regeneration And Community Development
Introduction
3.1

The Departmental Resource Account (Request for Resource C) includes
expenditure by the Department for Social Development on urban
regeneration and community development. During 2005-06 the Department
paid out £69 million (2004-05 £75 million), in respect of expenditure on
Urban Regeneration and Community Development grant. Much of the
expenditure is administered through third parties such as Intermediary
Funding Bodies, community groups, voluntary organisations and statutory
bodies.



,KDYHTXDOL¿HGP\DXGLWRSLQLRQRQWKHH[SHQGLWXUHLQWKLVDUHDIRUWKH
SDVWVL[\HDUVRQWKHEDVLVRIZHDNQHVVHVLQWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDO
controls and monitoring of this expenditure. My examination of the
H[SHQGLWXUHLQWKLVDUHDKDVUHYHDOHGWKDWDOWKRXJKVLJQL¿FDQW
progress has been made and a number of new developments introduced,
the Department’s control and monitoring of grants made to voluntary and
community bodies is still not satisfactory. I explain the basis of my opinion
in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.18 below. I have also revisited and commented on
major new initiatives that have been introduced or developed in 2005-06.

NIAO Audit Opinion
3.3

I have formed my audit opinion on the basis of the following audit
approach;
• DUHYLHZRIWKH¿QGLQJVRIWKHZRUNFRPSOHWHGE\WKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V
Internal Audit Unit and in particular its annual assessment made of this
area of the Department’s expenditure (paragraphs 3.4 to 3.7);
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• VSHFL¿FWHVWLQJRIWKHRSHUDWLRQDQGDGHTXDF\RINH\¿QDQFLDOFRQWUROV
by examining a sample of projects funded by the Department during the
year (paragraphs 3.8 to 3.11); and
• a review of the work carried out by the Quality Assurance and
Improvement Unit (paragraphs 3.12 to 3.17).

Review of Internal Audit findings
3.4

The Department’s Internal Audit Unit prepares an annual audit plan, based
on a risk assessment for each major part of the Department’s activities.
,QWHUQDO$XGLWWKHQUHSRUWVSURJUHVVDQG¿QGLQJVWRWKHUHOHYDQWDXGLW
committees and presents an annual assurance report to the Department’s
$FFRXQWLQJ2I¿FHU7KHDQQXDODVVXUDQFHUHSRUWLQFOXGHVDQRYHUDOO
RSLQLRQEDVHGRQLQWHUQDODXGLW¶V¿QGLQJVIURPWKHDJUHHGSURJUDPPH
of work. The opinion ranges from no assurance1, then limited assurance2,
substantial assurance3 and full assurance4.

3.5

Internal Audit’s annual assurance report for 2005-06 concluded that the
overall assurance rating for the Urban Regeneration and Community
Development Group (URCDG) remains at ‘limited assurance’ as given
in 2004-05. This conclusion was an overall evaluation of the URCDG’s
activities based on the audit testing which included administration and
programme expenditure.

3.6

In arriving at the limited assurance rating, Internal Audit stated in the
annual assurance report that there was already evidence of a number
of positive signs which are being explored further in the current audit
programme. Internal Audit will review the position upon completion of the
current work. The report further noted that as a number of new processes
were bedding in during 2005-06, Internal Audit will reassess this assurance
rating next year.

3.7

In considering the overall assurance for programme expenditure Internal
Audit acknowledged the continued improvement within URCDG.

1
2
3

4

No assurance – control is generally weak, leaving the system open to significant error or abuse and /or non–
compliance with basic controls leaves the system open to error or abuse.
Limited assurance – weaknesses in the system of control are such as to put the system objectives at risk and / or the
level of non-compliance puts the system objectives at risk.
Substantial assurance – while there is, basically, a sound system, there are weaknesses which put some of the
objectives of risk and /or there is evidence that the level of non-compliance may put some of the system objectives at
risk.
Full assurance – there is a sound system of control designed to achieve the system objectives and the control are being
consistently applied.

RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2005-2006

149

NIAO examination of project payments
3.8

My staff examined a sample of urban regeneration and community
development projects funded by the Department during the year. I noted a
VLJQL¿FDQWGHFUHDVHLQWKHQXPEHURIZHDNQHVVHVIRXQGLQWKHVHSURMHFWV
from that in previous years. However, I am still concerned at the nature of
the weaknesses found and in particular that the majority of the weaknesses
found during my testing were due to non-adherence to the Department’s
own procedures.

3.9

During 2005-06 URCDG introduced an enhanced checking regime and a
system of reporting the results of management checks for some parts of the
group. Since October 2005 the URCDG management group now consider
WKH¿QGLQJVIURPPDQDJHPHQWFKHFNVDWLWVPRQWKO\PHHWLQJ$VDUHVXOW
of the review of these management checks, the necessary remedial action is
WDNHQDQGWKLVFDQLQFOXGHVSHFL¿FDOO\WDLORUHGWUDLQLQJVHVVLRQV

3.10

I am encouraged by this demonstration of senior management commitment
ZLWKLQWKHJURXSWRDGGUHVVLQJWKHZHDNQHVVHVLGHQWL¿HG7KHSURFHVVRI
performing management checks and the review of these was operating
for part of the 2005-06 year. Internal Audit have reviewed the checking
and review process and have raised a number of issues that relate to the
presentation and interpretation of the information contained within the
monthly reports. These need to be addressed by the Group Management
Board with the aim of enhancing its monitoring role within the process. I
will review the effectiveness of the management checks during my 200607 audit when the process is fully embedded.

3.11

As noted above my audit testing of project payments indicated a smaller
number of weaknesses than in previous years. However, in my view the
types of weaknesses my staff found continue to be within the Department’s
control. I am encouraged with the additional steps taken by the Department
in 2005-06 and remain cautiously optimistic that such initiatives will lead
to further improvements in 2006-07.

Quality Assurance & Improvement Unit
3.12
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URCDG established Quality Assurance and Improvement Units in three
of its areas over the last number of years. In October 2005 the group
centralised the quality assurance function establishing a new Quality
Assurance and Improvement Unit (QAIU) which later incorporated the
Central Advice and Guidance Unit (CAGU).
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The aims of QAIU are:
• To strengthen its quality assurance arrangements;
• to provide group management with independent assurance on the quality
DQGDGHTXDF\RIHYLGHQFHKHOGRQSURMHFW¿OHVWRVXSSRUWIXQGLQJ
decisions and claims for payment;
• to assist in the monitoring and evaluation of projects and funding
programmes; and
• in conjunction with the CAGU function to make recommendations to
LPSURYHTXDOLW\DFURVVWKH*URXSE\DGGUHVVLQJDQ\VLJQL¿FDQWFRQFHUQV
LGHQWL¿HG
3.13

During 2005-06 the centralised QAIU function performed checking of
SURMHFWDSSOLFDWLRQDQGSD\PHQWPDGHLQWKUHHRILWVRI¿FHV%HOIDVW
5HJHQHUDWLRQ2I¿FH %52 1RUWK:HVW'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH 1:'2 DQG
WKH5HJLRQDO'HYHORSPHQW2I¿FH 5'2 IURP2FWREHU7KHUHVXOWV
of these checks are reported to the monthly Group Management Board
and submitted to the Departmental Management Board for discussion. I
have reviewed these reports for the period in operation and am pleased to
report that there is a general improvement in the standard and output of the
management checks from the individual business areas.

3.14

Internal Audit also reviewed the new centralised QAIU and commented
that it considers QAIU to be a well founded concept and that the work
of the Unit, to date, is of the required standard and can be relied upon
by management. Internal Audit also acknowledged that management are
still developing the role of the Unit along with formalising the processes,
procedures and targets for the work carried out by QAIU. The review
E\,QWHUQDO$XGLWLGHQWL¿HGVRPHLVVXHVZKLFKDUHFXUUHQWO\EHLQJWDNHQ
forward by QAIU to enhance the operations and effectiveness of the unit.

3.15

I am particularly encouraged by the involvement of both the Group and
'HSDUWPHQWDOPDQDJHPHQWLQWKHFRQVLGHUDWLRQRIWKH¿QGLQJVIURPWKH
checks carried out by both local management and the Quality Assurance
and Improvement Unit. I acknowledge that the Unit is still developing and
welcome the extension of QAIU to all operational areas. I recommend
that URCDG implements the recommendations made in the Internal Audit
reports on this area as soon as possible.

 7KH4$,8FKHFNVDQGWKHUHSRUWLQJRIWKHVHFKHFNVLQFUHDVHVWKHSUR¿OH
of the quality improvement measures being taken by the group. The
Department told me that QAIU will continue to sample in those areas
deemed to be of greater risk. The Department notes that it considers that
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VLJQL¿FDQWSURJUHVVKDVDOUHDG\EHHQPDGHVLQFHWKHLQWURGXFWLRQRIWKH
QAIU checks and reporting process.
3.17

The establishment of a centralised Quality Assurance and Improvement
Unit has undoubtedly contributed to the improvements in control realised
by URCDG during 2005-06. I note that the centralised QAIU has been
operational since the 31st October 2005 and therefore consider that the
DFWXDOEHQH¿WVRIWKHHQKDQFHGSURFHVVZLOOWDNHVRPHWLPHWREHGLQ,ZLOO
review the work of QAIU during my 2006-07 audit.

Overall Conclusion
 $VSDUWRIP\DXGLWRIWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV,DPUHTXLUHG
to satisfy myself, in all material respects, that the expenditure and income
shown in their accounts have been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities5 which govern them, that is,
WKDWWKH\DUH³UHJXODU´,WLVP\YLHZRQWKHEDVLVRIWKHDXGLW¿QGLQJVLQ
SDUDJUDSKVWRDERYHWKDWDOWKRXJKVLJQL¿FDQWSURJUHVVKDVEHHQ
PDGHWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶V¿QDQFLDOFRQWUROVDQGPRQLWRULQJRIH[SHQGLWXUHLQ
WKLVDUHDDUHVWLOOQRWVDWLVIDFWRU\7KHVHV\VWHPZHDNQHVVHVDUHVXI¿FLHQWO\
VLJQL¿FDQWIRUPHWRKDYHLQVXI¿FLHQWDVVXUDQFHWKDW85&'*H[SHQGLWXUH
has been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and conforms to
the authorities which govern them. I have therefore decided to qualify my
audit opinion on the regularity of this expenditure.

New or ongoing initiatives within the Urban Regeneration
and Community Development Group
Central Advice & Guidance Unit
3.19

5
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The New Common Systems Project was set up to provide URCDG with a
standardised system for grant administration in June 2005. The project has
now established a Central Advice and Guidance Unit (CAGU) who have a
varied remit which includes providing timely and accurate advice to staff
within URCDG, updating procedural guidance as necessary, providing
training and monitoring accuracy levels throughout URCDG in conjunction
with QAIU. I am pleased to report that this has bedded in well and that this
approach provides a sound basis for ensuring that projects are subjected

authorities include the legislation authorising the expenditure, the regulations issued to comply with that legislation,
Parliamentary authority and DFP authority
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to a consistent and robust system of control supplemented by the various
checking regimes. CAGU is now incorporated within the centralised QAIU
as detailed in paragraph 3.12 above.

Approval and Review Panels
3.20

The Department told me that it has established Approval Panels in both
BRO and RDO and consider the panels are operating effectively. The
Approval Panels are made up from members of the respective Senior
Management Teams and the panel is required to examine grant applications
or projects and decide on whether they should be approved or rejected. In
addition to the Approval Panel’s consideration of submitted projects, the
Department has told me that the Approval Panels often suggest changes
that further enhance quality and this has helped BRO and RDO to learn and
continuously improve.

3.21

The Department also told me that a Review Panel has been operating
effectively in NWDO since September 2004. The Review Panel’s remit is
to examine pre approval projects and make recommendations on funding.
It is the Department’s view that the operation of the Review Panel in
1:'2KDVUHDOLVHGWKHVDPHOHYHORITXDOLW\LPSURYHPHQWEHQH¿WVDVWKH
Approval Panels in BRO and RDO.

3.22

It is my view that the introduction of the Approval and Review Panels
has strengthened the decision-making process within BRO, RDO and
NWDO. However I would encourage the Department to monitor the
requirement for the Approval and Review Panels to assess all projects
where indications are that the standards of decision making are continuing
to increase. The Department told me that it considers that the current
panel approval procedures are working well and have been integrated into
the routine management meetings. The Department considers that these
panels help promote a consistency of approach and have been instrumental
in improving decision making and promoting best practice. In addition
the Department believes that these improvements in governance have
helped to improve the internal audit rating for this area, and it will only
consider reducing the remit of the panels, with the possibility of moving
to a risk based model, when internal audit move the Group to a substantial
assurance rating.
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Risk Based Assessment
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3.23

My previous reports on this area have indicated that, in my view, the
Department should make greater use of risk assessment in its consideration
RIWKHUHTXLUHGOHYHOVRIPRQLWRULQJDQGYHUL¿FDWLRQWRHDVHWKHEXUGHQRI
grant administration on the voluntary and community sector. This issue was
also raised by the House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts (the
Committee) in its report “Working with the Voluntary Sector” (HC717)
where it was stated “the sector should expect to account for public monies
received, but monitoring should be proportionate to the level of funding
provided as excessive procedures undermine value for money.” I concur
with this view of the Committee and recommend that the Department
continue to consider its procedures to ensure that they are proportionate
QRWRQO\WRWKHOHYHORIIXQGLQJSURYLGHGEXWUHÀHFWDOVRRWKHUUHOHYDQWULVN
factors.

3.24

In the 2004-05 year, formal approval was given for a pilot to commence
WRGHYHORSDQLPSURYHGV\VWHPRIJUDQWH[SHQGLWXUHYHUL¿FDWLRQZKLFK
ZRXOGEHRIEHQH¿WWRWKH9ROXQWHHU'HYHORSPHQW$JHQF\ 9'$ WRWKH
groups they assist and VCU in the longer term. The pilot exercise consisted
of risk assessments performed on the controls operating within funded
bodies to determine whether a reduction in the level of vouching could
be achieved. The pilot was undertaken with a view to roll out the risk
management process to other programmes throughout URCDG. Internal
Audit carried out a review on the pilot and its report acknowledges that
VCU have established the basic key elements of the risk management
DSSURDFKLQUHVSHFWRIWKHJUDQWYHUL¿FDWLRQZRUNDQGKDYHGHYHORSHG
and produced relevant documentation to carry out this process. Internal
Audit also recognised in its report that initial training has been provided
by management for both the voluntary groups and VCU staff through
seminars to communicate the new risk based approach and improve the
understanding of risk management of all the interested parties. However,
WKHUHDUHDQXPEHURILPSURYHPHQWVZKLFKKDYHEHHQLGHQWL¿HGE\
Internal Audit which will enhance the current process resulting in a more
robust risk management.

3.25

I asked the Department when it plans to extend this risk assessment to
all areas of URCDG. The Department told me that the risk management
approach to vouching payments is a developing process and that since
April 2006 the payments team has transferred from VCU to the Finance,
Planning & Governance Unit. The Department also informed me that
that the risk based assessment process is currently being enhanced by
VCU through the implementation of the recommendations from Internal
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Audit and the Group are also testing the risk based payments system as
a centralised function in a pilot environment using VCU programmes.
The Department indicated that following an evaluation of both the
robustness and effectiveness of the centralised risk based approach, further
consideration will be given to extending the process to the remaining
operational areas.
3.26

I am disappointed that this risk based approach to monitoring and
YHUL¿FDWLRQKDVQRWEHHQH[SDQGHGWRRWKHUEXVLQHVVDUHDVZLWKLQ85&'*
I would strongly recommend that the risk based method of considering
WKHH[WHQWRIJUDQWYHUL¿FDWLRQDQGPRQLWRULQJUHTXLUHGLVLPSOHPHQWHG
DFURVV85&'*DIWHUWKHLPSURYHPHQWVLGHQWL¿HGE\,QWHUQDO$XGLWKDYH
been incorporated into the process. The Department told me that URCDG
is to commission an exercise to review its current grant administration
procedures to ensure there is a balance between proper governance and
improving support to the voluntary and community sector. The Department
believe this will contribute to implementing change that will be consistent
with government’s intent to support the voluntary and community sector to
HQDEOHEHWWHUHQJDJHPHQWLQWKHGHOLYHU\RIVHUYLFHVWKURXJKPRUHHI¿FLHQW
and effective funding procedures. I will continue to monitor developments
in this area during my next audit.



-0'RZGDOO&%
Comptroller and Auditor General
16 October 2006
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